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Numbered Areas relate to the
text of the Commission’s Desig-

nation Report.

For convenience in writing this Report,
and solely for this purpose, the Greenwich
Village Historic District has been
arbitrarily divided into nine contiguous
areas., This division into areas has no
significance historically, architecturally
or otherwise, and has been introduced only
for convenience in organizing the material
for this Report.






BOUNDARIES

Landmarks Preservation Commission
LP-0489

GREENWICH VILLAGE HISTORIC DISTRICT, Borough of Manhattan

The property bounded by Washington Square South, West 4th Street,
the rear lot lines of the buildings on the south side of Barrow Street
from West 4th Street through 27-31 Barrow Street, the southern prop-
erty line of 289 Bleecker Street, 7th Avenue, Leroy Street, St. Luke's
Place, Hudson Street, Morton Street, the rear lot lines of 447 through
451 Hudson Street, a portion of the southern property line of 453
Hudson Street, the rear lot lines of 453 and 455-457 Hudson Street,
the western property line of 97 Barrow Street, Barrow Street,
Greenwich Street, Perry Street, Washington Street, Horatio Street,
the western property line of 83 Horatio Street, the rear lot lines
of 83 through 67 Horatio Street, a portion of the eastern property
line of 67 Horatio Street, the northern property line of 832-836
Greenwich Street, the northern property line of 827-829 Greenwich
Street, the rear lot line and a portion of the eastern property line
of 53 Horatio Street, the rear lot lines of 51 through 45 Horatio
Street, a portion of the eastern property line of 45 Horatio Street,
the northern property line of 639 Hudson Street, Hudson Street,
Gansevoort Street, West 13th Street, the rear lot lines of 65 through
73 8th Avenue, the northern property line of 73 8th Avenue, the north-
ern property line of 70-72 8th Avenue, the rear lot lines of 253
through 205 West 13th Street, the northern property line of 42-46
7th Avenue, the northern property line of 41-49 7th Avenue, a line
100 feet north of the front lot lines of 161 through 107 West 13th
Street, the eastern property line of 107 West 13th Street, the eastern
property line and the rear lot line of 104 West 13th Street, the rear
lot line of 106 West 13th Street, the eastern property line of 117
West 12th Street, West 12th Street, the western property line of 71-77
West 12th Street, a line 100 feet north of the front lot lines of
71-77 through 49 West 12th Street, a portion of the eastern property
line of 49 West 12th Street, a line 45 feet north of the front 1lot
lines of 47 through 41 West 12th Street, a portion of the western
property line of 39 West 12th Street, a line 100 feet north of the
front lot lines of 39 through 11 West 12th Street, the eastern
property line of 11 West 12th Street, West 12th Street, 5th Avenue,
the northern property line of 45 5th Avenue, a portion of the northern
property line of 43 5th Avenue, tie rear lot lines of 11 through 29
East 11th Street, the eastern property line of 29 East 11th Street,
the eastern property lines of 28 East 11th Street and 15-19 East 10th
Street, the eastern property lines of 24 East 10th Street and 23 East
9th Street, East 9th Street, University Place and Washington Square
East.






TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARINGS

On December 9, 1965 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a
public hearing on the proposed designation of the Greenwich Village
Historic District. Forty-one persons spoke in favor of the proposed
designation, and twenty-three persons opposed it. The Commission re-
ceived dozens of letters in support of the proposed designation. These
communications indicated that there was substantial backing for the
designation from many residents of The Village, including a large
number of homeowners. -

The Commission held additional public hearings on Greenwich
Village on December 21, 1966, February 7, 1967 and February 28, 1967.
At these public hearings, the Commission also had before it an alter-
nate proposal to create 18 Historic Districts within the boundaries of
the originally proposed Greenwich Village Historic District. At the
three additional public hearings, the great majority of the testimony
favored the designation of Greenwich Village as a single Historic
District. At that time the Commission also received a large number of
letters and telegrams favoring the designation of Greenwich Village
as a single Historic District.

PURPOSE OF DESIGNATION

Of the Historic Districts in New York City which have been des-
ignated or will be designated, Greenwich Village outranks all others.
This supremacy comes from the quality of its architecture, the nature
of the artistic life within its boundaries, and the feeling of history
that permeates its streets.

The eastern part of Greenwich Village has the open sweep of
Washington Square and the splendid vista of Fifth Avenue, with the
fine houses adjoining it on either side, while the western part has
other fine buildings, roadways with unexpected changes in direction
and glimpses of quaint little streets. The Village means something
real, tangible and livable to its inhabitants, while to the casual
visitor, it represents a chance to look into a world of hidden charm,
mystery and ever-changing vistas.

What is exceptional about Greenwich Village is its many tree-
lined streets, the human scale of so many of its buildings, and the
special architectural qualities of its houses. Because of the nature
of its development, there are many homogeneous rows of houses built
by investors, designed in the most attractive styles of the periods
in which they were constructed. They include fine Federal houses
with gabled roofs and dormers, Flemish bond brickwork and exception-
ally attractive wrought ironwork. At the next stage of development,
the Greek Revival introduced greater height featuring attic windows,
rusticated stone basements, splendid doorways and wrought ironwork
embellished with castings, utilizing Greek detail. Next came the
romantic styles, of which the Italianate was predominant; it intro-
duced the New York ''Brownstone," as we know it today. These stately
dignified houses, later modified by French influence, were built among
the houses of earlier periods, lending great variety and interest.

The exceptionally fine quality of Village architecture together
with its special quaintness are found nowhere else in New York. While
architectural quality is in evidence everywhere, it is especially
prominent in streets such as Washington Square North, with its long
row of Greek Revival houses. ard on Tanth ond Fl~venth Streets west



PURPOSE OF DESIGNATION

of Fifth Avenue. Here an interesting blending of styles sets off
"terraces' of Anglo-Italianate houses. Quaintness is especially to be
seen in such small streets as Washington Mews, MacDougal Alley and Gay
Street. Here, with diminutive houses converted from stables in the
Mews and the Alley, and with the fine small houses of artisans and
tradesmen in Gay Street, we sense the continuity of life in a given
locale,  but little changed from the days when they were built. Pictur-
esqueness is evident especially at the corner of Sixth Avenue and West
Tenth Street in the silhouette of the old Jefferson Market Courthouse,
with its multi-colored Victorian detail, recently converted to use as
a library.

Terminal features, so rare at the end of our streets in this City,
are found both at the arch on Washington Square, which closes the end
of Fifth Avenue, and at the western end of Grove Street, where one
comes upon charming little Saint Luke's Chapel. i

With the exception of Washington Square, squares in The Village
are mostly triangular in shape and small. These include Village,
Abingdon and Jackson Squares, as well as Sheridan Square with its ad-
joining little park, all formed by the intersection of two or more
streets. They are open features of this area which increase its
attractiveness to many families.

One of the most notable and unusual features, to be found only in
Greenwich Village, is the array of handsome studios for artists. These
studios scattered at random throughout the area generaljy display a
large "studio-window'" at the top floor, often tastefully] introdiced
above the cornice line.

L

Also characteristic of Greenwich V1llage and in a sense un1que to
the area, is an almost bizarre type of small town house unusual in its
architecture, its colors and materials, and ifn its rooflines. These
houses, no two alike, are to be found in the most unexpected places and
are usually the result of subsequent remodelings or the application of
the talents of Village artists to the exteriors. The small, pictur-
esque apartment house on the east side of Bedford Street, between Grove
and Christopher Streets, is an extreme example of this type of house,
playful in its concept.

Although not numerous, the exceptionally fine churches within the
District lend it an air of great distinction.” They range in style from
Federal to Gothic Revival and include several of the finest Greek
Revival churches in the City. The two splendid Gothic Revival churches
on the west side of Fifth Avenue have notable towers and some of the
finest detail of their period.

Walking through The Village at any time of day or night and in
almost any direction, one is struck by the fact that one is in a part
of the City which is very different from any other, remarkable for its
old-world charm and outstanding as a great historic area of New York.

It is the summation of these qualities which make it such a memo-
rable district, one which is not merely worthy of preservation but one
which must be preserved at all costs.

It is precisely with this object in mind that the New York City
Landmarks Preservation Commission has moved to designate this unique
area of the City, to check that process of attrition which eats away
our best neighborhoods, bit by bit, piece by piece, until we wake up
to find that a fine neighborhood has become a second-rate anonymous
place. What is this process of attrition but the gradual replacement,
house by house, of the good by the bad, of the compatible by the medi-
ocre. The end result is the anonymous city block, the area we pass
through without seeing. Where the fine old town house stands proudly
today, a mediocre apartment house may stand tomorrow.

Where fine rows of town houses now remain, as a part of our archi-
tectural heritage, it is our duty to insure that they are well main-
tained and, if altered in any way, so alteic. tiwe vie)y sctain the
qualities which make then notable.



PURPOSE OF DESIGNATION

Where groups of houses of different design, but uniform in their
use of materials, scale and architectural details exist, the removal
or alteration of any building or buildings from such a group would
destroy its character. This would seriously affect the fine appear-
ance of the street and perhaps even of the whole neighborhood.

Changes of a practical nature have had to be made, and always
will have to be made, to provide well-lighted studios for artists,
to change entrances to be near street level and, in some cases, to
insure the economic survival of these historic houses. In many cases
these changes have been thoughtfully designed and tastefully executed.

Despite the great progress which has been made and the enthusiasm
of the residents in restoring and beautifying their properties, The
Village is still experiencing the deterioration of its historic char-
acter from several causes. One is the demolition of residences for
the construction of new buildings which do not conform to the high
quality of the surrounding architecture.

One of the worst dangers in The Village has been the defacement
of houses by renovations which are often incompatible with surround-
ing architecture. Among the kinds of renovations which have proven
detrimental to the neighborhood, are the use of dissimilar materials
in adjacent buildings and the complete rearrangement of windows in
such manner that they bear little or no relation to those adjoining.
This type of renovation has a depressing effect on real estate values,
and although it is often intended as an improvement, it has quite the
reverse effect. If such renovations were to continue unrestrained,
they would ultimately spoil the special character of this fine
neighborhood.

For many years community organizations have, by means of volun-
teer workers, fought to secure protection for the neighborhood as
a whole. The property owners and other residents have always strongly
supported a program of designation and preservation. Their familiar-
ity with preservation programs being carried on in other cities has
led to the drive to obtain municipal protection for their outstanding
area. Community organizations and the Local Planning Board have been
in the forefront in urging such action.

SUMMARY

We should look to the positive aspects of protection because it
is here that we will establish the approach which is needed to main-
tain the quality of the Historic District.

In the last twenty years New York City has lost many of its
fine old buildings and attractive blocks of buildings. The purpose
of designation is to give an opportunity to City government and the
citizens of the City to save from destruction the best of those
which are left. There are over one thousand buildings built before
the Civil War within the Greenwich Village blocks on which the
Commission held its Public Hearings. Under the Landmarks Preservation
Law, the City provides a professional staff of architects and histo-
rians to cooperate with owners in preserving the authentic character
of Historic Districts.

The law is clear that both individual buildings and Historic
Districts are to be protected in New York City. Preservation of
individual historic buildings is undeniably essential in any preser-
vation program, but groups of fine old buildings in fact preserve
entire neighborhoods. The protection of just such areas, as
Greenwich Village, was discussed at the time the legislation was
passed. The law provides separately for the designation of Historic
Districts.

The overriding consideration in creating an Historic District
is the protection of an entire outstanding area, and only the creation
of an Historic District can halt the piecemeal destruction of such a
fine area.



PURPOSE OF DESIGNATION

From the totality of Greenwich Village emanates an appearance and
even more a spirit and character of Old New York which no single block
thereof and no individual Landmark could possible provide. It is this
collective emanation which distinguishes an Historic District, and
particularly Greenwich Village, from a Landmark and gives it a unique
aesthetic and historical value.

-10-



HISTORIC DESCRIPTION

Greenwich Village is one of the oldest sections of Manhattan which
was laid out for development in the years following the American
Revolution. Today, it contains the greatest concentration of early
New York residential architecture to be found anywhere within the
five Boroughs of the City.

Unlike Chelsea, Gramercy Park and other small residential islands
in Manhattan which have managed to survive from the last century,
Greenwich Village is unique because it is the only good-sized residen-
tial area which has remained largely intact and where the architecture
reflects the continuum of a community. Many old buildings have re-
tained their old uses while others, treasured as architecture, have
been preserved to serve new and viable uses. Thus a sashmaker's
workshop, a medical dispensary, a malt house, a public livery stable,
a fire station, a court house, a grocery or drygoods shop and dozens
of other structures, built to serve the early community, are today as
much a part of the architectural and historical heritage of The Village
as are its many fine town houses, smaller dwellings and churches.

Geographically, Greenwich Village is located midway between the
present downtown financial center and the midtown business center of
Manhattan. Its traditional boundaries extend from the Hudson River
on the west to Fourth Avenue and the Bowery on the east and from
Houston Street on the south to Fourteenth Street on the north. These
boundaries were officially recognized when the rapidly expanding City,
moving northward from lower Manhattan, made Greenwich Village the
Ninth and Fifteenth Wards of New York. The Greenwich Village Historic
District covers a lesser area as defined by its official boundary map
included in this report.

The boundaries of the Greenwich Village Historic District encom-
pass that section within the traditional area which best retains, in
physical form, the special character of the community and its archi-
tecture of aesthetic interest. The distinctive quality of this
Historic District, in addition to the significance of its architec-
ture and of its cultural life, may be attributed to several factors,
including the fact that it retains much of its original, irregular
street pattern, laid out on a diagonal to the axis of the
Commissioners' grid plan of 1807-11 which was adopted for the rest
of the City. Despite the presence of contemporary structures among
the old, a large proportion of the old remains to give physical co-
hesiveness to the District and to capture the flavor of Manhattan's
past. "It has,'" as Henry James once said, '"a kind of established
repose. . . a riper, richer, more honorable look. . . the look of
having had something of a history".

HISTORY

Greenwich Village as an historical site can be traced back to
Indian days when it was called Sappokanican, and through its Dutch
period, when it yielded profitable tobacco harvests for Wouter Van
Twiller, second Director-General of New Netherland, whose farm was
located here. 1In its English period, it was first named Greenwich
and contained the country seats of well-to-do colonists, the most
prominent among them being Sir Peter Warren. After the Revolution,
through the period of development of the early Republic, it housed
large numbers of prosperous, respectable tradesmen as it gained
sufficient inhabitants to become known as a village. In its early
village days, prosperous merchants and bankers built summer homes
here, later living here all year-round to escape the noise and bustle
of commerce downtown.

-11-



HISTORIC DESCRIPTION

1790-1860

By the Seventeen-nineties the country estates in the area had been
sold to or inherited by well-to-do citizens of the young Republic.
These new owners hired surveyors to lay out their streets and to plot
their lands for development. In general, the streets followed one
another in an orderly fashion, taking their direction from already-
established well traveled routes, namely, Skinner Road (now Christopher
Street), Greenwich Lane (now Greenwich Avenue), and Greenwich Street.
Bends in the street pattern and extreme variation in block sizes and
shapes, which contribute so much to the picturesqueness of The Village
today, resulted from adherence to owners' existing property lines.

A village of sufficient size had developed to warrant the estab-
lishment in 1812 of a public meat market, called Greenwich Market, on
Christopher Street between Greenwich and Washington Streets, near the
Hudson River. Through the Eighteen-twenties, the City was closing the
gap between itself and Greenwich. It was that portion of The Village
west of Sixth Avenue (Avenue of the Americas), which was the primary
area of development. Small houses, built singly or in groups of threes
and fours, lined the streets and were occupied primarily by weavers,
craftsmen and suppliers to the building trades, sailmakers, carters,
butchers and shopkeepers whose business premises were conveniently
located only a few blocks away along the Hudson. Thereafter, develop-
ment took place everywhere within The Village boundaries. Construction
of the Jefferson Market at the junction of Greenwich and Sixth Avenues
led to the growth of Sixth Avenue in the Eighteen-thirties as the
shopping and municipal center. To the east of it lay the prime resi-
dential neighborhood of the City in which stately town houses were
erected, as the old families migrated northward from their traditional
places of abode in lower Manhattan. A succession of yellow fever and
cholera epidemics, in the first part of the Nineteenth Century, did
much to stimulate this northward migration. By the end of the Eighteen-
fifties few lots in The Village remained unimproved.

1860-1900

Unlike the villages of Bloomingdale and Harlem, Greenwich Village
was saved from becoming an indistinguishable part of the metropolis
for two reasons. The first was that its early street pattern blocked
the through north-south avenues of traffic, thus detaching it from
the rest of the City which swept past it to the east. Secondly, many
of its early families held on to their houses tenaciously for genera-
tions, forming a sizable residential nucleus of permanence. The north
side of Washington Square, and the area along Fifth Avenue, never quite
lost its fashionable character and is still a most desirable place to
live.

However, The Village as originally bounded, because of its size
and location in Manhattan, could not escape physical change indefinitely.
While its central core remained basically intact, its eastern and north-
ern boundaries gave way to commercial development after the Civil War;
its southern area, below Washington Square, was lost to tenements which
were built between 1880 and 1900, and its western boundary was also
seriously invaded by commerce, with loft buildings followed by light
industry and warehouses.

1900-WORLD WAR I

The central core of The Village was saved from deterioration by a
renaissance which began even before World War I. At first, the area
was discovered by the young intelligentsia, many of whom were later
destined to earn international recognition for achievements in the
arts and literature. They were young journalists, artists and pro-
fessional people of moderate means who found in The Village attractive,
inexpensive city dwellings and quarters they could afford to live and
work in. They were followed, as early as 1915, by small realtors who,

-12-



HISTORIC DESCRIPTION

in turn, found it profitable to buy up groups of Nineteenth Century
houses and to remodel the interiors as multiple dwellings.

In 1916, these realtors joined with the residents in a successful
appeal to the City's Zoning Commission to set apart the central blocks
of The Village for residential use, thereby establishing their concern
for the future of the area and halting further erosion of its bound-
aries.

1918-WORLD WAR II

At the close of World War I, the physical isolation of Greenwich
Village from the main traffic routes of the City was lost forever
by the opening of the West Side subway and of Seventh Avenue South,
below Greenwich Avenue. This avenue was cut through the heart of the
community. The results can be seen in The Village today.

On the one hand, Seventh Avenue South, almost fifty years after
its completion, is flanked by the scars it created: exposed party-
walls of bisected buildings and tiny triangular plots of land too
small for residential use and generally ignored.

On the other hand, increased accessibility to The Village was a
significant factor in arousing new interest in this historic section
of the City and in stimulating the reclamation of its buildings on a
large scale. Narrow winding streets, half-hidden courts and back
alleys were explored anew, and, as the supply of available houses
diminished, stables, small factories and even tenements were remodeled
and improved for modern residential use.

On the whole, the reclamation efforts were aesthetically pleasing
because the fronts of buildings, when altered at all, were usually
kept in character and scale with their neighbors, thus preserving the
distinctive quality of the area. At the same time, this reclamation
process was accompanied by an increase in real estate values.

From about 1900 to 1930, the restoration of small buildings was
supplemented by the construction of elevator buildings offering luxury
apartments, as one realtor advertised, to ''those who respond to the
flavor and appeal of the 'Village' with its nearness to everywhere and
everything." These high structures, erected mainly along Fifth Avenue
and at street intersections, did not conform in height to the earlier
structures of The Village, but their facades were often designed in
Georgian, Federal or other classical styles in an effort to blend
them with the existing architecture of the District.

The completion of a second subway system and the southern exten-
sion of Sixth Avenue (from Carmine Street), at the close of the
Nineteen-twenties, turned the Village into one of the most accessible
sections of Manhattan. Since it had also been rejuvenated as a de-
sirable residential area, the community was destined for still further
change in the hit or miss demolition of small buildings to make way
for the construction of high-rise apartments, which were often incom-
patible with their surroundings, resulting in the ultimate loss of
its historic character. This danger was merely postponed by the
financial crash of 1929 and the subsequent curtailment of building
operations and by World War II.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

In the Nineteen-fifties, Greenwich Village residents joined in
a united effort to preserve the distinctive character of their
community. Their first objective was to submit to the New York City
Planning Commission a proposed special amendment to the old 1916
zoning ordinance which would further regulate the height and bulk of
structures in The Village. This amendment, approved by the City,
went into effect in 1960 and was incorporated in the new City-wide
zoning regulations which finally took effect in 1962. At the same
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time, a campaign was initiated to have The Village protected under the
proposed Landmarks Preservation Law. Ten thousand residents signed
the petition supporting such proposed legislation.

Greenwich Village is today experiencing the deterioration of its
treasured assets. This stems from the ignorance of building owners in
matters of preservation and particularly from developers. The defacing
of fine old facades with materials which are out of character, the
removal of ornamental features, such as lintels, cornices and ironwork,
the destruction of doorways and other forms of damage threaten the
aesthetic and historical continuity and value of the community. Such
piecemeal changes threaten these values almost as much as the construc-
tion of new apartment houses and other buildings, many of which are
visually inappropriate to their surroundings. By designating as an
Historic District that portion of Greenwich Village which best retains
the character of the old community, the Commission seeks to provide
this safeguard which will benefit the whole City as well as the com-
munity.

-14-



ARCHITECTURAL IMPORTANCE

Greenwich Village is the only surviving section of Manhattan
where one can see the major architectural styles of the early City
displayed, side by side, ranging from the most naive to the most
sophisticated versions. They have been interpreted by the builder-
architect, in every price range, from the most modest structure to
the most aristocratic town house. Nowhere in Greater New York is
a larger concentration of buildings to be found, covering every
decade from 1800 to the Civil War. The Historic American Buildings
Survey (now a part of the National Park Service), in making a study of
early architecture in New York during the Nineteen-thirties, selected
more buildings from Greenwich Village, for their notable design fea-
tures and historical significance, than from any other section of the
City.

The principal architectural styles of Greenwich Village, repre-
sented by the largest number of buildings in the District, are the
Federal, Greek Revival, Italianate, French Second Empire, Neo-Grec and
Queen Anne. The streets offer a delightful mixture of these styles,
while within each style can be found a pleasing variety of designs.
Yet there is visual harmony here, achieved through the uniform rows
of builder-constructed town houses, the predominantly low building
heights, and the use of materials such as brick and brownstone, the
symmetrical placement of windows and other qualities which have, in
this neighborhood, the authentic flavor of the periods represented.

The architecture of The Village represents an interesting cross-
section of styles. It was influenced by economics, availability of
materials, and the capabilities of local craftsmen and builders.
Originally it was a modest neighborhood of craftsmen and tradespeople,
expanded by successive waves of migrations from downtown. These mi-
grations to the north were precipitated by the various epidemics which
successively swept the City in the early part of the Nineteenth
Century. Many wood structures were hastily erected to house these
people, and banks and other businesses invaded the area at the same
time. Few of these early buildings remain, due to their impermanent
nature, however many brick town houses were being built at the same
time and do survive; consequently, Greenwich Village has the finest
cross-section of Federal houses extant in the City.

In reviewing the successive series of architectural styles, begin-
ning with the Federal architecture of the new Republic, we have next,
the Greek Revival, followed by the Italianate and, later, the French
Second Empire and the Neo-Grec. Later styles, such as the Queen Anne
and the new classicism of the early Nineteen-hundreds brought with
them the advent of the apartment house and ever increasing numbers of
commercial and industrial buildings, principally in the western part
of The Village and along the Avenues. A radical planning concept, such
as cutting through Seventh Avenue, below Greenwich Avenue when the sub-
way was built, also had its effect on the environment.

For every recognizable architectural style we see in The Village
there are other transitional buildings which bridged the gaps between
styles, borrowing a little from both the preceding and the new. These
transitional buildings are an interesting manifestation of the archi-
tectural development of any community.

A study of the transfer of properties in The Village indicates
the breaking up of farms and country seats and the subdivision of these
properties by the heirs in the first decades of the Nineteenth Century.
By the late Eighteen-twenties, speculators were already developing
some of these properties. Later speculators were often builders or
businessmen who associated themselves with men connected with various
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branches of the building trades, to help them with their developments.
Sometimes these developers began as simple carpenters or masons,
emerging at a later date, in the listings of City directories, as
builders or even as architects. Rows of houses were being built,
three of more in number, and by the Eighteen-forties, filling as much
as half a block. The professional architect appeared on the scene

in the late Eighteen-forties, with James Renwick, Jr. and a few others,
such as Edmund Hurry. By the Eighteen-fifties some houses were being
designed by architects. As a result of the formation of the American
Institute of Architects, in 1857, it became quite usual for property
owners to call upon architects to design their houses.

A brief analysis of the principal styles of architecture to be
found in The Village, giving their outstanding characteristics, follows
in chronological order:

FEDERAL
1790-1835*

After the Revolution the elegant Federal architecture of the new
Republic superceded the heavy, rich architecture of the Georgian colo-
nial period. A new simplification of form and detail was in evidence,
an expression of American political independence and of the newly
achieved freedom of design.

The urban house of the Federal period was generally two stories
high with basement and had an attic story under the roof lighted by
dormer windows. When located on a corner site, the gable end was fully
exposed and often had a central arched window flanked by chimneys and,
if roof clearance permitted, two small quadrant windows. Built in
Flemish bond brickwork above a stone basement, which was often rusti-
cated, the house was approached by a relatively low stoop. When there
was an areaway outside the basement, a short flight of steps led to a
door below the stoop. Wrought iron handrailings at stoops and an area-
way or yard railing were usually much in evidence. Many corner houses
had shops on their narrow ends and side entrances, without stoops, at
street level.

Many of these houses had a sizeable rear yard with small stable,
set away from the house. This feature is generally lost today. A
few houses were later bridged across to the stable and the whole rear
portien was often built up to the height of the house. The windows
were invariably double-hung, and were muntined with six panes of glass
set in wood muntins in the upper sash and six in the lower sash. Stone
paneled lintels, paneled and with blocks at ends and often at center,
surmounted both windows and doorways. The roof cornice was invariably
classical with simple boxed gutter. It was often elaborated by the
addition of a molding, triglyphs, and modillions or dentils. All
cornices were returned to the walls in full profile at their ends,
resulting in the shortening of the fascia board below so that it left
the brickwork exposed at each end.

Federal details, often executed by superior craftsmen, gave these
houses that particular quality of excellence which we associate with
them. The wrought ironwork at the stoops and the exquisite doorways
with their leaded glass have never been equalled. The handrailings at
the stoops were simple straightforward examples of good wrought iron
construction with vertical spindles and simple top and bottom rails.
Some of these had curvilinear designs beneath the handrails. The orna-
ment, where funds permitted, was lavished on the square openwork newel
posts with their elaborate designs and their tops crowned by pineapples
carried on scrolls, the symbol of hospitality. The areaway or yard
railings were generally simple and straightforward designs similar to

those of the handrailings at the stoops.

*Note: Dates given in the Architectural Importance section are only
approximations of the duration of the style in The Village.
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The beautiful Federal doorway achieved an almost standardized
design, a hallmark of respectability in its day. The door enframe-
ment itself was simple in the extreme, with brick reveals at the sides
and stone lintel above, designed with end and center blocks simply
paneled or enriched with ornament. The wood entrance door was usually
eight-paneled with leaded sidelights and transom above. The side-
lights were often flanked by engaged columns with half columns in
the corners. The transom bar which was blocked forward above the side
columns was richly molded. The transom above it was almost invariably
surrounded, top and sides, by an egg and dart molding. A type of
Federal doorway, harking back to Georgian antecedents, included an
arched fanlight rather than a rectangular transom.

GREEK REVIVAL
1828-1848

The Greek Revival was a movement of national importance, which
spread from the eastern seaboard into the westernmost reaches of Ohio
and Indiana. It found its inspiration in the Greek struggle for in-
dependence and in the writings of Byron, coming to us via England with
the publication of Stuart and Revett's Antiquities of Athens. It in-
troduced the temple form and an array of classical details emphasizing
broad flat surfaces and millwork, in the production of which steam
machinery largely replaced the work of the individual craftsman. The
Greek Revival was introduced into New York later than it was in other
cities.

The urban house was generally three stories high above a high
basement. These houses were approached by stoops, under which the
traditional entrance to the basement was located. Roofs were either
shallow pitched gables or they sloped from front to back. The long
brick side walls were often stepped down from front to rear, follow-
ing the pitch of the roof. In most cases, where the top story was a
low attic, small and low windows were set just below the cornice in a
deepened fascia board, or in the wall. Wrought iron railings, embel-
lished with castings, were much in evidence as handrailings for stoops
and as railings at areaways. The outer doorways were usually framed
by stone or wood pilasters supporting full entablatures. The double-
hung windows, with delicate muntins, were usually six over six panes
of glass in the sash, while parlor windows if extended to the floor
were six over nine. Window lintels of stone had diminutive stone cor-
nices, or cap moldings, at the top in the finer houses and were flush
in the simpler houses. The roof cornice was generally of wood with
boxed gutter, with or without moldings, and a handsome row of dentils
set above a wood fascia board. As in the Federal house, the cornice
was returned to the wall at the ends, thus shortening the fascia board
below it. Brickwork was executed in running bond above a rusticated
stone basement and was generally separated from it by a broad flat
band course of stone. Where stores were introduced at ground floor in
corner houses, the entrance leading to the upper floors, as in the
Federal house, was often placed in the long side at ground level, with
the store filling the width of the narrow, front end.

The details of the Greek Revival house offered the builder the
opportunity of introducing some very refined ornament, examples of
which were to be found in the architectural handbooks of the day.
Wrought iron railings were designed to receive Greek fret castings
along the lower edge and a band of curvilinear design often decorated
the handrailings of the stoops just below the top of the railing.
Newel posts were of cast iron and, in some cases, surrounded by volute
or swirl of the railing itself and were often set on high stone bases.
The front door, with one, two, or usually four vertical panels, had flank-
ing sidelights and glazed transom above. Delicate pilasters frame the
sidelights supporting a transom bar, which was plain or decorated with
wreaths or a low pediment with anthemion acroteria. This anthemion
motif was also set in door panels, top and bottom, and in cast iron
between the upright spindles of the handrailings of the stoop. The
Greek fret motif in cast iron was often used along the bottom of hand-
railings on stoops and areaway railings. Certain doorways had frames
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with ""ears'" at the tops and slightly battered or sloping sidepieces,
and these door frames were often surmounted by a cornice. Greek
Revival design and ornament followed widely accepted formulas, readily
understood by local builders and amply illustrated in handbooks. This
produced a high degree of uniformity and a general excellence of con-
struction.

GOTHIC REVIVAL
1840-1865

Following the long reign of the classical styles, the Georgian
(colonial), Federal and Greek Revival, a wave of Romanticism swept
the country at mid-century, inaugurating a new series of revival re-
vival styles. This reaction against the formality and restrictions of
classical design introduced the Gothic, the Italianate and a host of
lesser styles which are also referred to as Revival styles.

The Gothic Revival has but little representation in The Village,
with the exception of churches. It was generally executed in brown-
stone or brick with brownstone trim and employed Gothic ornament
usually derived from the English Perpendicular style.

ITALIANATE
1850-1865

The Italianate, or round-arched style, came to us from Italy, via
England. The urban house was still restricted in its expression by the
limitations of the plan, with windows symmetrically arranged as before,
and the entrance doorway set to one side due to the location of stairs
and corridor. Where a brownstone veneer was applied to the front this
house was the prototype of the famous New York ''Brownstone'", a building
type destined to last well into the Eighteen-eighties, althrough modi-
fied by subsequent styles. These houses generally rose to a height
of four stories, set on high basements, and were approached by wide,
high stoops leading up to an entry with double doors. The basement
door beneath the stoop was approached from the areaway. Roofs were
pitched from front to back, with a very low pitch, and here, for the
first time, cornices were generally carried along the sides of corner
houses at the same level as those on the fronts.

There is one particular version of this style employing the so-
called "English basement', in which the house is entered almost at
street level. This is referred to as the Anglo-Italianate style. It
is a very practical scheme which obviates the use of the high stoop
and, as designed, with rusticated basement or first floor, was extremely
elegant and urbane. Just above this first floor, the full length parlor
floor windows of the second floor were often designed to open on a bal-
cony with cast iron railing, extending the width of the house.

The windows of the Italianate house were often framed in stone,
with cornices above the frames. Double-hung sash was retained but modi-
fied to look like casements. This was done by running a heavy muntin
vertically through the center of both upper and lower sash, grooved in
the center to simulate the meeting of the casements. Light horizontal
muntins then divided the upper and lower sash further, so that there
were generally four panes of glass over four. Basement windows were
generally round-arched, and windows at the upper floors square-headed.
However, in certain of the more costly houses segmental or round-arched
windows were also used at the upper floors.

The doorways of these houses first introduced the double door with-
out sidelights, but generally retained the glazed transom above. These
doors often had arched panels and were surrounded with rope moldings.
The outer doorway generally consisted of paneled stone pilasters, with
console brackets at their tops, carrying a segmental-arched pediment
which generally crowned the round arch of the masonry opening.

The roof cornice became, for the first time, a heavy and imposing
feature of the house. It was generally carried on brackets, single or
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paired, which extended down onto the wood or iron fascia leaving spaces
between, which were paneled. These cornices were usually embellished

with moldings.

Interesting details include the ironwork which, by this time,
had become almost entirely cast iron. Handrailings at the stoop area-
way railings and even the railings at the full length parlor floor
French windows employed a casting which had a repetitive unit of
verticals curved both at top and bottom where it met the rails. Vari-
ations on this theme are often encountered, but this jironwork was amaz-
ingly uniform in its production. The stair newels became massive iron
castings and, where many-sided, consisted of vertical castings bolted
together. In some cases cast iron balusters were used for the hand-
railings of the stoops with a broad handrail on top.

FRENCH SECOND EMPIRE
1860-1875

With the advent of the Civil War, new fortunes were being made and
wealthy property owners vied with each other in attempting to reflect
the glories of the Paris of Napoleon III, as created by Baron Haussmann.

In New York, these houses were so nearly similar to the Italianate
town houses that we need only mention the salient differences. Prob-
ably the most notable feature was the addition of the mansard roof
at the top floor. This was a steep roof, usually of slate, permitting
ample headroom for the attic story. These roofs invariably had dormer
windows with flat or segmental-arched heads. It should be pointed out
that, although the mansard roof was typical of the French style house,
the majority or urban houses retained beneath it the front walls of
brownstone crowned by a cornice. Windows, although framed in stone,
were very often segmental-arched and had plate glass sash, or at most,
a slender vertical mullion in the center of each sash. The paneling
of the front doors became richer, with small horizontal panels at knob
height, and was often thickened at the base of the door to provide a
kick plate. Frosted plate glass, etched with various patterns, began
to appear in the upper panels of these doors which were surrounded
by an array of rich moldings. The outer doorway consisted of stone
pilasters, consoles and segmental top arch or pediment, often quite
similar to the Italianate. The ironwork was an enriched and more
ornamental version of the Italianate, often using the basic underlying
verticals with arched tops and bottoms.

The Neo-Grec style, 1865-1880, is a later version of the French
Second Empire style. Ornament was much simplified with single-line
incised cuttings in the stone. Triglyphs and acroteria or 'ears' on
pediments were in evidence but also much simplified. Stone band
courses in the brickwork introduced a new element of horizontality.

It was an attempt to use a modified Greek ornament for decoration while
retaining the basic lines of the French style.

Stores were often introduced at ground floor level and were sup-
ported on square cast iron columns, which, from the street, looked
like pilasters. Larger areas of plate glass were commercially avail-
able at this time, and show windows were often set alongside of the
entrance doors leading to upper floors.

STYLES OF A LATER PERIOD

In addition to the basic styles discussed herein, which include a
large percentage of the houses in The Village, there were several
others of lesser import which emerged after 1880.

The Queen Anne style, 1880-1893, also known as the "Free Classic",
was basically a brick design concept using an abundance of terra cotta
ornament. Windows were generally plate glass and double-hung, with
the upper sash filled with a multiplicity of small square window panes
separated by muntins. The ornament was classic and the ironwork gen-
erally of wrought iron in curvilinear design. Asymmetry was the hall-
mark of many of these houses and features such as bay windows and
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elaborate cornices with broken pediments surmounting them were much in
evidence. Most of these houses were architect-designed, while their
Italianate predecessors, following an architect-designed prototype,
which soon become the property of builders, used the designs again and
again with modifications of their own.

The Romanesque Revival, 1880-1893, was a style much influenced by
the work of the architect Henry Hobson Richardson of Boston. It was
an all-masonry concept as far as urban buildings were concerned and
utilized rough-faced stonework or brick trimmed with stone. Where spans
were great, as at main entrances, arches were invariably used; they were
also used for window openings which were usually trimmed with a cornice
band beyond the radial brick or stone arch. These cornice bands were
often carried across horizontally, from window to window at arch spring
level with unifying effect.

An earlier round-arched phase of this style developed similta-
neously with the Italianate and had, as its main characteristic, brick
corbeling at the eaves of the roof or at the parapet.

Classicism of the Eclectic Period, 1893-1915, was a result of the
World's Columbian Exposition of 1893 in Chicago, when American archi-
tecture underwent a classical Renaissance. It was inspired by the
classic colonnades and buildings of the Fair and inaugurated the Age
of Eclecticism wherein architects, for the first time, attempted to be
archaeologically correct in their use of the classical orders (columns)
and of ornament. This movement was made possible by the great number
of books on architecture which were by then becoming available, forming
the libraries which architects considered such an indispensable part of
their office operations. Increased travel facilities and various fel-
lowships and grants for study abroad were also contributing factors.

Urban houses blossomed forth with entrance porticos supported on
columns, and with elaborate sheetmetal cornices displaying a wealth of
moldings, modillions, dentils, swags and other classical motifs. This
new architecture was particularly popular with apartment house builders
and made use of many new materials such as Roman brick (long, slender
bricks) and terra cotta ornament. It was quite usual in these buildings
to execute first floors in stone and upper floors in brick trimmed with
terra cotta.

SUMMARY

The architecture of The Village represents an unusual cross-section
of all the styles discussed above and includes a smattering of good
contemporary buildings. The quality of many of the buildings in
Greenwich Village is truly outstanding and the District, as a whole, is
architecturally distinguished. No matter from which side one enters
Greenwich Village, one becomes aware of a singularly attractive quality.
This is the result of having retained an outstanding neighborhood rela-
tively intact. The Village, like other parts of the City, has felt the
inroads of commerce and industry, but most of these latter-day struc-
tures serve a useful purpose within the community. Where they are not
compatible with their surroundings, they could almost all be improved
and made to harmonize architecturally by their owners, should they so
desire.

District designation brings with it a new spirit of constructive
planning by the community and of responsibility for its future.
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It is fitting that Greenwich Village, base for the Provincetown
Players and now famous for its '"Off Broadway'" productions, should also
have been the home of William Dunlap (1766-1839), 'Father of the
American Theatre'. Dunlap was given this title because he was the
first American who attempted to earn a living by writing for the
stage. Despite his poverty, which forced him to eke out his living
by painting, he continued to produce plays and the historical works
for which he is best remembered. These include his History of the
American Theatre (1832), History of the Rise and Progress of the Arts
of Design in the United States (1834) and The History of the State
of New York, part of which was published posthumously. In 1832 he
rented a house on the east side of Sixth Avenue between Washington
Place and Waverly Place (old No. 64), now a parking lot, and in 1835
he moved to No. 35 Greenwich Avenue.

One of the earliest literary celebrities who lived in The Village
was Tom Paine (1737-1809), author of Common Sense and The Rights of
Man. He was often referred to as '"The Infidel' and was not understood
by many of the petty bourgeois who surrounded him. He died in The
Village in 1809.

Probably the most romantic and tragic figure in the American lit-
erary world of the first half of the Nineteenth Century was Edgar Allan
Poe (1809-1849). 1In February of 1837 Poe arrived in New York and took
up his residence at the corner of Sixth Avenue and Waverly Place with
his wife Virginia and his mother-in-law, Mrs. Clemm. By the spring of
that year they had already moved to 113-1/2 Carmine Street where he
wrote The Narrative of Arthur Gordon Pym, The Murders in the Rue Morgue
and The Gold Bug. This house was located across the street from St.
John's Graveyard, a melancholy setting, which must have appealed to
his romantic nature. Another move, to West Third Street, produced
The Raven and brought to its author the fame he deserved. In April of
1846 he moved away from Greenwich Village for the last time.

Henry Jarvis Raymond, who lived at No. 12 West Ninth Street in
the Eighteen-sixties, was a founder and the first editor of The New
York Times and the first editor of Harper's Magazine, serving later as
Lieutenant Governor of the State of New York and then as Congressman.

Although The Village of the first half of the Nineteenth Century
was the home of noted artists and authors, they generally lived separate
lives and met primarily in the salons of their more fortunate confréres.
It was at that time primarily a neightborhood of small tradesmen and,
in the environs of Fifth Avenue, of prosperous merchants and profes-
sionals.

Ann Charlotte Lynch (Botta), who came to The Village in 1845, took
up residence at No. 116 Waverly Place and established one of those
notable literary salons which brought together many writers including
Edgar Allan Poe, William Cullen Bryant, Fitz-Greene Halleck, Horace
Greeley, Margaret Fuller, R. H. Stoddard, and Bayard Taylor. Another
notable salon which attracted many Village writers was that of the
talented but retiring magazine editor, Evert Augustus Duyckinck, at
No. 20 Clinton Place (just outside the Historic District).

Richard Watson Gilder, editor of the Century magazine was another
host who gathered about him many of the foremost literary and artistic
figures of the day. He lived at No. 13 East Eighth Street, in the
Eighteen-eighties, in a house which is no longer standing.

These literary coteries, and others of lesser note, gave the
artists and authors the opportunity, so essential to the creative,
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artistic temperament, of exchanging ideas with their fellows. However,
the element of exclusiveness was inherent in the very nature of this
type of entertainment. As so many of the artists were poor, unknown,
and virtually alone in the City, they needed a public gathering place
to which free access might be had by all.

Henry Wysham Lanier, in his book Greenwich Village Today and
Yesterday, tells us of the emergence of just such a place in 1857.
When we consider the part played by the popular restaurant or bar pa-
tronized by the literati of The Village today, we are fascinated to
learn of these early beginnings as described by Lanier. He tells us
that "just after the financial panic of 1857 . . . the first organized
Bohemian group of New York took shape in a cellar bierstube under the
Broadway pavement.' This was none other than Charlie Pfaff's saloon at
No. 653 Broadway, a few doors above Bleecker Street. Here, under the
rule of Ada Clare, queen of this group of notables, were to be found
as frequent visitors, Walt Whitman, John Burroughs, Bayard Taylor, W.W.
Stedman, G. A. Sala, John Swinton and Henry Clapp.

Henry James (1843-1916) was born on the site of No. 27 Washington
Place. He lived in Greenwich Village until 1856, with various trips
to Europe intervening; nonetheless, these early impressions were well
recorded in his later writings. A Small Boy and Others, which he de-
scribed as an autobiographical essay, brings back the very essence of
those early days in The Village in a way that few others have been able
to do. His novel Washington Square used the house of his grandmother,
Mrs. Elizabeth Walsh (No. 18 Washington Square North) at which he was
a frequent visitor, as its physical setting, a first-hand impression
treasured from his youth.

Mark Twain also lived in The Village in the so-called 'Mark Twain
House'" at 21 Fifth Avenue. A prolific writer, who often chose the
American scene as his theme, he was equally renowned as a raconteur
and public speaker and was constantly in demand as an outstanding leader
in the literary world. Ida M. Tarbell, the crusading muckraker of her
day, did much to improve the City and awaken the public from its apathy
regarding social conditions. Randolph Bourne, liberal and social theo-
rist, was another Village resident and contributed much to intellectual
standards. Theodore Dreiser lived with his sister in '"Rhinelander
Gardens' at one period of his career, where they were often visited by
their brother, Paul Dresser, music publisher and beloved bon vivant.
Dreiser's themes ran deep in the American life-stream and gave a care-
free nation food for thought and self-appraisal. Edna St. Vincent
Millay once lived in the smallest house in The Village, 75% Bedford
Street. Gentle poet, her loving nature made itself felt to her genera-
tion, enriching their lives through its beauty. Carl Van Doren, his-
torian and author, was no less celebrated than is Mark Van Doren, the
poet, and both of them lived in The Village at various periods of their
lives.

The Tenth Street Studio Building provided studios for many artists
(described under No. 51 West Tenth Street) and was a great center of
artistic creativity. The atelier of the noted architect, Richard Morris
Hunt, was also located here in the Eighteen-fifties, where he trained
many of the foremost architects of the next generation.

Most exclusive of the artists' clubs was the Tile Club, 58% West
Tenth Street, which occupied the rear premises of the house at No. 58
in the Eighteen-eighties. Originally a retreat for artists who wished
to paint tiles, it later became a center of artistic activity as a meet-
ing place. Abbey, Smith, White, Saint-Gaudens, Reinhart, Chase, Vedder,
Millet, Sarony and many others were constant visitors and it was repre-
sentative of the best artistic talent of the day. The house was later
acquired by D. Maitland Armstrong, artist, clubman, and author of Day
Before Yesterday, an interesting memoir.

Among artists who lived and worked in The Village were such early
notables as Albert Pinkham Ryder, remembered for the ghostly subjects
he chose for his paintings; Eastman Johnson, genre painter and por-
traitist; and William Merritt Chase, who worked in the Tenth Street
Studio Building, where he painted his famous '"Carmencita'. Other early

-22-



ARTISTIC AND CULTURAL HISTORY

painters who lived or worked in the Studio Building included the Hudson
River School painters, Albert Bierstadt, Frederick E. Church, Sanford
R. Gifford, and John F. Kensett. The scholarly John La Farge also
worked there and executed many of the paintings which were destined

to have such an influence on American art. His world-famed stained
glass brought to him recognition by the French government, with the
coveted Legion of Honor.

Among the American impressionists, Ernest Lawson and Robert Henri
both lived in The Village, as did William Glackens, one of the early
proponents of "The Ashcan School'". John Sloan and Edward Hopper were
also noted residents.

Many sculptors of note made The Village their home. One of the
earliest was John Rogers, whose small family groups, expressing simple
domestic themes, found such favor with the general public and are now
having a revival of interest. Augustus Saint-Gaudens and A. Sterling
Calder both worked in the Tenth Street Studio Building. Saint-Gaudens
introduced a new and highly individualized classic style, utilizing
stylized drapery for effect. Calder belonged to a family which can
boast three generations of sculptors, unusual in this field of en-
deavor. In the classical vein, the work of Daniel Chester French was
imposing and dignified and, like Saint-Gaudens, he executed a great
many commissions. Also a classicist, but influenced more by the French
Beaux Arts tradition, was Frederick MacMonnies, a man who sought the
contemporary mode of expression of his day. Paul Manship, a younger
man, attempted to establish a new classicism more in character with
contemporary architecture and the spirit of his time. Jo Davidson,
who spent so many years in Paris, was one of the giants of the sculptors'
world and created a new, impressionist art form which was destined to
influence a generation of sculptors. Gaston Lachaise, William Zorach
and Oronzio Maldarelli were Davidson's contemporaries. Working in a
contemporary vein, they achieved international renown.

Gertrude Vanderbilt Whitney's connection with The Village is par-
ticularly well known, largely because of her establishment of the
Whitney Museum, originally located on West Eighth Street. Quite aside
from her talents as a sculptress, her influence as an educator, bring-
ing to the average citizen a new awareness of what was best in con-
temporary art, was one of her finest contributions.

Many other celebrities, too numerous to mention in this brief
summary of artistic and literary achievement, made their mark in The
Village and drew sustenance from its congenial atmosphere. The artist
today continues to make his own contribution to the contemporary world.
He fancies that he is just as free of all tradition and all that pre-
ceded him, as did the artist of the Nineteen-twenties, yet this very
spirit of independence is the hallmark of The Village which continues
today as a vital, living tradition.
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POLICIES OF THE COMMISSION

In a speech at a meeting of the Greenwich Village Association in
May 1966, Geoffrey Platt, Chairman of the Landmarks Preservation
Commission, outlined the policies of the Commission. He said that the
question had been raised as to what the creation of the Greenwich
Village Historic District would mean over a long period of, perhaps,
twenty five years. The Chairman made the following statement.

""1. The Commission hopes to help preserve and maintain
the many fine buildings in the Greenwich Village
area that today create the atmosphere here.

"2. In Greenwich Village there are a certain number of
old buildings that have somewhat deteriorated over
the years. During the next twenty-five years it is
our hope that these old buildings will be restored
to their original appearance.

"3, During the same twenty-five years, there will be new
buildings built in Greenwich Village, and the Commission
hopes that these buildings will be well designed so
that they can enhance the charm of the community. It
is important that the new buildings in an Historic
District are built on the site of the less distinguished
buildings within the District. Progress in an Historic
District should mean that the best of the past is pre-
served and that new buildings built there will enhance
those which are already there.

"Throughout the United States there are a number of Historic
Districts. There is a reason for the creation of these districts.
They have been created to keep the fine old buildings, of which a city
is proud, and to help the economy of the city. What works in other
cities will also work in New York City. Aside from the obvious eco-
nomic advantage in preserving Historic Districts, we believe that the
residents of such districts enjoy a better way of life. The testimony
of dozens of witnesses before our Commission supports this view as do
the many letters we have received.

"How will the Landmarks Commission handle the administration of an
Historic District? We have had several months of experience in Brooklyn
Heights, and a good pattern is being established there. The most im-
portant thing for the Commission is to have the opportunity to talk
with owners. New Yorkers are proud of their neighborhoods and are
anxious to do things which will help their communities. We have pointed
out to different owners on the Heights various changes which will help
their buildings. I wish to emphasize that the law does not permit the
Landmarks Preservation Commission to ask owners to make any alterations.
The Commission only exercises its powers for the review of plans where
an owner proposes to alter or add to his building.

""The Commission has been working very closely with civic groups in
Brooklyn Heights. This will be the pattern all over the City. The
leaders and the citizens of the Greenwich Village community have goals
for their community, and the Commission will try to be of service in
achieving these goals.

"Owners of buildings in the Brooklyn Heights Historic District
have come to us in connection with changes for their buildings. The
Commission approves these changes, and it is anxious to see these
buildings efficiently used by their owners. There is no intention
on our part to freeze an Historic District in its exact form on the
date of its designation."
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It should be added that the Commission's policies, here expressed,
have been successfully applied in the Brooklyn Heights Historic District
in the more than two years since this policy statement was first made.
Nine other Historic Districts have been designated by the Landmarks
Preservation Commission in the last two years, and the Commission's
policies have also been applied in these nine Districts.

Returning to the Chairman's statement, he continued: "The follow-
ing are some guide lines which will help owners and architects in making
their plans for alterations to the various kinds of buildings found
within an Historic District:

"1. For the buildings that are more than 100 years old, and
for other buildings which are architecturally outstand-
ing, the Commission is anxious that the proposed altera-
tions maintain the details that give these buildings
architectural distinction. Architects and owners should
try to preserve the original features, including signi-
ficant architectural details, and the materials used
on the fronts of these buildings.

"2. For more recent buildings which are less distinguished
architecturally, the Commission will review - for
example - the materials an owner proposes to use in his
alterations and any additional windows or new doors he
may want to put on the front of the building. The re-
lationship to adjacent buildings will also be considered.
This will be with regard to color and texture of mate-
rials, and proportion and placement of openings as they
relate to neighboring buildings.

"The Commission will be anxious to strengthen the char-
acter of the Historic District. Quite often new mate-
rials are selected for the front of a building which are
inappropriate and do not harmonize with existing build-
ings. Appropriate materials need cost no more than in-
appropriate materials. We visualize alterations which
will improve entire block fronts and the general appear-
ance of the community.

"3. In the case of an 0ld Law Tenement, an owner may come
to the Commission with extensive alterations which he
proposes to make. Some of the facades of 01d Law Tene-
ments have strong architectural character and interesting
sculptured details. The Commission will explore with
these owners whether or not these fronts may be saved.
We will cooperate with them in working out any necessary
re-arrangement of windows or doors. Sometimes it will
not be possible to maintain the existing details of the
fronts of 0ld Law Tenements. In these cases the
Commission will explore with the owners alternatives
that are compatible with the adjoining buildings on the
block.

'""Certain Old Law Tenements have no strong architectural
features today. In some cases, they once did, but these
details have been lost. When these buildings are al-
tered, the Commission will be concerned about the materi-
als that are used, the doors, the window openings and
the maintenance of good architectural proportions.

"The Commission will be anxious that the proposed alterations will
be financially successful so that the Historic District remains a pros-
perous place. We are pleased whenever an owner wishes to spend money
on his property. We believe that money wisely spent within the District
will greatly improve the City.

"In Greenwich Village there are some warehouses and garages, other
commercial or industrial buildings and other less distinguished buildings.
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POLICIES OF THE COMMISSION

Some owners may wish to replace these buildings. That is an initial
determination for each individual owner. Once an owner reaches such
a decision, the Commission will cooperate fully with him in accord-
ance with the provisions of the Law.

"Here are guide lines which will help the architect of new build-
ings in an Historic District. The architect should take into account
his surroundings, including the adjoining buildings and those across
the street and along the entire block front. The new building should
relate well to its neighbors in terms of materials that are used, the
architectural proportions, the size and shape of the windows and the
details on the front of the building, such as the exterior lighting
and other features. Essentially the most successful new design in
an Historic District will be the simplest. The architects should avoid
the use of too many different materials and the creation of bizarre
effects.

"The owner of a piece of land may want to reproduce - in a new
building - a traditional Nineteenth Century design. In such a case,
the Commission will cooperate fully with any owner who makes such a
choice. To be successful these reproductions have to be very skill-
fully designed. A badly executed traditional design compares very
unfavorably with an original Nineteenth Century building. Once again
the Commission will be concerned with the quality of the architectural
details."

It should be added that, since this policy statement was made, the
Landmarks Commission has approved a major new building in the Brooklyn
Heights Historic District. This building is now being constructed by
the Watchtower Bible and Tract Society (the Jehovah's Witnesses). The
design of this new building is completely modern. The Landmarks
Commission and the community have welcomed this outstanding new build-
ing which was designed by a leading modern architect and which, by the
nature of its design, fits in well with its Nineteenth Century neighbors
in the Historic District.
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DOCUMENTATION AND ARRANGEMENT

This report has been written to describe an area of the City which
is architecturally and historically notable and is also known as a
center of outstanding artists and authors. It is hoped that this Report
will prove educational and informative to property owners. It has been
compiled with great care, describing The Village building by building.
The following notes should prove informative to the reader.

Historical Documentation. The documentation of each building has
been based on primary research sources, mainly official records of the
City of New York. These have been supplemented by special collections
of original manuscripts, maps, City directories, genealogical sources,
newspapers, pamphlets, and published histories of the City and of cer-
tain buildings or institutions, in the collections of such institutions
as the Municipal Library, The New York Public Library, The New-York
Historical Society, the Museum of the City of New York, and the Avery
Architectural Library of Columbia University. Municipal records, drawn
upon heavily, which have been of great assistance in establishing the
historical documentation of buildings, include:

A. Conveyance and mortgage records, survey and estate maps, and
tract reports (Office of the Register).

B. Tax assessment records of the late Eighteenth and the Nineteenth
centuries (Municipal Archives and Record Center).

C. Building and alteration plans, violation indices, building and
alteration dockets -- all after 1866 (Department of Buildings).

D. City survey maps and cessions books (Topographical Bureau,
Office of the Borough President of Manhattan).

E. Court records (Surrogate's Court and the County Clerk's Office).
F. Minutes of the Common Council of the City of New York.

The intensive staff work on Greenwich Village was begun in January
1963 and continued up to the adoption of this Report. The major docu-
mentation on Greenwich Village is now recorded in thirteen volumes of
typewritten information and several file drawers. It includes a vir-
tually complete photographic record of the buildings surveyed between
1963 and the summer of 1968.

Areas. For convenience in writing this Report, and solely for
this purpose, the Greenwich Village Historic District has been arbi-
trarily divided into nine contiguous areas. This division into areas
has no significance historically, architecturally or otherwise, and
has been introduced only for convenience in organizing the material
for this Report. Within each area, the named streets and the avenues
have been arranged alphabetically, while the numbered streets have been
entered under East or West in numerical sequence, within each area.

Walking The Village. The Report has been written in such manner
that one can walk The Village readily. Generally speaking, one goes up
the east side of an avenue (or north-south street) and down the west
side. Streets running generally east and west are walked by going west
along the south side of the block, and by returning eastward along the
north.

Avenues. For brevity in this Report the "Avenue of the Americas"
shall be referred to in the text as '"Sixth Avenue.'" '"Seventh Avenue,"
south of Greenwich Avenue, is. known as '"'Seventh Avenue South."
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DOCUMENTATION AND ARRANGEMENT

Architectural Features. Such features have been described for a
given building where they are considered to be the outstanding features
of the building. These include doorways, windows, roof cornices,
stoops, basements, and iron railings, etc., stressing the qualities
which make them notable.

Floors (or Stories). Many houses have had their front stoops re-
moved and now have their principal entrances in the former basement.
Where this occurs, the basement then becomes the first floor, numbering
upward accordingly. Traditionally the first, or parlor floor, is above
the basement and at the head of the stoop. Where stoops remain in place,
the floors are still numbered upward from this level. English base-
ments are entered at or close to street level and are always the first
floors.

Windows. For convenience in writing the Report, double-hung win-
dows are often referred to as '"muntined,' that is, they have the conven-
tional small wooden bars separating the panes of glass in both the upper
and lower sash. Depending on the number of panes, they may be described
as six over six and six over nine, or as a single vertical muntin running
up the center of the window sash. Where there is one pane of glass, the
window is described as ''plate glass.'" Some windows, especially those of
Gothic churches, are referred to as '"mullioned." A mullion is a heavy
stone bar, generally vertical, which separates windows or, more usually,
the panes within a large window.

Lost to The Village. Another feature of the Greenwich Village
Report consists of a description of fine buildings which once stood on
the site of present-day buildings.

In recent years, change in a fine urban neighborhood has often been
a process of attrition, in that notable architecture is often razed to
make way for buildings which generally have been less notable. The
destruction of outstanding buildings hurts the character of an entire
neighborhood. The designation of an Historic District will tend to
prevent the needless loss of additional fine architecture and to control
future alterations and construction.

To maintain and improve an area of historic buildings, the area
should include buildings near the notable architecture. This will insure
protection of the quality and character of the entire neighborhood. Each
piece of property should play a role in improving the quality of an his-
toric area. New construction should raise the quality of the neighbor-
hood.

Thus, in designating this Historic District, we include in our
Report an indication of what New York has already lost and the present
buildings on these sites.

Our purpose is to halt the process of attrition. If allowed to
continue unchecked, the attrition would eventually erode away the re-
maining fine buildings, destroying forever an historic area.

It should be noted that the great preponderance of notable archi-
tecture, which remains to us today in an historic area, forms the basis
for designation of any District. However, thoughtless owners or builders,
if left uncontrolled, might ultimately spread out and engulf a fine
District. This would be an irreparable loss to the City.
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#2

#4

GV-HD AREA 1

EAST EIGHTH STREET (Between Fifth Avenue § University Place)

Looking into this street one notes the great disparity in the
sizes of the buildings. Low apartments of uniform appearance line
the south side of the block, with the exception of a very high struc-
ture at Fifth Avenue which was built as a hotel in the Nineteen-
twenties. The entire north side of the block has been taken over by
two modern apartment houses, The Brevoort, at the Fifth Avenue end,
and the higher Brevoort East filling the remainder of the block.

It is interesting to note that the low apartment houses along the
south side of the block are remodeled in a uniform style of architect-
ture. If any part of this row were removed or altered, it would de-
stroy something which, in its picturesqueness, might be described as
unique to The Village. In this row two extensively remodeled town
houses remain, and their upper floors are the only indication of the
original appearance of the block. Juxtaposed as they are, they lend
diversity to the apartment row and an awareness of the type of house
which was remodeled to produce it.

One of New York's best hotels and many fine city residences were
swept away to make way for the two enormous apartment houses which
occupy the entire north side of East Eighth Street, literally filling
the block. They are not designed to harmonize with their neighbors,
in scale, detail or use of materials. A cursory look at the rela-
tively harmonious apartment house of the Nineteen-twenties, which line
Fifth Avenue, might have given the architect at least a clue as to how
he might have achieved some degree of harmony when designing these
buildings.

Until a public body takes a hand in controlling the design of
these large structures, Greenwich Village, and most of the fine build-
ings which make it what it is, will be swept away by structures which
make no attempt even to harmonize with the attractive buildings in
the area.

The present East and West Eighth Street between Broadway and Sixth
Avenue was officially named Clinton Place in 1842, after DeWitt
Clinton. However, prior to and concurrently with this designation it
was also known simply as Eighth Street (no East or West). To add to
the confusion, the house numbering of Eighth Street began with No. |
at Sixth Avenue and ran eastward, while their Clinton Place numbering
started with No. 1 at Broadway and ran westward.

EAST EIGHTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University P1.)

This block front is notable for its uniformity and unusual quality
as remodeled in 1916 in a Germanic version of Mediterranean styles.
The development of the block began when its owner, Sailors' Snug
Harbor, leased the land to individuals who built the houses on it in
the early Eighteen-thirties. New York University is the present
lessee.

This corner site is occupied by the hotel, One Fifth Avenue (de-
scribed under No. 1 Fifth Avenue), built in 1926.

No. 4 is an exception to the remainder of the block both in having
been erected in 1836 and in its present appearance. It was modernized
by eliminating the stoop and is unusual in that the ground floor book-
store is entered at street level and is kept low enough to permit the
introduction of another store at mezzanine floor level. This lower
part of the facade is unified by fluted cast iron columns, remainders
of a previous remodeling, capped by a band course running the entire
width of the house. This rough-stuccoed house is now five stories
high and surmounted by a bracketed cornice of the Neo-Grec period.

No. 4 was built for Robert B. Atterbury as his residence. At
Nos. 4 and 6 in the early Eighteen-fifties, Madame Frederick Reichard
conducted a boarding school for young ladies. In the late Eighteen-
fifties, No. 4 became the residence of Edward N. Tailer, Jr., an
importer, and his bride Agnes Suffern, whose wedding had been per-
formed at her home, No. 11 Washington Square North. As her father's
stable, built at No. 64 Washington Mews in 1833 backed up onto No. 4
East Eighth Street, the family's residential property extended north-
ward from Washington Square two blocks to Eighth Street.
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EAST EIGHTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University Pl.)

The remainder of the block was developed in 1834 and 1835. Each
house was erected for a different person, except Nos. 6 and 8 which
were built for John T. Gilchrist, a commission merchant and senior
member of a family firm. Apparently his buildings were erected for
investment purposes, as his own home was further down the street.
Connected with this block for most of the century was the mercantile
Gillilan family. At house No. 20 in the year of its erection, 1834,
Edward Gillilan was its inhabitant (though not the lessee of the land).
Not until 1855 was the lease obtained by Edward H. Gillilan, a New York
City merchant. Although he later moved to London, he and his family
continued to renew the lease, and made alterations to No. 20 in 1898.
The artist, Mary Turlay Robinson, lived at No. 8 in the early Nineteen-
twenties.

No. 10, built in 1835 for John Johnston, blends with its neighbors
both because of its height and because its brick facade has been painted.
It has a basement shop beneath a high store which is reached by a flight
of entrance steps within the building line. The tall doorway and store
are unified by a sheetmetal cornice with egg and dart molding running
the width of the building. On the top floor a low studio window has
been cut through the cornice to one side and sits well below it. Parts
of the original cornice remain so that we still see the ornate support-
ing brackets above the one remaining top floor double-hung window.

Nos. 6 and 8 and Nos. 12 to 26, including the house at the corner
of University Place, were remodeled in 1916 for conversion into apart-
ments by the owner, Sailors' Snug Harbor, after expiration of the
twenty-one year leases. Maynicke & Franke were the architects, with
Victor Fox in charge. Entrance to these houses, most of which are
five stories high, is now from street level. As a row, their new
light-colored smooth-stuccoed facades represent a Germanic version of
Mediterranean styles and have a basically symmetrical appearance with
interesting variants.

No. 16, the pivotal center of the long row, has a new street level
store, above which is a group of three round-arched casement windows.
These first two floors are dignified by an unusual two-story pilaster
remaining at one side of the building and reminiscent of Roman fasces,
surmounted by an eagle. The three upper floors have conventional win-
dow spacing, but the first of these floors has windows with blind
arches which serve as a transition. Iron railings, suggesting balco-
nies but below window level, ornament these arched windows and the
central window at the top floor. This top central window is given
added emphasis by a cornice surmounted by a tall triangular ornament
in low relief set against the otherwise unadorned, level parapet at the
top of the building.

Nos. 6-8, 12-14, 18-20, 22-24, and No. 26 display rhythms of vari-
ants that enliven the facade superimposed upon this block in 1916. On
either side of its pivotal center, No. 16, most of the houses are paired,
each pair having a central six-story stair tower containing the entrance
door (with a blind arch) to serve the building on each side. The pairs
on either side of No. 16 have steeply pitched, overhanging roofs, and
of these four, the roofs of Nos. 14 and 18 are interrupted by an arched
studio window reminiscent of the Art Nouveau style, while Nos. 12 and
20 have studio skylights. Each of the pair to the west of No. 16 has
a tripartite arched window at street level and at the second floor, a
group of three windows with ornamental blind arches. Each of the pair
east of No. 16 (Nos. 18 and 20) has on its upper floors a triple win-
dow surmounted by a three-centered blind arch, while at street level
there is a group of three windows with blind arches. The next pair
to the east (Nos. 22 and 24) have for their theme, on each floor, a
group of three windows, which are segmental-arched, except at the fourth
floor, where they are round-arched. Each house acts as a transition to
its adjoining neighbor. Thus No. 22 has the same steeply pitched, sky-
lighted roof as No. 20, while the top floor of No. 24 has a tripartite
square-headed double-hung window with steeply pitched hood and level
parapet at the top. No. 26, its neighbor to the east, at the corner
of University Place, has the same level parapet at the top and a small
hood over some of the top floor windows. This corner building has re-
tained the customary spacing for its double-hung muntined windows, thus
echoing No. 16. At the western end of this group (toward Fifth Avenue),
the pair Nos. 6 and 8 have, above their fourth and fifth floors respec-
tively, the same steeply pitched roofs with studio skylights of the
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EAST EIGHTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University Pl.)

type mentioned. At street level they have a wide, arched window.
This pair, and the two houses at the other end, have variously shaped,
colored decorative tile plaques embedded in their exterior walls.
Throughout this row of houses, most of the arches and many of the
square-headed lintels are emphasized by being of natural-colored
brick as contrasted with the bare stucco walls.

This picturesque group of buildings is of a type unique to
Greenwich Village.

EAST EIGHTH STREET North Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University P1.)

"The Brevoort'" (No. 11 Fifth Avenue) and its eastern portion, the
"Brevoort East,'" date from 1953 and 1965 respectively and form one
apartment house filling the entire block. It is all built of light-
colored brick, with a height ranging from twelve to fourteen stories
above the sidewalk, with a series of setbacks at high level on the
Fifth Avenue end, and a large high-rise mass near University Place.

On this site there once stood four exceptionally handsome and
well proportioned Greek Revival town houses, Nos. 9 to 15 East
Eighth Street. A photograph taken early in this century shows that
the center two houses, Nos. 11 and 13, shared a beautiful entrance
portico flanked by slender fluted Ionic columns. Richard Watson
Gilder, editor of Century magazine and leading literary hose, made
his home at No. 13 from 1888 to 1909.

EAST NINTH STREET (Between Fifth Avenue § University Place),

Here a strong contrast is presented. The entire south side of the
street filled by an enormous superblock apartment house faces, to the
north, a fine row of Greek Revival town houses retaining much of its
low-1lying scale and charm. This row is dramatically accented at the
ends of the block by tall apartment houses which are designed to blend
with it.

This row of houses on the north side of the street has a fine
sense of scale. The windows diminish in size as they ascend, termi-
nating at the attic floor with low windows set the full depth of the
fascia. This, together with the roof cornice, unifies the row archi-
tecturally except for a few houses at the eastern end. (The adjoining
corner at University Place, is outside the Historic District.)

Before the block-long apartment house was finished along the south
side of the street, a row of four-story houses once stood here. These
have all been swept away without leaving even a single reminder of the
original appearance of the block. This gigantic double apartment house,
with its windows stressing the horizontal, is a brash intruder lacking
the features which might retain any kinship whatsoever with its hand-
some neighbors across the street. Obviously no design controls were
exercised here, and the result is a building which in every way defies
its surroundings.

EAST NINTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University P1.)

This entire city block is filled by '"The Brevoort,' with entrance,
at No. 11 Fifth Avenue, and its eastern portion, the "Brevoort East,"
with entrance at No. 20 East Ninth Street. This double apartment house
has been described under Fifth Avenue and under East Eighth Street.

EAST NINTH STREET North Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University P1.)

The north side of this street, with its row of town houses, still
retains a domestic quality and the Greek Revival elegance of an earlier
century. Most of these town houses are relatively unchanged.

A thirteen-story brick apartment house, built in 1921 (described
under No. 25 Fifth Avenue) occupies this corner site.

This attractive brick. row of six Greek Revival houses was all
built about the same time. Henry Suydam, a merchant, erected four of
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EAST NINTH STREET North Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University P1.)

them as investments, Nos. 7 and 11 in 1837-38, and Nos. 5 and 13 in
1840-41. Likewise, No. 3 was built in 1840-41 as an investment for
Robert H. McCurdy, senior partner of a dry goods firm, whose home was
on Fifth Avenue, near Tenth Street. No. 9 was erected in 1837-38 by
the builder, I. Greene Pearson.

No. 3 is outstanding in that it still has all its original Greek
Revival ironwork for its stoop and areaway railings. Low, fluted Doric
columnar pedestals, at the foot of the handrails, presumably once had
wrought iron basket newels on them. No. 9 has its original wrought
iron areaway railing, while No. 11 had added the new Italianate iron-
work that became fashionable in the Eighteen-fifties. At No. 7 may be
seen an unusual Greek Revival window-railing with strigil motif and
cast iron rosettes beneath, perhaps the prototype for the entire row.

All these houses retain their double-hung muntined sash and floor-
length drawing room windows. The flat window lintels at No. 9 are
flush while those at Nos. 3, 5 and 13 have delicate little cornices.
The deep fascia of the almost continuous roof cornice was cut out to
receive the attic windows. This feature with handsome dentiled taenia
band, separating architrave from frieze, extends the entire length of
the row. Basement entrances replace the stoops at Nos. 5, 7, 9 and 13,
while Nos. 3 and 5 retain their rusticated brownstone basements vir-
tually unaltered. The stoops and doorways at Nos. 3 and 11, with two
unfluted Doric columns supporting handsome entablatures, are the orig-
inals. The inner wood doorway of No. 3 is the original, but the door
is new.

The elegance of this row in its overall planning can be recon-
structed by picturing its original stoops, ironwork, newels and con-
tinuous attic cornice.

This brick house of 1844-45, built for Edward Carey, was consider-
ably remodeled in the Nineteen-twenties after its top floor had already
been raised. This top floor has an attractive central iron balcony, and
the sill has been cut down to provide a French door opening onto it. The
cornice has been completely removed, and the front wall carried up to
form a stone-capped parapet. The rusticated basement entrance is hand-
somely enframed with a heavy molding interrupted by a keystone, which
comes forward to carry the cornice over the doorway.

No. 17 was built in 1844 for Mrs. Elisha Wells. It was remodeled
in the style of the Eighteen-fifties, when the top floor received its
bracketed and modillioned cornice. The basement entrance, like so many
others, was introduced in the early Twentieth Century. The simple mun-
tined windows, lintels and floor-length drawing room windows add dignity
to this high facade. Nan Lurie, the artist, resided here in 1938.

No. 19, a Greek Revival house built in 1843, has been remodeled to
include a store as well as a street level entrance. Small, wrought iron
flower box carriers, at each windowsill, suggest an alteration of the
Nineteen-twenties, as does the removal of the cornice, creating a
stuccoed brick parapet or upward extension of the front wall. This
house had been built for Luke Holmes. The painter, Sue Fuller, lived
here during World War II.

This six-story brick apartment house retains the feeling of a
luxurious private home. Originally it was a town house, built in 1842
on an unusually wide lot (30 ft.). It has an interesting arrangement
of windows in that the two left-hand windows are set closer to each
other than to the right-hand one. Its elegant front with shutters,
modillioned cornice, and store front at first floor level are typical
of 1928 when this house was remodeled. The architect, Dwight James
Baum, also added a story with brick parapet and a penthouse which is
set back. The second floor windows, without shutters, have elegant
curved iron balconies and stone keystones in the splayed brick lintels.
The store window, with muntins and dentiled lintel above, is comple-
mented by the doors on each side which have molding frames crowned by
a handsome cornice.

Aquila G. Stout built this wide house for his own residence in 1842,
It was three stories high, with basement. He was a hardware merchant,
and according to a letter written by a surviving partner, his skill in
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finance brought continued success to the firm. He left the business
in 1846, when he was elected president of the Eagle Fire Insurance
Co. Among other houses built for investment by Mr. Stout were the
adjoining No. 23 East Ninth Street in 1843, No. 16 East Eighth Street
in 1834, and Nos. 22 and 24 East Tenth Street in 1844.

This brick house, built in 1843 for Aquila G. Stout, mentioned
above, retains its handsome yet simple Greek Revival cornice, small
attic windows, and floor-length parlor windows. It appears to have
been remodeled twice, once in the Nineteen-twenties when wood case-
ment windows and iron flower box holders were installed. The base-
ment entrance was evidently installed at this time when the stoop was
removed. Earlier, the basement stonework had been painted and a narrow
horizontal window added at eye level. Glass jalousies were installed
in the little square windows of the fourth floor without removing the
flower boxes.

EAST TENTH STREET (Between Fifth Avenue § University Place)

Diversity is the outstanding feature of this street. This diver-
sity is to be found primarily in the wide range of architectural
styles of the buildings, which are generally low and residential in
character. At the Fifth Avenue end of the street, both the south and
north sides are terminated by high apartment houses. (The eastern end,
at University Place, is outside the Historic District.)

The street provides a capsule history of residential urban archi-
tecture of most of the Nineteenth Century. On the south side, Greek
Revival town houses with studios predominate, interspersed with an
occassional Italianate or Gothic Revival house. The Gothic is a style
rarely encountered in The Village.

On the north side, two adjoining examples of East Indian archi-
tecture are unique to the City. They give the street an exotic quality
emphasized by a richly carved bay window. At the eastern end of the
District is an ornate six-story apartment house built at the turn of
the century. Despite its monumental row of pilasters extending up
three stories, this apartment house retains kinship with its smaller
residential neighbors, through the size and spacing of its windows,
its use of materials, and its details.

Time has dealt kindly with this street retaining, except for
minor alterations, most of its salient features. Its wide range of
periods and styles harmonize remarkably well with each other, and here
their very diversity lends it a highly individual character, There
are no buildings here, eyven including the high apartment houses on
Fifth Avenue, which do not complement each other and which are not the
best expressions of the widely diverse periods in which they were built.

EAST TENTH STREET South Side (Betw. University P1l. § Fifth Ave.)

This very attractive three-story brick house of 1844, built in
the late Greek Revival style, has suffered only minor modifications
during the years. The outer doorway is one of the finest of the Greek
Revival period, with handsome pilasters surmounted by a full entabla-
ture. The inner doorway, with rope molding surrounding it, represents
a modernization of the Eighteen-fifties. The graciously wide stoop
has beside it the original iron areaway railing, with Greek fret motif
along the base. Windows, including those of the attic story, retain
muntined sash. At both upper stories, the window lintels retain their
diminutive Greek Revival cornices. Shutters have been added, and the
basement has been smooth-stuccoed.

This house and No. 22, adjoining, were built in 1844 as invest-
ments by Aquila G. Stout who lived on East Ninth Street. This charm-
ing house (No. 24) was the residence of Jacob S. Carpenter, a broker,
in the Eighteen-fifties.

Originally, this brick house was one of a pair, with No. 24, when
both were built in 1844 for Aquila G. Stout. The alignment of window-
sills at the second and third floor levels bears mute testimony to this
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EAST TENTH STREET South Side (Betw. University P1. § Fifth Ave.)

affinity. The third story has been raised from attic to full height

and a fourth floor added, with a late Nineteenth Century bracketed

roof cornice. On the right hand, at each floor, the original windows
were removed to make way for the triple windows seen today. These wide
windows, with their elongated paneled lintels, were probably installed
after the turn of the century. The one on the first floor, for which
the lintel alone remains, was removed to make way for the large window
which begins at basement level, installed in the Nineteen-forties. The
original ironwork of the stoop is gone, and the arched masonry stringers,
at each side, are modifications of the originals.

This transitional house, built in 1846, has a doorway which is more
classical in the Italian Renaissance tradition than it is in the Greek
Revival, as may be seen by the reveals of the entablature, reflecting
the width of the pilasters below. The stepped, paneled wingwalls flank-
ing the stairs are, however, survivals from the Greek Revival and pre-
sumably had elaborate iron railings in lieu of the pipe rails we see
today. The casement windows place this building closer to the later
Romantic tradition, as do the lintels which once had heavy cornices re-
turned at the ends. These have been shaved off flush leaving only the
returns of the cornice visible in profile at the ends. The handsome
modillioned roof cornice is the original. The rusticated stone base-
ment sets off the brickwork above to good advantage. The house was
built as the residence of Edwin Bergh.

Here the superb doorway signalizes what once was one of the finest
Gothic Revival town houses in The Village, before it was changed.
Every window originally had a stone label molding for a lintel. These
have been shaved off flush but the stonework is still visible in the
brickwork despite the paint. The doorway with original stoop is excep-
tionally fine. It has clustered ribs for uprights, supporting a four-
centered-arch lintel stone. In the spandrels of this stone are carved
trefoils and other Gothic ornament. It is crowned by a simple cornice.
This low arch is echoed by the arch in the elaborate inner doorway. The
cast iron areaway and stoop railings belong to this period but are of
oblong design with rounded ends and are more Italianate in feeling.
The windows above the front door have been reduced in size and at the
fourth floor completely bricked up, but originally they resembled those
to the right of them. The cornice with its modillions is more Classic
than Gothic but it also belongs to the period. The house was built in
1847 for Abner Weyman, a retired merchant, but soon became the home of
George L. Walker, a commission merchant.

The Pen and Brush Club owns this imposing town house which was built
in 1848 for Abraham Bininger, a grocer, as his own home. It reflects, in
its detail, some of the influence of the incoming Italianate style. This
may be seen in the cast iron railing of the stoop and areaway, rusticated
basement, casement windows, and the use of stucco simulating brownstone.
The front doorway is basically Greek Revival, although the introduction
of a three-centered arch beneath the entablature indicates Italianate
influence, as do the doors with round-arched door panels surrounded by
a handsome rope molding.

These four dignified Greek Revival town houses of brick were built
in the same style and with uniform cornice line. Nos. 8 and 10 were
built in 1842 as investments by William H. Russell, an importer, who
lived at No. 9 East Tenth Street. They were preceded in 1839 by Nos. 12
and 14, erected by Joseph Depew, who, as a builder, may have erected all
four houses. He sold No. 14 to Jacob B. Herrick, a merchant, who made his
home there. No. 10 soon became the home of Benjamin J. Howland, a com-
mission merchant.

Nos. 12 and 14 retain their original pilastered doorways with palmetto
capitals, graciously wide stoops, and original iron handrailings. At No.
10 the upper part of the doorway was saved by converting it to a window,
when the heavily rusticated arched basement entrance was added. The orig-
inal cornice for these four houses is interrupted only at No. 12 where a
parapet, surmounted by stone urns, was added in the Nineteen-twenties.
Studio windows have taken the place of the small square attic windows
at Nos. 10 and 12; the original attic windows remain at Nos. 8 and 14.
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#8-14 Studio floors, with skylights, have been added at Nos. 8 and 14.

cont. The remodeling of No. 8 has been performed with maximum respect
for the old house; the attic windows and cornice have been retained
and a big north-light studio window added above the cornice, sloping
back like a roof, to make it as unobtrusive as possible. The basement
entrance is likewise unobtrusive, and flower boxes at the sills of the
long first floor windows tend further to diminish the visual impor-
tance of what lies below this level.

#6 This brick Greek Revival house, built in 1847-48 for William
Chadwick, retains its attractive muntined double-hung windows with
flush stone lintels at the middle floors. Small windows, originally
at the top, have now been replaced by high steel casements, and the
cornice has been removed so that the front wall could be carried up
to a parapet with metal railing. Set back behind this railing is a
penthouse addition. At the time the stoop was altered, to provide a
direct basement entrance, the old front doorway was retained and is
now reached by a new iron stair rising from one side. The original
doorway, complete with paneled pilasters and entablature above, remains.
The basement is rusticated. It was built for William Chadwick, and
soon became of the home of Ann Van Wagenen.

#4 Among the very few Gothic Revival town houses extant in The
Village, this remodeled brick house still bears evidence of its orig-
inal design of 1848. It probably was once similar to No. 18 on this
same street, but the stoop has been removed and a basement entrance
introduced after the turn of the century. The prominent label mold-
ings above the windows have been flattened and shorn of their original
profiles. The attic windows, once square as at No. 18, have been
raised and cut through the molding and the fascia board. Proof of
this rests in the vestigial remains of the '"ears'" of the former label
moldings at mid-height of the raised windows. This house was built
for Peter Remsen's estate and was the home of John F. Butterworth, a
merchant, in the Eighteen-fifties.

#2 A fifteen-story brick apartment house built in 1923 (described
under No. 33 Fifth Avenue) occupies the corner site.

EAST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. § University P1.)

#1 This fifteen-story New York University residence hall (described
under No. 35 Fifth Avenue) was built in 1925 and occupies the corner
site.

#3 § 5 These two very handsome brick town houses display a fine use of

materials and a simple restraint of expression. They were designed as
a pair in 1890 by George E. Harney in the Romanesque tradition for

Eva Johnston Coe and Martha R. Townsend. They are entered just above
street level, and their doors and windows share a common stone lintel
which extends the entire width of the two houses. Above this stone
band course are two attractive metal bay windows of slightly different
design, both crowned with simple corbel-like cornices. At third floor
windowsill level a horizontal molded stone band course runs through
both houses. Above this, simple windows pierce the wall at third and
fourth floors. The house is unified at the top by a simple cornice
with brick fascia below. The fifth floor additions are fairly un-
obtrusive and of later date. Number 5 was the residence for many years
of Mr. and Mrs. Henry E. Coe (Eva Johnston). Mrs. Coe was a sister of
Mrs. Robert W. deForest. Both were grand-daughters of John Johnston
of No. 7 Washington Square North.

#7 This very interesting town house is probably the only residence
in New York displaying East Indian decorative detail. It was repeated
in the apartment house next door. The East Indian influence may best
be seen in the highly ornate teakwood bay window on elaborately carved
brackets above the first floor windows. The unobtrusive entrance door
has a carved teakwood frame. The house was designed in 1887 by Van
Campen Taylor for Lockwood de Forest who, with his noted brother
Robert, gave an Indian room from a Jain temple to the Metropolitan
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Museum of Art, of which Robert was for many years a trustee and its
president. The rich carving of the bay window is handsomely contrasted
by the plain brick wall surrounding it. Other details of Indian inspi-
ration are to be found in the heads of the window frames and in the
brackets of the roof cornice. This was the town residence of Mr. and
Mrs. Lockwood de Forest for many years.

This small, five-story, brick apartment house was designed by
Renwick, Aspinwall & Russell in 1888 for William Hamilton Russell. He
was the junior member of the firm headed by his great-uncle, James
Renwick, Jr., the famous architect. As the building was erected about
the same time as No. 7, it shares a cornice with it and repeats the
East Indian bracket forms. The doorway, first floor window and panel
between them repeat the East Indian theme. Above them is a unifying
band course in the same style. Two tiers of paired windows set in
shallow reveals are carried up from the second to the fifth floor win-
dows. The fire escape displays attractive ironwork at each horizontal
balcony.

This wide three-story house was built in 1868 with a store and
carpenter shop for Adolphus G. Halsey, carpenter. It displays a fine
dentiled Greek Revival type cornice with brick fascia stopped at both
ends, and all of its muntined windows at the third floor. A later al-
teration resulted in the addition of a new pedimented entrance doorway.

(This number is not in the present numbering system.)

"The Mayfield" is an exceptionally dignified brick apartment house
with stone trim, built in 1907 and designed by Lawlor & Haase. It is
six stories high and unusually wide. The first two floors have rusti-
cated brickwork with stone-framed windows. The main entrance door at
street level has a handsome balustraded balcony carried on two modified
ITonic columns. The brickwork is of Flemish bond, and above a strong
horizontal stone band course at third floor level, the brick walls rise
sheer with linteled windows displaying elaborate keystones. Six hand-
some, fluted Corinthian pilasters enframe the five central windows above
the band course and extend to the cornice at sixth floor level, which
creates an attic story for the top floor. The building is crowned by
a heavy roof cornice with dentils below the modillions which support it.
Paired lion heads on the cyma recta molding of the cornice are located
above the solid wall spaces between the windows. An ornamental wrought
iron balcony is extended across the third floor at the base of the
pilasters. The scale of the ornament relates well with the residential
character of the neighborhood.

EAST ELEVENTH STREET (Between Fifth Avenue § University Place)

This street continues to present today a remarkably homogeneous
aspect, despite and including apartment houses on Fifth Avenue and two
early hotels near them on the north side. (The west end, at University
Place, is outside the Historic District.)

On the south side, two fine town houses in the Italianate style
adjoin the tall Fifth Avenue apartment house and serve as a prelude to
the long row of seven houses built in the Greek Revival style of the
Eighteen-thirties. In the perfect alignment of their windows these
row houses, despite changes in height and the joining of two of them as
an apartment house, contribute to the quality of uniformity so notice-
able on this block.

On the north side, the Beaux Arts style of the tall Fifth Avenue
apartment sets the tone for this street which is continued in the two
hotels to the east of it. Sandwiched in between the apartment house
and the hotels and set well back from the street is a simple little
synagogue, which resembles a small two-story house of the Nineteen-
twenties.

One of the finest rows of Greek Revival houses in The Village is
displayed on the north side. Those which retain their stoops and iron-
work give us an idea of the original appearance of the row.
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If any of these rows were to have the houses in their midst re-
moved and replaced by new structures, irreparable damage would be
wrought by such change. Where buildings have retained so much of their
identity and relate so well to each other, such wanton intrusions would
probably downgrade the quality of the street. This will be the concern
of a responsible governmental agency which, through proper controls,
can prevent such erosion.

EAST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. University P1l. & Fifth Ave.)

John Morss, a mason, bought and then sold most of the properties
on this block front to the original house owners of 1839, and it is
probable that he was the builder of this brick row. These brick town
houses were built primarily for individual investors. Originally,
Nos. 26 and 28 had the typical Greek Revival low third story, apparent
despite minor change, in their neighbors to the west (Nos. 24 and 22).
In the attractive remodeling of the Twentieth Century, this was elim-
inated in favor of a new roof cornice above the second story, and a
full third story was added within a sharply receding roof, into which
studio windows were introduced. The houses were converted for entrance
through the rusticated brownstone basements. Of this pair of houses
erected in 1839, No. 26 was built for James B. Wilson, merchant, as
his own residence. In the early Eighteen-fifties, he was the only one
of the original investors of 1839 in the row (Nos. 16 to 28), who was
still living there.

Also built in 1839, Nos. 22 and 24 are the prototype for this
Greek Revival row, Nos. 16 to 28. They are of brick with brownstone
basements and have the typically low third-floor windows interrupting
the fascia board of the cornice. They were converted to basement
entrances and have an attractive appearance not too far removed from
the original.

No. 20, although raised another story, still has its Greek Revival
cornice, flat window lintels, and rusticated basement with entranceway
of a later period.

Nos. 16 and 18 were combined as No. 16, an apartment house fifty-
five feet wide. It was formed in 1904 by combining two brick houses
at the east end of a row (extending to No. 28) which was built in
1839, and by converting to one basement entrance serving for the re-
modeled building. This basement entrance is in the Federal style of
the Eclectic period with semi-engaged columns supporting a handsome
entablature. On this rests a wrought iron balcony in front of the
window above it. Numerous changes have been made at the top of the

uilding. No. 18 was raised in 1890 from three and a half to four
stories, and from peak to flat roof. No. 16 was four stories high
by 1885. In 1937 a top floor surmounted by parapet was added over
the combined building, bringing it to its present six-story height.
The original Greek Revival appearance is retained in general by the
muntined window sash, regular fenestration, and rusticated brownstone
basement.

The original town house, No. 16, became the residence of James
Gallatin, who bought it in 1849 upon the death of his famous father,
Albert Gallatin, Secretary of the Treasury of the United States.
Earlier, James had succeeded his father as President of the National
(later Gallatin) Bank on Wall Street, and he continued to hold this
position while living at No. 16.

This pair of dignified brick houses with stoops was built for
James Gallatin (resident of No. 16) in 1852 in the Italianate style.
Their handsome pilastered doorways of brownstone have elaborate
cornices carried on vertically placed console brackets. At the stoop
of No. 14 are the original cast iron railings of Italianate design,
oblong with rounded ends. The fourth floor windows of both houses
are low and set beneath the bracketed roof cornice where all but the
end brackets are paired. The central fascia panel on each house is
ornamented to add to the richness of effect.

The fifteen-story structure (described under No. 41 Fifth Avenue),
which occupies this corner site, was built in 1923.
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An eleven-story apartment house (described under No. 43 Fifth
Avenue) built in 1905, occupies this corner site.

The Conservative Synagogue of Fifth Avenue is a small two-story
building set well back from the street, with intervening ground cover,
bushes and a small tree in the front part of the lot. Built before the
turn of the century, it now has window arrangements typical of the
Nineteen-twenties. It has been roughcast in stucco with diamond-shaped
tile patterns set in the parapet, which is crowned by a stone coping
stepped up at the ends above small, square blocks. The attractive
arched entrance door leads into a small, projected vestibule with gable
roof. It had been built as a stable before 1898, and was later used as
a garage with loft.

The Hotel Van Rensselaer (formerly Hotel Alabama) was built in 1902
in the Italian Renaissance manner of the Eclectic period. One enters a
Palladian doorway with columns supporting the arch. The first floors
are rusticated with the arches and lintels of the windows carefully in-
tegrated into the horizontal system of joint lines. Above the third
floor, the front wall is constructed of Roman brick. The transition
from stone to brick is made by a handsome wrought iron balcony which
extends the width of the hotel. The window frames of the third, fourth
and fifth floors are elaborately enframed in stone with rustication and
with boldly projected and scrolled keystones elaborately carved. Above
this point the windows are framed in stone with small keystones and
crowned, in two instances, with triangular pediments. The ninth floor
has a balcony with stone balustrade extending the width of the hotel.
Above this floor the great bracketed cornice, carried on consoles,
effectively crowns the hotel.

More restrained than its neighbor to the west, the smaller original
Hotel Van Rensselaer was built the previous year and set an example of
coherent design. The first two floors are rusticated with paired windows
at both floors. The striking feature here is the richly ornamented
round-arched doorway flanked with free-standing columns carrying lan-
terns. Above the third floor sill level, the front wall is carried up
in Roman brick while the paired windows are set between brick pilasters
which extend up four stories. The lintels of the square-headed windows
have scroll-like keystones and stepped lintel stones with radiating
joint lines. These pilasters with swagged Ionic capitals carry a shal-
low entablature across the width of the hotel. At the top there is a
fine classical attic story with small paired stone pilasters above the
large brick ones, surmounted in turn by a cornice carried on modillions.
At the sixth floor in the center, between the pilasters, a small balcony
carried on paired console brackets enlivens the facade and displays an
attractive wrought iron railing.

Built in 1848, this fine town house of brick is a late example of
the Greek Revival, but is suitably transitional with its Italianate
doors. A graciously wide stoop, flanked by handrailings and areaway
railing with Greek Revival castings, rises to a doorway crowned by a
full entablature. This handsome doorway has pilasters with modified
Corinthian capitals, in which simplified palmetto leaves rise from
small acanthus leaves. For these capitals the builder copied those
on the earlier house adjoining (No. 23), both houses having been built
for the Isaacs family. The handsome doors are double, paneled, and
squareheaded, and are surmounted by a large glass transom in the then
new Italianate style. This wide house is four stories high, with floor-
length double-hung sash at the parlor, and with its windows diminishing
in size interestingly as they ascend. The original cornice and fascia
board are gone, but replaced by an unobtrusive rain gutter.

O0f this row, a superb picture is created at No. 23 by the inter-
esting ironwork which, including the balcony, provides a complete en-
framement at eye level. These four fine Greek Revival town houses were
built in the early Eighteen-forties with stoops, handsome doorways and
the usual low attic windows beneath dentiled cornices. No. 23 illus-
trates how the group must have appeared originally. Here a pilastered
doorway, with capitals similar to those at No. 21, carries a dentiled
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cornice. The inner wood doorway displays a four-paneled door with
side lights, and transom of glass. Enframing the door are two pilas-
ters of linear Greek design with small capitals, and half-pilasters
are beyond the sidelights. The transom bar has dentils, Greek fret
motifs above the sidelights, and wreaths above the pilasters, the
whole surmounted by a low pediment with acroteria and a foliate
design within. This and No. 27 are among those houses having their
original Greek Revival wrought ironwork both at the stoop and enclosing
the areaway. The iron balcony railing at the floor-length windows of
the first floor at No. 23 consists entirely of castings and, although
it might be considered Greek in theme, is possibly of a later date.
This house has its original sash although cornices have been added to
the stone window lintels. Nos. 25 and 29 have had their stoops re-
moved to make way for basement entrances.

These four houses have such similarity that they form a row,
though built between 1842 and 1845 for different owners. Of these,
only Samuel Holmes, a dry goods merchant, made his home here, at No. 27,
which had been built for him in 1845. No. 23 dating from 1844 as well
as its companion house (No. 21) of 1848 were built for the same Isaacs
family which had built the oldest house now extant in The Village.

FIFTH AVENUE (Between Washington Square North & East 12th Street)

By the middle of the Nineteenth Century lower Fifth Avenue, be-
ginning at Washington Square, was the stronghold of many old
Knickerbocker families, pew holders at fashionable Grace Church, the
Church of the Ascension, and the First Presbyterian Church. These
families were also box holders at the Academy of Music on Fourteenth
Street and fought the advent of the new Metropolitan Opera House on
upper Broadway in the Eighteen-eighties. Even more important for the
neighborhood, was the fact that many of these families were active in
the founding and development of New York University, whose original
building in the Gothic Revival style stood on the east side of the
Square.

It was an Avenue of dignified appearance with its brick and brown-
stone residences, some of the earliest of which were built in the
Eighteen-thirties in the Greek Revival style. The majority of houses
were built in the Italianate style. Among bold innovations was the
first mansard-roofed mansion in the City, at the southwest corner of
Tenth Street.

Many notable families had their residences here, below Fourteenth
Street, and enjoyed the spacious elegance of nearby Washington Square.
Madison Square and Gramercy Park were considered '‘uptown,'" although
themselves in the process of development by the Eighteen-fifties.

An air of solid respectability, bolstered by rapidly rising prop-
erty values, gave the Avenue a prestige which it was destined always
to retain as the elegant residences moved ever northward until they
reached the upper confines of the Avenue.

This small portion of lower Fifth Avenue has maintained its dis-
tinguished residential character, while areas further north have become
commercial and some have declined. This attractive character is due to
its proximity to Washington Square and tO its exceptionally fine resi-
dential side streets which represent, architecturally, an outstanding
section of Greenwich Village.

Most of the high brick apartment houses which line the Avenue
today were built before the great financial crash of 1929. Thereafter,
there was little or no major building activity until the Nineteen-
fifties.

In Area 1, the north boundary of the Historic District runs through
the middle of the block between East Eleventh and East Twelfth Streets.
(The northern portion of the block is outside the District.)

FIFTH AVENUE East Side (Betw. Washington Sq. No. § East 12th St.)

The four-story corner building is a modern apartment house, re-
taining as its exterior the splendid facades of Greek Revival mansions
on the Square, including the Fifth Avenue corner. Though entered on
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the Avenue, it suitably bears the address Nos. 7-13 Washington Square
North. (The houses are described under that address.) This skillful
alteration was made by Sailors' Snug Harbor, owner of these properties.
It represents an outstanding example of preservation in New York City.
The facades of the old town houses were retained and the new apartment
house built behind them. The only external change in this part of the
row was at the fourth floor, which was raised slightly. Here the old
cornice, with low windows in the fascia board, was replaced by a row
of square windows more suitable to a present-day apartment.

North of these houses, on Fifth Avenue, is the attractive colon-
naded entrance of this long, narrow apartment house, beyond which is
the attractive garden court which lies behind it.

Although entered from the Avenue, the two-story brick house north
of the colonnade is No. 1 Washington Mews (described there). Beyond
the house is the Mews itself, a narrow street lined with studios or
residences, many of which had been stables until converted.

Between Washington Mews and East Eighth Street the great hotel,
One Fifth Avenue, towers up above the surrounding neighborhood with
picturesque set-back profile projecting against the sky and featuring a
single central tower. This hotel was built in 1926, designed by asso-
ciated architects, Helmle & Corbett and Sugarman & Berger. It is brick
above a stone base which rises to four stories in height. Vertical
accents are made by band courses carried up between the windows, and
the ornament, although contemporary, is largely reminiscent of past
styles. This building has recently been acquired by New York University
to provide rental income and additional housing for students and faculty.

It is located on the site of four fine town houses (Nos. 1-7).
No. 1 was once the residence of William Butler Duncan. It was four
bays wide with English basement and wide balcony above. The win-
dows of the upper floors had shutters which gave it an air of
respectability.

No. 3 was lived in by Samuel Jaudon in the Eighteen-fifties
and, although it may once have looked like the Duncan house, it
was remodeled in the Eighteen-nineties by Henry J. Hardenbergh to
"modernize'" it. At this time a semi-circular bay window was added
to the right side above the front door extending up through the
second and third floors, and a large, mullioned window was in-
stalled to the left of it. This house was crowned with a mansard
roof and, as remodeled, was extremely elegant.

Nos. 5 and 7 were identical Greek Revival town houses, with
low pediments, serving as lintels above the windows. The handsome
attic story, similar to the ones found on Washington Square North,
had low horizontal windows set in the fascia board beneath the
cornice. In the Eighteen-fifties, No. 5 was lived in by William
Van Hook and No. 7 by Mrs. Mary Vandervoort who took 'respectable"
boarders. It should be noted here that before the advent of the
apartment house respectable boarding houses were quite fashionable.
At a later date these two handsome town houses were combined as an
apartment house and named '"The Russell".

Continuing up the east side of Fifth Avenue, we come to the super-
block apartment, ''The Brevoort,' No. 11 Fifth Avenue. This apartment
house and its eastern portion, the ''Brevoort East,'" occupy an entire
city block between Fifth Avenue and University Place and between Eighth
and Ninth Streets. On the Fifth Avenue end, two balconied wings advance
to form a courtyard drive-in for automobiles. It rises to a height of
fourteen stories on the Avenue and then sets back to provide a series of
penthouse suites piled up above. This all-brick structure with its
various external bays formed by wings and broad plate glass windows and
balconies, replaces the old Brevoort Hotel and the four town houses
(Nos. 15 through 21) which once stood north of the old hotel.

The old "Brevoort'" (Nos. 9-13) was itself put together by the
process of combining and enlarging town houses over the years. The
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original portion, occupying three lots, was created in 1854 by uti-

lizing the houses of N. M. Beckwith, No. 9; D. M. Barnes, No. 11,
and J. R. Livingston, No. 13. The total result was a rather plain

building with many windows and a low pediment at the center. Then,
as so often happened at this early period, another house, No. 15,
that of Solas Wood was acquired and it was raised to the same
height as the hotel so that all four could be combined under a

new heavy cornice with paired brackets. The central pediment,

no longer central, was replaced by a handsome new broken pediment,
on center, and the roof was crowned with new cornice and balustrade.
This famous hotel was razed in 1953 to make way for the new apart-
ment house.

North of the old Brevoort were three more town houses, also
razed. No. 17, the residence of Dr. M. Mabbott, was one of a pair
of twins of which No. 15 had been combined into the new hotel.
Originally these houses shared a common porch of cast iron and
presented an attractive front to the Avenue. No. 19, the residence
of Dr. E. L. Partridge, was a dignified house with stone door and
window frames, and a simple modillioned cornice.

North of this house stood one of the most architecturally
notable houses in all New York. The so-called Mark Twain House,
No. 21, where the author is reputed to have spent the winter of
1904, belonged to that early phase of the Romanesque Revival with
round-arched windows. It was of brick with round arches of stone
above the windows resting on corbels and displayed some very hand-
some uniform ironwork at the front yard, on the stoop, and as a
parlor floor balcony. Its corbelled cornice with central gabled
effect on the side street was particularly notable as was the
deeply recessed arched front door with colonettes at the sides.
This property originally belonged to Henry Brevoort, Sr., who willed
it to his daughter, Margaret Ann (Mrs. James Renwick) in 1836. It
remained in the possession of her family to the end of the century.
In 1851 the house was built and presumably designed by her son,
James Renwick, Jr., the noted architect, for the Renwick estate.

Between Ninth and Tenth Streets is a block with three apartment
houses, two large ones at the corners with a small one in between.
Many of the large apartment houses on the Avenue in their design,
ornament and use of materials blend remarkably well with the existing
houses in the neighborhood.

No. 25 Fifth Avenue (also No. 1 East Ninth Street) is a large
brick apartment house, thirteen stories high, built in 1921, and
designed by Rouse § Goldstone, architects. It has a stone (ashlar)
first floor and doorway with broken pediment. The brick walls are of
Flemish bond, and the third floor windows have stone frames with Neo-
Federal lintels. At the top, swags separate panels of interlocking
circles. This building is now a residence for students at New York
University.

On this site three dignified Greek Revival town houses once
stood, with an open lot at the corner of Ninth Street. In the
Eighteen-fifties,C. D. Marsh lived at No. 23; G. W. Morris at
No. 25; and the Rev. George Potts at No. 27. Later, the painter
William Glackens lived at No. 23 for a few years. No. 23 is
remembered as the home of Mabel Dodge, where literary and politi-
cal figures gathered in the period before World War 1, prior to
her moving to the Southwest.

Between the two large apartment houses on this block is a small
apartment house, seven stories high. It is Neo-Federal with its arched
windows at the top but has a Georgian doorway with broken pediment.

The wall is brick, of Flemish bond, and incorporates attractive quoins
of the same material. It was built in 1925 and was designed by
Sugarman § Berger, architects. On this site once stood the very
dignified Greek Revival town house occupied by Abby Irving in 1851.

At the southeast corner of Fifth Avenue and Tenth Street stands
the fifteen-story brick apartment house, No. 33 Fifth Avenue (also
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No. 2 East Tenth Street). Like so many of these apartment houses it is
Neo-Federal, constructed in running bond with headers at every sixth
course. It has a limestone (ashlar) base at the first floor with pilas-
ters above, extending up for two stories crowned by a cornice. Below
the top floor, terra cotta pilasters extend up two stories with balus-
trades at the bottom windows. The front doorway has a boldly projected
broken pediment. It was built in 1923 and designed by Sussman & Hess,
architects. On this site two Greek Revival town houses once stood. In
the Eighteen-fifties they were occupied by James Marsh, at No. 31, and
T. T. Woodruff at No. 33.

At the northeast corner of Tenth Street and Fifth Avenue stands the
Hotel Grosvenor, now the Samuel Rubin Residence Hall of New York
University, No. 35 Fifth Avenue (also No. 1 East Tenth Street). It is
fifteen stories high, a rather conventional Neo-Federal building of red
brick, done in Flemish bond. It has the usual stone (ashlar) first floor
with round-arched windows at the third floor and pilasters at the upper
floors. It was designed by Schwartz & Gross in 1925. Its annex, adjoin-
ing on the east (No. 1 East 10th Street), is of the same height.

On this Fifth Avenue site once stood the early "Grosvenor
Apartments'" erected in 1872 by Detlef Lienau, one of the founders
of the American Institute of Architects. The building was of
brownstone, with rusticated first floor entered at grade from Tenth
Street, and was six stories high, including a French Second Empire
mansard roof with arched pediment dormers and iron crestings above.
The Fifth Avenue areaway had a handsome stone balustrade and above
it a balustraded balcony at second floor level. All the Fifth
Avenue windows were paired under segmental arches with a wood
mullion between them. Handsome metal railed balconies, carried on
console brackets, appeared at the centers of both facades at fourth
floor level.

James H. Richardson, in an article entitled '"The New Homes of
New York,'" which appeared in Scribner's Monthly of May 1874, de-
scribed "The Grosvenor'" as ''a type unique. Starting with a singu-
larly clear conception of the wants of a particular class of New
York families, -- a class possessing wealth, culture, refinement,
and love of ease, and desiring the security and comfort of home
life with none of its cares . . . [it is] an establishment which
may well be considered a model, since it secures the economy of
multiple tenancy and co-operative living, with the atmosphere of
home, and combines all the advantages of English exclusiveness and
solid elegance, with the utmost independence in all that pertains
to individual life. It is, in fact, a nest of elegant homes, each
distinct and thoroughly secluded, yet all provided for with the
elaborate machinery and systematic service of a first-rate hotel."

Before '"The Grosvenor'" was built, a handsome free-standing
mansion had stood on this corner, the residence of Francis Cottenet,
a well-to-do French importer. This house was diagonally across the
street from Hart M. Shiff's elegant French house designed by Lienau
in 1850, which makes it quite understandable that Cottenet commis-
sioned Lienau to build his country seat at Dobbs Ferry in 1852.
(See E. W. Kramer '"Domestic Architecture of Detlef Lienau,'" Ph.D.
diss., N.Y.U. 1958).

No. 39 Fifth Avenue, the apartment house to the north of '"The
Grosvenor,' was designed by Emery Roth in 1922. It is fourteen stories
high of purplish red brick in Flemish bond. The detail is of colored
terra cotta in the Spanish Renaissance style, which may be seen in the
third floor balcony and hooded arches above the windows, and at the
arches and balconies at the next to top two floors.

On this site once stood a very grand Anglo-Italianate town
house, fifty four feet wide, with stone balcony above a rusticated
English basement, entered at street level. It was occupied, at a
later date, by William Starr Miller who built the fine Louis XIII
town house at the southeast corner of Fifth Avenue and 86th Street
in 1914.
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#41 No. 41 Fifth Avenue was built in 1923 and remodeled in 1938 by
Rosario Candela. Fifteen stories high, it extends back about one
hundred and forty feet on East Eleventh Street (Nos. 2-8), where the
principal entrance is located. It has a fifty-four foot frontage
on Fifth Avenue and is built of a variegated red brick in Flemish
bond with attractive dark reddish brown terra cotta detail at the
fourth floor windows and at the thirteenth and fourteenth floors. It
also has a corbeled terra cotta cornice. The detail is generally de-
rived from the Early Italian Renaissance. The first floor is of
smoeth stone (ashlar).

On this corner site once stood a very imposing brownstone
mansion three stories high with front door located to the right
of center. On the right hand side of the door, paired windows
extended the entire height of the building while the other win-
dows on this front were conventional single windows. This house
was once occupied by Miss M. L. Kennedy.

#43 On the northeast corner of Fifth Avenue and Eleventh Street stands
an elegant eleven-story apartment house (also Nos. 1-9 East Eleventh
Street) built in the Beaux Arts tradition in 1905. The architect,

Henry Andersen, strove to create a bold and striking design. The rus-
ticated stone base extends up two stories and features a regal entrance-
way flanked by freestanding modified Ionic columns which support en-
tablature blocks and a thin cornice slab, above which is a wrought iron
balcony. Above this visual base rise brick walls, through the ninth
floor, which is encircled by a very Parisian iron balcony. The great
mansard roof towers up two more stories above this. To lend further
interest, the architect has established vertical accents by framing all
the windows with stone, placing panels between them so that these frames
take in two windows at a time. In addition, three great window bays,
convex within their stoné frames, rise from the third through the eighth
floors. One is placed on center at the Fifth Avenue front, while the
other two are on Eleventh Street near the corners of the building.

On this L-shaped property once stood a high vernacular build-
ing with stores and, at the rear, a house set back from Eleventh
Street. When the present apartment house was- built both these
properties were acquired, creating the L-shaped building which
exists today.

#45 The northernmost boundary of this Historic District, on the east
side of Fifth Avenue, is formed by the sixteen-story brick apartment
house which was designed by Sugarman & Berger in 1925. The first two
floors, true to type, are of smooth stone (ashlar) masonry with an at-
tractive brown brick above. The next to top two floors are ornamented
with terra cotta pilasters having balcony below and entablature above.

On this site stood a handsome, symmetrical three-story resi-
dence, occupied by David S. Kennedy, a banker, in the mid-Eighteen-
fifties. It was a wide brick house with four pilasters and three
windows across. The handsome pedimented front door was reached
by a stoop, above a basement, and was flanked by shallow bay
windows, between pilasters with concave sheetmetal roofs. All the
windows of the upper floors were double, with central mullions,
and the general effect was one of spaciousness and well-lighted
interiors.

Adjoining No. 45 and beyond the District to the north, is the very
handsome Salmagundi Club. It was the former Irad Hawley residence and
gives us an excellent idea of the scale and quality of the Fifth Avenue
town houses of the mid-Nineteenth Century which once lined it on both sides.

UNIVERSITY PLACE (Between Washington Square North § East 9th Street)

This street is within the Greenwich Village Historic District be-
tween Washington Square North and East Ninth Street. For these blocks
its western side runs along the boundary. Its buildings are described
under the side streets, which also include Washington Mews and East
Eighth Street. In the early Nineteenth Century, University Place was
a part of Wooster Street.
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WASHINGTON MEWS (Between Fifth Avenue & University Place)

The rows of low-lying two-story houses at Washington Mews give the
impression of a charming urban village, maintained with pride and care
and enjoying an unusual amount of light and air, and isolation from city
traffic. There is a cobbled street and a gate at the west end. The name
"Mews' indicates that most of the cottages were stables, and this origin
is readily discernable on the north side. However, the south side, near
Fifth Avenue, was built in the Twentieth Century as a row of ten dwell-
ings of uniformly low height, thus conforming to the spirit of the block.
These replaced the unusually deep rear gardens and extensions of the
Washington Square houses.

Such latter-day planning as is to be seen in the Mews, where dis-
used stables have been given a living use as houses, is of great in-
terest as an example of what can be done with otherwise derelict build-
ings. Instead of the attractive street of today with its low-lying
houses, the stables might by this time have been converted to garages
with their attendant grease, oil and carbon-monoxide fumes. Sometimes,
as here, economic forces produce a happy solution. As remodeled, variety
is skillfully introduced into both sides of this street and, although
the houses are all of relatively the same height, the diverse treatment
of their fronts, even with only minor variants, lends to the Mews a
charm rarely to be found in a Twentieth Century city.

Washington Mews is a private street, leased by Sailors' Snug Harbor
to New York University in 1949. At the time of the development of the
houses on Washington Square North, 1829-1833, this access to their ser-
vice quarters and stables was envisioned as an unusually broad mews. In
order to provide unusually deep gardens, the earliest of these private
stables were located on the opposite or north side of the Mews on the
rear of the then empty Eighth Street properties. The old Clinton Place
numbering system for Eighth Street is still retained for the Mews.
Before 1854, judging from the insurance map of that date, six stables
had already been built on the south side of the Mews, near University
Place, thus releasing some stables on the north side for use by Eighth
Street residents.

WASHINGTON MEWS South Side (Betw. University P1l. § Fifth Ave.)

Of particular note is No. 16 which faces the Mews and also has a
long side facing University Place. Remodeled into a charming house, it
was originally a large brick stable built in 1880. Today white blinds
and lintels set off both facades of No. 16 to great advantage. The
second floor segmental-arched window is particularly notable in that
it replaces the hay loft doors. On the Mews side the facade is also
interesting in that, at ground level, the carriage doorway has been
narrowed to a double glass door standing alone, while three windows are
to be found above it. Replacing an earlier stable, this building was
erected in 1880 by Gambrill & Ficken for Christopher R. Robert, who
briefly held the lease for the adjoining No. 1 Washington Square North.

This converted stable has retained more nearly its original appear-
ance than any other on the south side of the Mews. Two handsome three-
centered arched doorways, which once had double carriage doors, are now
filled in, one as an immense arched window, the other with door and win-
dow. Above these, the original windows are scarcely changed. A corbeled
brick cornice with brick dentils supports the rain gutter. This building
displays all of its original brickwork and was probably built some time
in the early Eighteen-fifties, certainly before 1854.

Built as bachelor studio apartments for John H. Sherwood in 1884,
this five-story building of brick is compatible with its neighbors in
its use of materials. The large north-light studio windows are located
on center and have segmental arches crowned with dentiled-brick drip
moldings. The sills of these windows are higher than those of the small
windows flanking them. The doorway of this house is simple in the ex-
treme with a small stoop giving access to it. Mr. Sherwood built this
early apartment house at the rear of No. 3 Washington Square North, of
which he held the lease and which he was remodeling at the same time.

This converted stable has been attractively and extensively re-
modeled with a very high window to the right. Balancing it is the
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WASHINGTON MEWS South Side (Betw. University P1l. § Fifth Ave.)

doorway at sidewalk level with lantern and small window above it.

A transom with curvilinear muntins surmounts the simple paneled en-
trance door. This building is a little higher than its neighbor to
the west and has two windows at second floor. The front is smooth-
stuccoed, and all the windows and the door have exterior blinds. It
was built as a brick slate-roofed stable prior to 1854, as were No. 12
and No. 11 adjoining on the west.

Seemingly remodeled to provide a high parapet and chimney, this
small house presents to the street only an entrance door and one large
studio window with exposed iron lintel and iron grille. It is differ-
ent from all the other houses on the street and in composition, unique.
In the mid-Nineteen-thirties the sculptor, Heinze Warneke, had his
studio at the then No. 5 Washington Mews.

At first glance this appears to be a very old house. Closer in-
spection, however, reveals the two bricked-up stable doorways. The
three second floor windows, with their original muntined sash, suggest
a date in the Eighteen-thirties or forties. The swagged lintel above
the handsomely paneled front door was added later. The little steps
leading up to the door are both attractive and inviting.

This row of eight two-story houses with stuccoed fronts and uni-
formly aligned parapet was built in 1939 by Scott & Prescott, architects,
for the owner, Sailors' Snug Harbor. They are part of a row of ten
small houses built on the former gardens of seven houses on Washington
Square North. They back upon those Washington Square '"fronts' which
were converted at the same time into an apartment house retaining the
original facades on the Square. These new houses on the Mews were
built as ''garden apartments' for one or two family occupancy, with
studios facing south on a long garden. They are extremely simple in
appearance and harmonize well in materials and scale with their older
neighbors, the converted stables.

These two small brick houses were built strictly in harmony with
each other, and are, nevertheless, an integral part of the long row
(Nos. 1-10) erected in 1939. This pair is of natural dark brick, and
has a uniform copper cornice and band course. Scott & Prescott were the
architects. No. 2 is designed for two-family occupancy.

No. 1, the two-story brick house on the corner, has a Mews address
but is entered from Fifth Avenue. With its bull's-eye windows at the
corner, and entrance door with columns and entablature, it might be con-
sidered an essay of the Eclectic period. Without displaying notable
architectural detail, it is to be praised for its restraint and good
use of materials.

WASHINGTON MEWS North Side (Betw. Fifth Ave. & University P1l.)

The corner is occupied by the hotel, "One Fifth Avenue."

One of the more attractive houses in the Mews, its present archi-
tectural style dates from 1941 and is difficult to assign, except to
say that it is Neo-Georgian of the Eclectic period. It produces a
fresh note on entering the Mews, with its quoins and blind arches at
the second floor. Erected in 1833 as a two-story brick, slate-roofed
stable for Thomas Suffern's house, No. 11 Washington Square, it was
turned into a garage in 1909 by interior changes made for his grandson,
Thomas Suffern Tailer. It was extensively remodeled in 1941 when
converted into a dwelling.

This row of five houses was remodeled in a uniform style of archi-
tecture which attempts to create a Mediterranean feeling within the
City. The houses are a good straightforward example of converted
stables stuccoed with inset tiles and with parapet of uniform height
throughout. The remodeling was done in 1916 for the owner, Sailors'
Snug Harbor, by the architectural firm of Maynicke § Franke who also
did the Eighth Street side of the block that year. These stables had
been built in 1833 (except No. 54, in 1834) of brick with slate roofs,
for the original residents of Washington Square North whose yards ex-
tended to the opposite side of the Mews.
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#52 More than any other building on the north side of the Mews, with
the exception of No. 42, this converted stable gives the clearest im-
pression of its original appearance when built, some time before 1854.
Its brick facade has not been stuccoed, and its fine dentiled cornice
of brick is much as originally built. A large triple window replaces
the stable door, and the entrance at the right was formerly for the
coachman. This stable may have been built for James Tallmadge of No. 5
Washington Square North. In 1918 it was altered from stable and garage
into a residence by Charles W. Buckham, architect, for the lessee,
Richard Washborne Child.

#44-50 The architects, Maynicke & Franke, likewise did the remodeling of
these four stables in 1916. All have been stuccoed and crowned by a
continuous brick soldier course along their tops. The large square
carriageways remain but are converted for residential entrance, while
the adjoining coachman's doorway has been changed to a window except at
No. 50. One of the most attractive on the block is No. 48, where the
architects added a peaked hood over the carriage entrance and two small
hoods over the adjoining windows. Expressive features of this house
are to be found in two tiles reminiscent of Della Robbia, flanking the
central double window at the second story, and in the exposure of brick
lintels at this floor. No. 46 is treated similarly to No. 48, with the
exception that it has a modern glass door and a continuous hood covering
the door and its flanking windows. Flower boxes and ornamental grilles
further adorn these windows. No. 50, which retains its coachman's door
at the left, likewise has colored tiles set in the second floor wall.
No. 44 is austerely simple but has small planter beds flanking the door-
way at sidewalk level.

All these houses were built before 1854 as brick, slate-roofed
stables. No. 50 underwent interim changes. as it was extensively re-
built in 1888 and was converted into a garage for Manley Sturges in
1910.

#42 This converted stable, built before 1854, differs markedly from the
rest of the block in having a round-arched carriage doorway flanked by
round-arched windows. It was likewise remodeled in 1916 by Maynicke §&
Franke. But in this case the stuccoed front is relieved by an attractive
brick base course and brick sills and arches above the round arches of
the windows. The arched carriage door is edged with brick and retains
double doors. The second floor windows are square-headed and simply
framed by recessed stuccoed bands. Brickwork is again manifest as a
band course below the rain gutter cornice. A handsome Federal doorway,
deeply recessed with arched fanlight, was added in the blank sidewall on
University Place during the Eclectic period. Shortly after the remodel-
ing, Paul Manship, the sculptor, moved into No. 42.

The very handsome brick triple gateway, immediately adjoining No.
42, provides pedestrian and vehicular access to the east end of the
Mews from University Place. The main gate consists of two tall brick
piers surmounted by stone balls between which the iron gates are swung.
Between these piers and the fronts of the brick walls of the houses
are round-arched pedestrian gateways with stone keystones extending up
to the flat, stone copings.

WASHINGTON SQUARE NORTH (East of Fifth Avenue)

This is the most important and imposing block front of early
Nineteenth Century town houses in the City. Indeed it may well be con-
sidered the prototype, in this country, of the monumental Greek Revival
row house. An outstanding example of community planning, enhanced by
facing the Square, it is remarkable in its uniformity of style, splendid
sense of scale, contrasting use and richness of material, and exquisite
taste in detail. Its continuing aura of fashionable privacy is imparted
especially by its unique and continuous Greek Revival iron railing along
the sidewalk.

While it is a pity that one house breaks the continuity of the block,
its facade offers an interesting example of the Queen Anne style of a
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WASHINGTON SQUARE NORTH (East of Fifth Avenue)

half century later, and it uses materials compatible with the row.

Equally remarkable is the continued existence of this block as a
result of voluntary controls induced by public outcry. It was adapted
to Twentieth Century uses with minimal alteration to the facades and
in harmony with the original style. Thus the era of the town house of
distinction in a setting of grandeur has been successfully perpetuated
for posterity.

Considered today an outstanding example of town planning, this
block of Washington Square North was developed in 1833 under the
control of the trustees of Sailors' Snug Harbor, lessor of the entire
property. Captain Robert Randall had bequeathed his farm to this
organization to be used as a home for retired sailors.

In the broadest sense, this block is a unique example of urban
development. The old Potter's Field became the Washington Military
Parade Ground with a park and was bordered on its southern side by a
row of houses which had already brought fashion and elegance to the
Square as early as 1828 and on its north side by the handsome residen-
tial row of town houses, built for some of New York's most noted citi-
zens.

The original leases are interesting today as examples of early
voluntary efforts to deal with problems which were later incorporated
into municipal fire and zoning laws, and as indivect forerunners of
the leases for many of the City's Twentieth Century cooperative apart-
ment houses. It will be noted that the original resident was both
owner of the house he built and lessee of the land on which it stood.
Specific features for Washington Square North, obtained by summarizing
the leases for corner lots 1 and 13 and interior lots 3 and 8 are:

April 30, 1831, Trustees of Sailors' Snug Harbor in the
City of New York to...

Lease of Lot (No...) of land for a term of 21 years for
$135 ($150, $130, $150) per year, also all taxes, etc. Can only
lease or transfer with consent of the first party. Nor can there
be erected or established or carried on any stable (that is, as
a business), slaughter house, tallow chandlery, smith shop, forge,
furnace or brass foundry, nail or other iron factory, or any manu-
factory for the making of glass, starch, glue, varnish, vitriol,
turpentine or ink, or for tanning etc., distillery, brewery,
sugar bakery, or any other manufactory, trade or business which
may be noxious or offensive to the neighbors.

Lessee agrees within two years to erect and build '"a good
and substantial dwelling house, of the width of said lot, three
or more stories high, in brick or stone, covered with slate or
metal," and the front to be 12 feet back of and parallel with
Sixth Street (Washington Square North), and '"to be finished in
such style as may be approved of by the" first party.

It is agreed that if such house is erected, the first party
shall grant a renewal of this lease for a further term of 21
years at not less than the rent above received, on the basis of
the lot's full worth at a private sale '"as an unencumbered Lot"
and 5% of said valuation as the new annual rent. As to a second
and a third renewal of lease, the first party retains the choice
whether to grant a lease for another 21 years, but the rent cannot
be less than the preceding term. If the first party refuses to
grant a renewal, the dwelling house shall be valued and paid for
to the second party. The party of the second part ''shall not be
compelled to surrender the premises until such payment be made or
tendered."

Lessee has the right and privilege to erect or maintain a
stable upon the rear of the said lot for his private use.

Evidence that all the houses of this block front were built at
one time as a row is implicit in their having been taxed for the first
time in 1832 or 1833, in the approval of the style of workmanship re-
quired by the leases, and in a photograph published in 1909 showing
a uniform cornice line and low attic windows within the frieze across
the entire block front, excepting only No. 3, which was remodeled in
1884. The leaders in the movement to develop this block were James
Boorman, John Johnston and John Morrison, all of whom built their
residences here.
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Histories of these houses show how long they were held by the orig-
inal families which built them. The family at No. 11 extended the prop-
erty through to Eighth Street by acquiring No. 4 East Eighth Street,
where, in the middle of the century, a married daughter made her home for
a while beyond her father's stable, which was located at the rear of
her lot. Both No. 11 and No. 7 remained the homes of the original
families until about 1935-36 when, in each case, a descendant surrendered
the leasehold to Sailors' Snug Harbor.

This remarkable row of town houses, however, was almost lost to pos-
terity. First came the unobtrusive change of Nos. 2 and 3 into apart-
ments and studios. A lease of 1894 shows that the Trustees of Sailors'
Snug Harbor were envisioning a new building for business on this site
if a majority of the leaseholders were to agree. As this did not mate-
rialize, the Trustees turned No. 1 into a rooming house in 1938. A
general public outcry, encouraged by Talbot Hamlin, noted architectural
historian of the Greek Revival, was largely instrumental in saving the
west half of the row from demolition. It was this public interest which
induced the Sailors' Snug Harbor Trustees to save the '"fronts'" by incor-
porating them in a low apartment house in 1939 (Nos. 7-13 Washington
Square North), entered from Fifth Avenue. For the east half of the block,
the Trustees drew up a lease with New York University in 1949 extending to
the year 2002.

The original grandeur of this row is enhanced by being situated
facing the park on lots that extended through to Washington Mews. In
addition, some of the stables were on the opposite or north side of the
Mews. It is to be noted that the entire block front was designed as a
unit in the fashionable new Greek Revival style, but conservatively built
of brick in the time-tested Flemish bond.

Elegant features, which formerly graced the entire row, were balus-
trades crowning the houses at the roofline, low attic windows neatly cut
into the frieze above the taenia molding, and screens with Greek fret
motifs covering these windows. Walks leading up to the beautiful white
marble front steps were laid in elegant marble squares, alternating in a
black and white diamond pattern. The black and white marble pathway also
led across the unusually deep, grassy front plot to the basement door.

The continuous Greek Revival railing running along the sidewalk of
this block is a unique and especially fine feature, almost untouched by
the changes of time. Still to be seen here are its double entrance gates
to the walks leading to the front stoops.

This row of houses is discussed in two groups, primarily on the
basis of its present appearance: Nos. 1 to 6, the narrower houses to
the east built in 1833, and Nos. 7 to 13, the houses to the west, built
in 1832-33, with a cornice which was made higher at a later date. The
original eight lots on the site of Nos. 7 to 13 were merged to form
seven wider lots before the houses were built.

These six elegant brick Greek Revival houses have as their most
outstanding feature (except for No. 3), the very handsome entablature at
the roof containing, wholly within its frieze, the low attic windows.
The cornice with windows cut in the frieze is adorned by a delicate
molding and has guttae, repeated in the taenia molding, between archi-
trave and frieze. At No. 6, however, an egg and dart molding graces
the cornice, while beneath it and at the taenia, a handsome leaf and
dart molding may be seen. The entrance porticoes and inner doorways
are refined in their use of orders. The two exterior columns, support-
ing the entablature, are fluted Doric while the inner columns, support-
ing the wood transom bar, are Ionic at Nos. 4 and 5. Some of the doors
consist of a single full-length panel, a type which was characteristic of
the simplification of the Greek Revival period and is best seen at No. 4.

The extreme elegance of the window frames for the basement windows,
complete with keystone and rustication blocks at the jambs, gives some
idea of the importance the owners attached to these details at that time.
Most of the window lintels are pedimented with level shoulders over the
bearing points and include the diminutive stone cornice that is such an
attractive expression of the Greek Revival form.

It should likewise be noted that most of these houses retain their
original iron railings, featuring anthemion finials along the areaways
and gates. The paneled, stone newel posts are certainly Greek Revival
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in form, and the broad stone balustrades flanking the gracious stoops
are to be found at some of the grander mansions of this period.

At No. 1, on the side facing University Place, the main entrance
is a handsome side porch with Doric columns, enhanced by balustered
steps and paneled stone newels. It is enclosed by Queen Anne style
windows, part of an alteration of 1880 by Gambrill & Ficken for
Christopher R. Robert. At No. 6 the inner doorway, window lintels and
ironwork at the gate conform to the decorative design of Nos. 7 to 13
(described below), a logical variation since Nos. 6 and 7 were built
for the same owner.

No. 3, it should be noted, was completely remodeled in the fashion-
able Queen Anne style in 1884, by J. E. Terhune, architect, as a studio
building for John H. Sherwood, interrupting the continuity of this row
and introducing a fire escape. Although it breaks the cornice line,
this new front is restrained in design and uses compatible materials.
This facade of brick, stone, and terra cotta decoration also has a door-
way belonging to the Queen Anne period.

This is probably the most memorable row of Greek Revival houses in
New York City, due to its conspicuous site, to the fact that it was
uniformly designed and, when later remodeled into an apartment house,
was allowed to retain most of its original appearance. Handsome por-
ticoes, consisting of fluted Ionic columns carrying a full entablature,
grace the entrances of these grand town houses. The doors are framed
with sidelights and simple transoms and have paneled pilasters support-
ing the transom bar. Most of the houses retain entrance doors with a
pair of vertical panels enframed by egg and dart moldings. They are
among the finest of the period, one of the best being at No. 11. The
stoops have stone balusters and paneled newels, except for No. 12 which
has paneled, stepped wing walls without balusters.

The effect of this row of fine entranceways is enhanced by the
lack of any conversion to basement entrance. This row has rusticated
basements, with varying treatment of basement windows. The windows of
the main stories have rectangular lintels with little stone cornices.
Along the sidewalk, most of the original ironwork is in place, with the
handsome lyre-motif panel flanking the entrance gates.

In 1872, the house at the Fifth Avenue corner, No. 13, was com-
bined with No. 12 to form a double mansion for William Butler Duncan.
Photographs show this house when it was still surmounted by the hand-
some balustrade, since removed. A new dining room was added to No. 8
in the late Eighteen-eighties. 1In 1894, No. 7 was extended over its
garden at the rear to house a large library, and in 1903 was extended
on to part of the back yard of No. 8 to make room for a museum.

This row of buildings now has a uniform cornice several feet higher
than that of its neighbors to the east, with a smooth stucco fascia
high enough to contain the enlarged attic windows, now corsidered de-
sirable for an apartment at the top floor. One would never guess that
this row, Nos. 7 to 13, is now a facade in which the doors are rarely
used; and that a major alteration in 1939 by Scott § Prescott, archi-
tects, has converted it into a front for a modern apartment house,
which is entered from Fifth Avenue.

It is appropriate to identify the owners of the dwellings on
Washington Square North, since for over a century they set a high archi-
tectural standard for a wide area of the City. The following symbols
are used to designate the chief sources describing thelr achievement,
financial status and social prominence:

* k%
Dictionary of American Biography

*
Wealth and Biography of the Wealthy Citizens of New York
City, ... estimated to be worth $100,000, and upwards,

being useful to Banks, Merchants, and others (Moses Y.
Beach, 6th edition, 1845).

Ph1111ps' Elite Private Address and Carriage D1rectory
(1874-1895).
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William Beach Lawrence,*** in 1831, obtained the leases to vacant
lots at Nos. 1 and 2 and built houses on both, making his home for less
than two years at No. 1, on the corner of University Place. His father
was then president of the Branch Bank of the United States on Wall Street
and a descendant of Lawrences who were large landowners in Queens in the
Seventeenth Century. William is the only one of the original residents
of this Washington Square block known to have been born in New York City.
A graduate of Columbia in 1818, he represented the United States at
London as secretary of legation and as chargé d'affaires, and he became
a prominent writer on international law.

Stephen Allen,** a self-made man, bought No. 1 from Lawrence early
in 1835 for his residence. Born in New York City, he achieved success
in commerce, was Mayor of the City, and is best remembered as State
Commissioner of the Croton Water Works. He was among those lost in the
famous fire that destroyed the steamer '"Henry Clay'" on the Hudson River
in 1852. Allen's estate kept the leasehold until 1880. The last owners
and residents of No. 1 were Mr. and Mrs. William A. Stewart, in the
approximate period 1906 to 1935. She was Frances E. deForest, a great-
granddaughter of John Johnston of No. 7.

Shepherd Knapp** was the first resident of No. 2, having bought
this new town house in July 1833 from his neighbor, Mr. Lawrence of
No. 1. Knapp, Massachusetts-born, made his fortune as a New York leather
merchant with Jacob Lorillard. He became president of the Mechanics Bank
while living at No. 2, which he sold in 1856. Later tenants who made
their home here included Mr. and Mrs. Richard Morris Hunt,* from 1887
to 1895. Mr. Hunt*** was the famous architect, and his wife was a daugh-
ter of Samuel S. Howland of No. 12.

Henry Rankin,** original lessee, builder and resident of No. 3, died
at his home there in 1841. When he moved in, he was President of the
Globe Insurance Co., one of the many insurance concerns ruined by the
fire of 1835 that destroyed so much of downtown New York. Rankin, in
his naturalization papers in 1799, described himself as a grocer from
Scotland, 25 years old. In New York City he was a partner in grocery
firms and in a hardware mercantile firm, and he also served as a director
of banks.

Jonathan Thorne** was the next lessee and resident of No. 3 until
1868. A successful leather dealer, he was a Quaker who belonged to a
colonial New York family.

The next lessee, John H. Sherwood* of Fifth Avenue, was engaged in
real estate, and in 1884 altered and enlarged the house. Renamed the
""Studio Building,'" its initial elite residents in 1885 were: Vanderbilt
Allan,* S. L. Morrison,* George Wales Soren,* Miss Rosalie Gill,* Miss
Dodson,* Mr. and Mrs. William H. Low,* Mr. and Mrs. Thomas W. Dewing,*
and Mr. and Mrs. E. L. Henry,* of whom the last three (men) were painters.
During the Twentieth century, well-known painters at No. 3 included:
William Glackens, Rockwell Kent, Ernest Lawson, Guy Péne DuBois, Walter
Pach, and Edward Hopper, who died at No. 3 in 1966.

Samuel Thomson,** original lessee of No. 4, was taxed for this new
house in 1833. His home was on Chambers Street. As a well-known pro-
fessional builder, he presumably erected No. 4, and possibly other houses
on the block. The next year, he was appointed Superintendent to revise
the architectural plans and to supervise the construction of the Custom
House, still standing on Wall Street.

Thomas J. Oakley*** was No. 4's first resident, from August 1833 to
1843 when he lost it to a bank because he was delinquent on his large
mortgage. Born in Dutchess County, New York, of a colonial New York family,
Oakley was a Yale graduate and a Federalist member of Congress. As Judge
of the City's Superior Court for thirty years, '"he was noted for his im-
partiality... and his clear and direct charges to the jury."

Thomas Garner,** the next owner and resident of No. 4, and the only
man on the block known to have been born in England, became a very suc-
cessful manufacturer of cotton prints. His widow Anna* continued to live
at No. 4 until 1878.

Edward A. Nicoll, original leaseholder and builder of the house at
No. 5 for which he was taxed, lived on Washington Square South. He was
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Secretary of the New York Life Insurance and Trust Company.

James Tallmadge,*** the first resident of No. 5, had already
achieved fame as a lawyer and statesman. Born in Dutchess County, New
York of a colonial Long Island family, he himself had graduated from
Brown. He was a founder of New York University, president of its
Council for twelve years while living there, and also a founder of
the American Institute in the City for promotion of useful arts.

"Widows' Row,' as the block was often known, calls to mind the
long occupancies of No. 5 by two unrelated widows, in turn, Aimée
Elizabeth Alsop* and Emily P. Woolsey.* Charles W. Gould, graduate of
Yale and member of the Players Club, was resident-owner of No. 5 start-
ing in 1895, and his executor surrendered the lease in 1936.

Saul Alley,** a self-made man, was the original resident of No. 6,
which he bought in 1833 from John Johnston of No. 7, who had built both
houses. Alley, a Quaker, apparently of Irish origin and born in
Providence, Rhode Island, achieved success as a commission merchant in
cotton goods. After his death in 1852, his widow Mary continued to live
there for many years.

Sabina E. Redmond's family* owned No. 6 from 1869 to 1912, residing
here most of this time. It finally became the residence of Mr. and Mrs.
John R. Morron, from their purchase about 1919 until his death in 1950,
"at which time it was the only house of the entire Row, east as well as
west (of Fifth Avenue), that was still in its perfect, original condi-
tion, and beautifully maintained."

John Johnston** built the largest house on the block at No. 7 for
his residence, in 1832-33. A native of Gallowayshire, Scotland, he
had emigrated to this country in 1804. He and James Boorman (later to
be a neighbor at No. 13) formed the firm of Boorman & Johnston, becom-
ing successful importers and exporters dealing with European countries.
He was a director of many organizations, an Elder of the Scotch
Presbyterian Church, and a founder of New York University. He died
at No. 7 in 1851; his widow Margaret* continued to live there until
her death in 1879; and their son John Taylor Johnston*** started his
married life there. He was the first President of the Metropolitan
Museum of Art.

John Johnston's granddaughter Emily was born and resided there
most of her long life, her ownership of No. 7 extending from 1879 to
1935. Emily was the wife of Robert W. deForest,* whose family had
first made their home in Manhattan under Dutch rule in the Seventeenth
century. Mr. deForest succeeded his father-in-law as the second pres-
ident of the Metropolitan Museum of Art.

John MacGregor, Jr., was the original lessee, builder, and resi-
dent of No. 8. He had been a senior partner of firms engaged in the
wholesale grocery trade and a director of two insurance companies.

Of Scottish origin, MacGregor died in 1841 at No. 8, where his widow
Mary continued to live until she died in 1871.

Among tenants later residing at No. 8, the most prominent was
Emily (Taylor) Lorillard* who moved there in 1894. Her husband was
Pierre Lorillard,*** tobacco merchant, sportsman and breeder of
thoroughbred horses, who founded Tuxedo Park. His mother Catherine
Griswold was a niece of George Griswold, of No. 9, next door. Emily
J. deForest held the leasehold of No. 8 from 1902 to 1936, so that its
garden would enhance her own residence, No. 7, next door.

John Morrison, merchant, was the original lessee, builder, and
resident of No. 9, and he died there in 1843. His firm Kelly §
Morrison contributed to the patriotic subscription of 1813. He may
have been of Irish origin.

George Griswold,** merchant, bought No. 9 in 1844 for his resi-
dence. He was a partner, with his brother, of the prominent firm,
N. L. & G. Griswold, known as "No Loss and Great Gain." They owned
their own ships and cargoes, including the clipper ship Panama, built
about 1845 for the China trade. George was active as a director of
many important organizations and was in the forefront in relieving
suffering from yellow fever, cholera, and fire. Born to a prominent
Connecticut family, he had come to New York City in 1794 and died in
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1859. No. 9 continued to be owned by various members of his family
until about 1926.

The brothers John, William and Robert Kelly, merchants, obtained
the original lease to No. 10, but it was their stepmother, the widow
Elizabeth (Barr) Kelly, who was taxed for the house and listed as head
of the family living there. Her husband Robert Kelly was a merchant
and partner of John Morrison, who was soon to become a resident of No.
9, next door.

John C. Green,*** China merchant, financier and philanthropist,
bought the house from the Kellys in 1842 for his residence. At his
death in 1875, he bequeathed his wife the choice of $60,000 or No. 10
Washington Square, and she chose the house. She was Sarah Helen,*
daughter of his early employer, George Griswold, of No. 9. After 1881,
the leaseholds of Nos. 9 and 10 continued to be held by the same per-
sons. Important tenants and residents of No. 10, in 1895, were Bishop
Henry C. Potter*** and his wife.* He had laid the cornerstone to the
Cathedral of St. John the Divine. No. 10 was also rented to Mr. and
Mrs. George B. McClellan and was their residence when he was Mayor of
New York City.

Thomas Suffern,** merchant, was the original lessee, builder and
resident of No. 11. Born in Belfast, Ireland in 1787 he had interesting
connections: a cousin of President Andrew Jackson, whom he entertained;
business adviser to his young compatriot, Alexander T. Stewart;*** heir
in 1810 to the New York City tobacco business of his uncle George
Suffern; and son-in-law of Scottish-born William Wilson, a well-connected
importer of dry goods and tobacco dealer in New York City. Thomas
Suffern became a wealthy importer of Irish linens and a bank director.

He was the only widower on "The Row'", dying in 1869 at No. 11, as had
his wife Janet.

In No. 11 in 1855 their daughter Agnes Suffern was married to Edward
N. Tailer, Jr.,* who was a cotton merchant and importer. Their residence
for a while was No. 4 East Eighth Street, behind the Sufferns' stable,
but in 1874 they moved back to No. 11 where both died. Mary Tailer,
their daughter, who was born there, married Robert R. Livingston of the
prominent Seventeenth century New York family. The Livingstons resided
at No. 11 until 1936 when Mary, as an elderly lady, was forced to sur-
render her grandfather Suffern's house to Sailors' Snug Harbor, because
the leasehold had expired.

Samuel Downer, Jr., merchant, was the original lessee and builder
of No. 12, and its first resident for a few years.

Samuel S. Howland,** merchant, bought the house in 1837 and lived
there until he died in 1853. With him there for a while was his older
brother, Gardiner Greene Howland.*** They had recently retired from
their firm, G. G. & S. Howland, founded in New York City in 1816, whose
trade rapidly became world-wide but was especially with Latin American
ports. The first clipper ship, the Ann McKim, was built for the firm
in 1823. The Howland brothers, born in Connecticut, came of a promi-
nent family which had emigrated to America on the Mayflower.

William Butler Duncan,* whose mother owned No. 2 briefly, purchased
both No. 12 and the adjoining corner house, No. 13, and remodeled them
in 1872 into one mansion, where his home was a center of hospitality.
Born in Edinburgh and a graduate of Brown, he was a founder of the
Manhattan and Racquet Clubs, President of the Whist Club, and Vice
President of the New York Chamber of Commerce. Unfortunately, the fail-
ure of his private banking firm, Duncan, Sherman § Co., resulted in his
losing his Washington Square mansion.

The double mansion, No. 12, became the last residence of Edward
Cooper,*** who bought it in 1879 and died in 1905. His family* living
there included his wife and daughter and her husband Lloyd S. Bryce,***
who was owner-editor of the North American Review and later the United
States Minister at The Hague. Mr. Cooper was a manufacturer of iron and
steel, and a president of Cooper Union, founded by his father. While a
resident of No. 12, he was fusion Mayor of New York City.

James Boorman,*** prominent merchant and railroad president, was
the original lessee, builder and resident of No. 13, on the corner of
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#13 Fifth Avenue. Born in England of Scottish ancestry, he came to New

cont. York City as a boy and soon became successful as senior partner of
Boorman & Johnston, his partner being John Johnston, later of No. 7.
Boorman was a generous benefactor of the blind, the orphans, and of
Trinity Church. After his death in 1866, his adopted daughter Mrs.
Josiah W. Wheeler* sold No. 13 to William Butler Duncan,* who had it
combined with No. 12 into a double mansion, using No. 12 as its
address.

This sketch of residents of '"The Row'" on Washington Square gives

a picture of the merchant and banking class who settled the region long
before the influx of artists and authors to Greenwich Village.
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FIFTH AVENUE West Side (Betw. West 11th § West 10th Sts.)

as the pointed arches of its two smaller flanking sections are kept
lower than the central one. Directly above is a small lancet window,
and above this the louvered belfry with an unusual multi-arched top.
Four stone piers reinforce the corners of the tower and are topped
by gablets and four-sided pinnacles crowned with attractive stone
finials. Between these piers, at the top of the tower walls, are
miniature arched corbels crowned by machicolated parapets.

The church is noted for its beautiful stained glass windows. Two
of them were executed in the Eighteen-eighties by John LaFarge, who
also painted the famous mural, ''The Ascension of our Lord," in the
interior.

The church and its harmonious rectory continue around the
corner to the northeasterly end of West Tenth Street.

FIFTH AVENUE West Side (Betw. West 10th § West 9th Sts.)

No. 30 Fifth Avenue, at the southwest corner of Tenth Street and
the Avenue, a dark red brick apartment house fifteen stories high was
designed in the Neo-Federal style by Schwartz & Gross in 1923. Slender
pilasters rise from just above the sidewalk through three stories,
where they are capped by a continuous cornice with paired arched win-
dows above it. These windows have blind arches of terra cotta represen-
ting urns flanked by swags. Above this, the brick wall rises sheer,
interrupted only by a balustered balcony centered at ninth floor level.
The top two floors repeat the terra cotta arched window motifs with
balustered balcony below them.

On the site of this apartment house stood three town houses
(Nos. 28 through 32). The corner house, No. 32, was, at the time
of its construction, one of the most imposing mansions in New
York. It had the first mansard roof to appear on the Avenue, and
probably the first in the City. It was designed for Hart M. Shiff
in 1850 by Detlef Lienau, a Danish architect who had come to this
country in 1848. Shiff was a French banker who had likewise re-
cently arrived in New York. It was three stories high with man-
sard roof above and was approached by an elegant balustraded
stoop approached by flights of stairs from both sides. It was
built of brick with quoins at all breaks in the wall and at the
corners. On the Fifth Avenue front, a central section was pro-
jected slightly forward, and here the imposing double doors with
iron grilles were set off by a stone framed doorway crowned by
a cornice supported on console brackets. The two full length
windows on either side of it were similarly framed and crowned.
Paired pilasters flanked the doorway in the projecting central
section and terminated in an entablature at second floor level.
Above this, paired pilasters were carried up through two stories
to the roof cornice. Arched dormers graced the mansard roof
on both sides with a central dormer with double window crowned
by an ornamental cresting flanked by finials. Later this house
was acquired by Amos R. Eno, builder and owner of the Fifth Avenue
Hotel at Twenty-third Street. Arthur Train's novel, His Children's

Children, reportedly has reference to this notable house. (For
further information see E. W. Kramer, 'Detlef Lienau,'" Journal of
the Society of Architectural Historians, Vol. XIV, No. 1, March
1955).

To the south of this house was another fine mansion of an
earlier period, the old Brevoort house of Greek Revival design.
Where their yards once met, twin houses were introduced, designed
by Henry J. Hardenbergh for J. H. Gautier (Nos. 28 and 30). These
twin houses of brick with stone trim were built in 1883-84 in that
late Nineteenth Century style of architecture so reminiscent of
the Romanesque Revival, but introducing new elements of design.
They must have proven a handsome addition to the Avenue with
their fine expressive use of materials.

No. 24, the Fifth Avenue Hotel, is an enormous building fifteen

stories in height, sharing the Fifth Avenue block front with No. 30
and extending to Ninth Street (No. 1). It was built in 1926 and was
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designed by Emery Roth. Sheer hrick walls rise aboye a two-story stone
base of smooth ashlar. At the corners the windows just abhove this base
are elaborately framed in terra cotta in Spanish Renaissance style.
Further enrichments in terra cotta appear again at the top of the build-
ing.

On this site once stood one of the finest free-standing Greek
Revival mansions in the City. This was the house built in 1834
for Henry Brevoort, Jr., designed by A. J. Davis. Brevoort, a
prominent member of New York society, was a lifelong friend of
Washington Irving and a brother-in-law of James Renwick, the noted
architect. It was three stories high with basement, and was ap-
proached by a handsome flight of steps with paneled blocks at the
sides. The entrance doorway was flanked by fluted Ionic columns
with pilasters framing them, all supporting a handsome entablature
with acroteria above. The first floor windows were floor-length
and double-hung, with iron balconies outside. All the windows
were shuttered, even including those of the low attic story. An
interesting effect was achieved on the Fifth Avenue front by pro-
jecting the center portion, containing the front door, slightly
forward. At the corners, broad pilasters of masonry also stood
forward, leaving the side windows set in recessed panels which
extended the full height of the building. At the center of the
south side a swell-front, such as was found in Boston at that date,
was introduced, a most attractive feature and a survival of the
earlier Federal style of architecture. All the windows of this
house had exterior blinds, and it had an appearance of solid re-
spectability.

In 1850 this house was bought by Henry C. deRham and in 1921
resold to George F. Baker, Jr. 1In 1925 it was razed to make way
for the Fifth Avenue Hotel. Philip Hone, in his interesting Diary,
reminds us that no house in the City was so well calculated to
entertain a large assemblage of guests as was this princely mansion.
In February 1840, Hone and some members of his family attended a
costume ball there which was enjoyed by some five hundred guests.
Hone appeared in the red robes of Cardinal Wolsey and said enthu-

siastically: '"...Never before has New York witnessed a fancy ball
so splendidly gotten up, in better taste, and more successfully
carried through.'" He thus complimented the Brevoorts and their

magnificent house for making possible such an evening.

FIFTH AVENUE West Side (Betw. West 9th & West 8th Sts.)

No. 20 Fifth Avenue, seventeen stories high, is one of the more
recent apartment houses on the Avenue, having been built in 1939-40 from
designs by Boak & Paris in a Neo-Classic style displaying primarily
Greek motifs. The first floor is of stone and may best be described as
a vertically reeded wall. Above, a simple brick treatment features full
height wall recesses and broad steel casement windows. Horizontal stone
band courses have a unifying effect between the third and fourth floors
and, near the top, beneath the broad stone coping. This apartment house
has its main entrance at Nos. 2-4 West Ninth Street.

In 1874-76 the handsome Berkeley Hotel was built on this site
for William C. Rhinelander in the latest Parisian Neo-Grec style
with segmental-arched stone framed windows. Under each window
arch, the windows were paired with central mullion between and
small iron railing at the bottom. This elevator hotel rose to a
height of seven stories. The Berkeley Hotel and the old "Grosvenor"
nearby were quiet family hotels depending on a non-transient,
wealthy clientele. In actuality, both should be described as
apartment hotels due to the nature of their tenancy.

In 1848-49 Henry Brevoort built four houses (Nos. 10 through 16) in
the Gothic Revival style, of brownstone, complete with label moldings and
miniature crenelations at the top. Today Nos. 14 and 16 remain as a
five-story apartment house shorn of Gothic detail, with parapet instead
of cornice, and sharing a common basement entrance in lieu of the orig-
inal stoops. Plate glass replaces the original muntined sash and a
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veneer of smooth stucco covers the front. In 1851 G. R. Green lived
at No. 16, and A. LeBabier at No. 14.

No. 12 was razed and replaced by a high, narrow apartment house
in 1903 for Max Juster, with Louis Korn as architect. It is nine
stories high, designed in the Beaux Arts style of the Eclectic period
with two-story rusticated base topped by a balcony with stone uprights
and iron railings. Above this rises a brick wall, interrupted only
by a deeply recessed window enframed with stone which extends through
the fourth and fifth floors. Four enormous brackets may still be seen
at high level intended to support a balcony at the eighth floor.

Above the ninth floor, corner piers and a pergola-type central feature
rise above roof level at the top. The Gothic house which was razed to
make way for this apartment, was occupied in 1851 by Augustus Zerega.

No. 10, the large five-story house on the corner, is the only one
of the row retaining some of its aura as an elegant town house in the
Gothic Revival style. It became the residence of Thomas Egleston, who
bought it in 1848. Egleston was a wealthy and successful iron merchant
at No. 166 South Street. Until recently the house retained its label
moldings above the windows. The mullioned window frames continue to
be impressive. Many of the windows at the old parlor floor level have
upper stone panels, incised with a row of Gothic quatrefoil designs.
The crenelated roof cornice, attractively covered by a similar one of
metal, continues to emphasize the original style. The front stoop
and doorway were removed as early as 1906. The entrance, now at side-
walk level on Fifth Avenue, has a doorway embellished in the Gothic
manner. A row of shops was added in 1930. The building has been
smooth-stuccoed.

SIXTH AVENUE (Between West 8th § West 12th Streets)

Passing along Sixth Avenue, renamed Avenue of the Americas in
1945, one enters the Historic District at West Fourth Street and
leaves the District at West Twelfth Street. Along the route is the
picturesque Jefferson Market Courthouse at West Tenth Street, now a
library, and the towering Women's House of Detention adjoining it
to the south. With its clocktower, gables, ornament and stained
glass windows, and multitude of High Victorian Gothic details, the
Jefferson Market Courthouse, tailor-made for its site, is a landmark
in the best sense of the word.

This section of Sixth Avenue still serves its traditional purpose:
a "market place,'" a commercial street for the neighborhood. From the
late Eighteen-thirties on, it was the Market, Courthouse and Jail site--
and a shopping center. Most of the early houses remaining here were
built originally as residences for shops underneath.

Other less readily noticeable features of the Avenue are the
entrance to Milligan Place, also on the west side of the Avenue between
West Tenth and Eleventh Streets, a charming retreat, a little courtyard
of old houses set apart from the hurly burly of everyday traffic.

On the east side the Charles Restaurant, occupying a handsome turn
of the century loft building, and Bigelow's Pharmacy, a late Romanesque
Revival building of the Eighteen-nineties, attract particular attention.

The elevated railroad, which invaded Sixth Avenue in 1878, had
cars pulled by steam engines that terrified pedestrians and horses
alike. By 1938 it was considered obsolete and was removed, restoring
sunlight and air to the once gloomy Avenue. It was replaced soon after
by the Sixth Avenue Independent Subway.

SIXTH AVENUE East Side (Betw. West 8th & West 9th Sts.)

This four-story brick apartment house with steel sash windows was
built in 1951. It occupies a corner site and has a brick parapet with
stone coping. The ground floor is occupied by stores and a Neo-
Colonial door with broken pediment on Eighth Street (No. 63) serves
as entry to the apartments above.

These four buildings, although so dissimilar today, are all that
remain of a row of eight houses, built in 1839 for William Beach
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#404-410 Lawrence, which once occupied the eastern side of Sixth Avenue between
cont. Eighth and Ninth Streets., All the houses haye stores or restaurants at

ground floor level. No. 410, three stories high, remains closest to its
original appearance and retains its muntined double-hung window sash and
simple roof cornice, which may also be seen at No. 408. The front of
No. 406, of pressed sheetmetal displaying classical details, dates from
alterations of 1896 and 1902. Above the cornice line is an elaborate
arched pediment, supported on half columns and enframing a niche. No.
404 had an extra floor added and acquired a new brick front in 1931.

#412-414 This handsome office building, erected for Clarence O. Bigelow in
1902, is occupied by C. 0. Bigelow, Chemists, Inc. It was designed by
John E. Nitchie. Eight stories high, it is an interesting building
showing the transition from the Romanesque Revival to the new clas-
sicism, albeit a very late example for this date. The stone trim of the
Romanesque arches, which take in five stories, and the classical sheet-
metal cornice with swags, are the outstanding features of this striking
pharmacy.

#418 This seven-story apartment house (also Nos. 66-68 West Ninth Street)

(#416-418) with restaurant below, is the same height as Bigelow's (No. 414). It is
built of brick with stone trimmed windows and is surmounted by a sheet-
metal cornice carried on uniformly spaced brackets. It was built in
1900 for Johanna Baumann by architects Schneider & Herber, and occupies
a corner site on West Ninth Street from whence the apartments are en-
tered. The restaurant displays much classical detail, having round
arches and a corner entrance with columns. The painter, Emil Ganso,
lived here during the Nineteen-thirties.

SIXTH AVENUE East Side (Betw. West 9th & West 10th Sts.)

#420 This thirteen-story contemporary brick apartment house (also No. 69
(#420-430) West Ninth Street) occupies what were formerly six city lots. It has
metal sash and, in the recessed central portion, a horizontal accent is
achieved through différentiation of the color of the brickwork. The
Sixth Avenue entrance is at the northern end, and the balance of this
front is occupied by shops. The angled treatment of the top floor
corners creates an interesting profile against the sky.

On this site, at the northeast corner of West Ninth Street and
Sixth Avenue, once stood the very handsome classical building of
the West Side Savings Bank. It was designed by Halsey, McCormack
& Helmer and was completed in 1929. It was a long narrow structure
with rusticated base. The narrow end, on the Avenue, had a large
arched door in the rusticated first floor and a loggia above with
handsome paired columns.

#432 Sandwiched between two giant neighbors, this little building rep-
resents the disparities begotten by economic pressures. Its twenty-seven
foot frontage is all that is left of a row of nine houses which once
faced the Avenue. The property had been in the Cotheal family for over
seventy years when the houses were sold in 1911. No. 432 is three sto-
ries high and was remodeled in the Twentieth Century with a new brick
front with terra cotta trim. The ground floor in terra cotta has round-
arched windows and, on each side, an entrance signalized by high panels
above and diminutive balconied niches crowned by fleurs de lys. The
second floor has French doors with wrought iron balcony and the two
central third floor windows interestingly combine under a terra cotta
fret with side pieces. The parapet is stepped up at the center.

#434 This six-story building (also No. 70 West Tenth Street) was designed

(#434-438) in the Italian Renaissance manner of the Eclectic period by Ralph Townsend
in 1894. The first two floors are executed in smooth (ashlar) stonework,
and the front door has an arched Renaissance hood with oval window above,
framed by cornucopiae. The windows of the upper floors are arranged in
groups of three, and set off by terra cotta frames and pilasters. The
sixth floor window groups are separated by richly decorated terra cotta
panels. The cornice was removed in 1961 when the metal storefronts were
installed at street level.
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These four houses were built on lots which were owned by William
Beach Lawrence, and then sold to John H. Martine in 1834. Nos. 442
and 444 were built in 1834-35 for Martine, while Nos. 446 and 448
were erected a decade later, in the mid-Eighteen forties, for Dr. Austin
Sherman, who owned considerable property in the neighborhood. These
little brick houses, three stories high, with stores at ground floor,
present a fairly uniform appearance above the first floor. The corner
house is slightly higher than the three houses to the north. Nos. 442
and 444 both have later bracketed cornices, while No. 446 has a modil-
lioned cornice. No. 448 has a modern brick front with metal casement
windows and simple brick parapet at the roof. No. 442, the corner
building, is also numbered as No. 71 West Tenth Street.

This handsome six-story loft building was designed in 1891 by
Ralph Townsend, architect of No. 434. It was designed in a very late
version of the Romanesque Revival, as may be seen particularly at the
top floor, where round-arched windows are separated by piers with
clustered colonnetes, or ribs, of brick carried on stone corbels.

The three centered arches over the triple windows at the fifth floor
once rested on carved Romanesque capitals, such as may be seen on the
piers at second floor level. They have been smooth-stuccoed. A very
strident horizontality has been introduced at the first two floors by
alternating wide bands of stone and brick. This building is now
occupied, at ground floor level, by a restaurant. It stands on the
site of the former Shiloh Presbyterian Church.

This severely plain six-story brick building (also No. 78 West
Eleventh Street) was built in 1915 for the Leonard Weill Construction
Company by Gronenberg & Leuchtag, architects. It is an apartment house
rented for commercial uses at ground floor. The top floor is embel-
lished by simple terra cotta ornament and an ornamented brick parapet.

SIXTH AVENUE East Side (Betw. West 11th § West 12th Sts.)

These two identical houses, three stories high, were built in
1841-42 for James Marsh in the vernacular of the day, with simple
cornice and window lintels. In spite of the stores at ground floor,
the upper floors look much as they did when built, except for the
substitution of plate glass for muntined sash. No. 462 is also
numbered No. 77 West Eleventh Street.

Built in 1844 in the vernacular, with simple cornices and window
lintels, these three houses have, nonetheless, retained their muntined
upper window sash. They have stores at street level and, although
three stories high, are slightly higher than their neighbors to the
south. Little rows such as this one, although not examples of great
architecture, retain the homogeneous scale and use of materials of
the best of The Village. They were part of the development of the
block by Daniel A. Baldwin, an attorney (see Nos. 54-84 West Twelfth
Street).

This tiny, one-story taxpayer, a dry cleaning establishment,
performs a useful function in the community and makes the transition
from the low-lying houses to the south to the neighboring apartment
house to the north, of which it forms a part. It may still incorporate
elements of a building of 1877 on this site.

This seven-story brick apartment house (also No. 86 West Twelfth
Street), built in 1956, occupies, with No. 472, the site of six of
Baldwin's houses. It is entered from West Twelfth Street, and has
stores at ground floor level facing the Avenue. Metal sash is com-
bined in twos and threes, interspersed with singles to lend interest.
At the central section the sills and narrow lintels are made con-
tinuous, unifying the windows in groups for horizontal emphasis.

The architect, Israel L. Crausman, designed the structure.

-69-



#63

#61

#57 & 59

#55

GV-HD AREA 2

WEST EIGHTH STREET (Between Fifth § Sixth Avenues)

This is a street of startling contrasts. At the sidewalk level,
it is the mecca of tourists coming to The Village, a center of its
night life, and forms a part of the commercial area that once spread
eastward from the old Jefferson Market. Consequently, it is full of
small shops and restaurants, many of which are located in taxpayers
along the south side of the street near Sixth Avenue.

By contrast, if one glances upward above the level of the shops,
one can recognize town houses that are reminders of a bygone era. This
is especially true of the north side. Here several Greek Revival door-
ways, crowded between the shops, serve to indicate the original resi-
dential character and architectural style.

Conforming to the generally uniform four and five-story height on
this street are some early apartment houses near Sixth Avenue. Breaking
this height visually are the many taxpayers, a hotel, and a very high
apartment house at Fifth Avenue, on the south side.

Worthy of special note is the elegant house on the north side at
the Fifth Avenue corner. It is one of the few Gothic Revival buildings
in The Village, a reminder, in its stately proportions, of the town
houses which once lined Fifth Avenue.

Among the few attractive shop fronts remaining from an earlier
period is one at the east corner of MacDougal Street. Here the cast
iron columns and cornice have been picked out in lively colors, and the
effect is both gay and attractive.

By and large, the street has heterogenous rows of shops, some of
which are only one-story high while at other points, two shops rise one
above the other. Perhaps the fact that shop fronts of all periods and
varying styles have been applied over the fronts of the houses without
any controlling design or height accounts for the ragged appearance of
the street today. Very few structures have been erected as completely
new buildings, except the low taxpayers which give it a toothless
appearance.

Historically speaking, The Fifth Avenue Association has succeeded
to a large degree in controlling the Avenue. Designation of the Historic
District will make possible in future the application of regulatory de-
sign controls to a shopping street such as this, where commercial prop-
erties vie with one another in their clamor for variety and attention.

Three centuries ago, history had been made at what is now the
southwest corner of West Eighth and MacDougal Streets. Here in 1633,
Director General Van Twiller had built his country home on his farm
(bouwery) on the Indian road to Sapokanican (Greenwich Village).

West Eighth Street, when largely residential, was known as Clinton
Place and was named for DeWitt Clinton in 1842, receiving its present
name in 1898.

WEST EIGHTH STREET North Side (Betw. Sixth & Fifth Aves.)

This is the side entrance for the modern four-story brick apartment
house erected in 1951, which faces Sixth Avenue (No. 402).

This brownstone house, now five stories high with shops at the front
two floors, was built in 1839 for William Beach Lawrence. Lawrence, an
important property owner in The Village, had served as secretary of
legation and chargé d'affaires in London in the late Eighteen-twenties,
and later achieved recognition as a writer on international law. Later
in the Nineteenth Century a floor was added to No. 61 and the building
was veneered with brownstone, and crowned by a new bracketed cornice.

It has muntined sash at the upper floors.

This handsome pair of five-story houses was erected in 1875 with
brownstone veneer, ornate Queen Anne cornices, and classical details.
They both have stores at street level and, while No. 59 has the old
style muntined window sash, No. 57 displays a more modern type, with
single vertical muntins. No. 57 retains paneled window lintels, little
corbels under the windowsills, and cornices carried on brackets above
the fifth story windows, decorative touches which have disappeared at
No. 59. The houses were built for Joseph Ohmeis.

This six-story apartment house, with store at street level, was
built in the mid-Eighteen-nineties. It displays round-arched windows
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at alternate floors, beginning at the second floor. The windows are
triple, separated by mullions, and the style is transitional, from
Romanesque Revival into classical of the Eclectic period. Ornamental
brickwork and horizontal band courses adorn the front. The windows

at the right side have doors opening onto small wrought iron balconies.
This building was erected on the site of an 1851 house. The sculptors
Gaston Lachaise and Oranzio Maldarelli resided at No. 55 during the
Nineteen-thirties.

Built on the site of an 1848 stable belonging to William Wetmore,
a wealthy merchant active in the China trade, this brick apartment
house was erected in 1890. It is five stories high and Queen Anne in
style, displaying an extremely elaborate, sheetmetal roof cornice with
broken pediment. This cornice is carried on bold end brackets and has
ornate panels and lunettes in the fascia. The window lintels are
simple rectangular stone variants of this style, while the second floor
windows are arched. Shops occupy the arched openings on either side
of the central entrance door and the basement areas below them.

Erected in 1877 on the site of an 1848 stable, this brownstone
apartment house rises to a height of five stories with store at street
level. The austere simplicity of this front, and of the windows with
simple vertical muntin in the sash, are an interesting contrast to
the elaborate Queen Anne roof cornice. This cornice is carried on
festooned console brackets and crowns the building with broken pediment
at the center and floral swags between consoles. The building was
erected for Joseph Ohmeis, also the owner of Nos. 57 and 59 West
Eighth Street, and No. 51 must originally have been very similar in
appearance to No. 57.

This row of five late Greek Revival town houses was built for
William P. Furniss in 1845. Furniss was a Southerner who made his
money in Wall Street and in real estate. These houses were originally
three stories high with basements, but all were altered in the
Twentieth Century to provide stores at street level, with second
floor shops above them. No. 49 displays its original simple wood
cornice and No. 43 its original doorway with pilasters and entablature
as lintel. Nos. 41, 43 and 47 all were raised one story, and No. 41
and 43 display elaborate Neo-Grec cornices of the Eighteen-seventies.
The window lintels of No. 41 were embellished with sheetmetal cornices
carried on brackets in the same style. Constantino Nivola, the
sculptor, lives at No. 47.

These two loft buildings stand on the site of two more of
William P. Furniss' private houses of 1845. No. 37, four stories
high with skylighted top floor, was completely remodeled in 1908,
while No. 39, nine stories high, is a newer building, erected in
1910. They are simple utilitarian buildings with plate glass windows,
separated by wood mullions extending from wall to wall. They both
have brick panel walls below sill level at each floor. The top floor
of No. 39, with small windows, was a later addition. Ann Charlotte
Lynch, New York's literary hostess during the second half of the
Nineteenth Century, lived at No. 37 from 1848 to 1849.

These two five-story houses, although practically identical,
were built three years apart, No. 33 in 1842 and No. 35 in 1845, for
J. B. Herrick and Zebediah Cook, Jr., respectively. No. 35 became
Cook's residence. Later, No. 33 was the home of Thomas Bailey Aldrich,
the author, when it was known as No. 105 Clinton Place. Both have
stores at first and second floors and retain their muntined window
sash above, except at the fourth floor of No. 33. The attic floors
have the low casement windows typical of the Greek Revival. These
windows are cut into the wood fascia boards of the roof cornices.

This house was originally built in 1844-45 for Henry Youngs,
merchant, as his residence. A completely new front, influenced by
the German Jugendstil, was installed in the early part of the
Twentieth Century. A self<conscious pattern of brickwork sets off
and enframes stucco panels, while the severely simple windows with
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transoms above accord in scale with the wall module. A low pedimented
parapet with flat central portion crowns this front.

Despite their dissimilarity today, this row of seven town houses
was once an elegant feature of this street. All were built in 1845-46,
in the Greek Revival style, and taxed in 1846 to William Wagstaff. The
prototype of this four-story row is found at No. 27, where, except for
the Queen Anne roof cornice and stores at the two lower floors, we see
most of the original features intact. Especially notable is the "eared"
front doorway crowned with a triangular pediment, still in place along-
side the plate glass show window of the store. Before alterations,
there was a handsome stoop and basement. The muntined windows are un-
changed except for the addition of sheetmetal cornices. Some original
lintels, with small cornices, may be seen at No. 21. No. 29 also re-
tains a similar Greek Revival doorway. Most extensively altered is
No. 25 which has a Queen Anne cornice like No. 27 and had window
lintels added at the same period. These cornices, with raised central
panel, display the sunburst motif, hallmark of the Queen Anne style.
All now have stores at street level, and Nos. 17, 19, 27 and 29 have
them also at the floor above. Nos. 21 and 23 have been rendered similar
with stepped brick roof parapet in lieu of cornices. No. 19 has a com-
pletely new brick front with interesting use of brick at the window
frames and parapet.

This brick apartment house, '"Brevoort Court,'" built in 1921, now
occupies the site of No. 13 where Richard Watson Gilder, the noted editor,
lived from 1888 to 1909. This apartment house has an absolutely plain
brick front and is six stories high. Its window arrangement (fenestra-
tion) has much the same scale and character as that of the houses which
surround it, so that it blends quite harmoniously with them.

This small town house was built in 1851 for Dr. J. O. Smith, as
his residence. It is brick and four stories high and has muntined win-
dow sash at the two top floors. The stone lintels above the windows,
with their delicate cornices, are the originals, as is the modillioned
roof cornice. The second floor full length windows have been replaced by
steel French doors. An interesting old fire escape provides full width
balconies for the two upper floors, terminating in a handsome Italianate
cast iron balcony outside the left-hand second floor window. The first
floor is now a store.

Although it was built in the same year as No. 9, this five-story
house has been extensively altered and is quite dissimilar to it. The
third and fourth floor windows give the best idea of the original appear-
ance of the house, which was built for Miss C. Clothard. The second
floor windows are very small and were altered at a later date. The top
floor, with its attractive row of French doors opening on to a balcony,
was added at a later date. It has a sheetmetal cornice above it. A
store now occupies the first floor.

The Hotel Marlton is an eight-story building which was constructed
in 1900. It is built entirely of brick with handsome stone trim at door
and windows. The first two floors are of rusticated brick, and the last
two windows at each side are paired in a curved wall section similar to
a bay window. These extend from the second floor up to the top floor
where they are capped by wrought iron balconies. The main doorway has
columns with entablature above. The attic floor is crowned by a hand-
some cornice carried on uniformly spaced console brackets.

This is the side of No. 10 Fifth Avenue and is one of the few Gothic
Revival houses still remaining in this area. It was built in 1848-49
and became the residence of Thomas Egleston. Shops were added in 1930
to this building (described under No. 10 Fifth Avenue).

WEST NINTH STREET (Between Fifth & Sixth Avenues)

Here, in contrast to so many other streets in The Village, the uni-
formity of the architecture is outstanding. Handsome rows of town houses,
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many with English basements entered almost at sidewalk level, establish
the quality of this outstanding residential street. Even the large
apartment houses at mid-block and the hotel on Fifth Avenue, through
the size of their windows, the use of their materials, and their
details, harmonize as well as can be expected with their smaller resi-
dential neighbors. The apartment house at the west end of the block,
on the north side, openly defies the entire neighborhood with its
strong, uninterrupted verticals contrasted so obviously with the
horizontals of its windows.

Looking through this block from the eastern end, we are primarily
aware of an air of solid respectability, of tradition and culture.

One senses the comfortable life which these Greek Revival houses made
possible, and the elegance of the later rows of Italianate houses with
their handsome rusticated basements. For their day and as examples of
community planning, they were the equals of the row of Greek Revival
houses lining the northern side of nearby Washington Square.

In this block on the north side, and just a few doors west of the
Fifth Avenue Hotel, are three of the most distinguished Italianate
town houses in New York City. They have English basements and are
unified by a balcony railing at second floor level and a handsome
roof cornice. Their most distinguishing characteristic is the en-
framement of the windows. This uniformity of treatment suggests what
our architects were capable of and what our City might have looked
like.

Here we need hardly speak of controls, as they were built-in at
the various periods when this street was developed and, due to the
high quality of the neighborhood, have been respected and maintained,
as much as could be expected. Where such a fine neighborhood as this
is downgraded or is ''improved'" through constant rebuilding and an
excess of prosperity, controls again become necessary, at that end
of the scale, to prevent the tearing down and replacement of all that
is notable.

WEST NINTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth § Sixth Aves.)

This seventeen-story structure (described under No. 20 Fifth
Avenue) was built in 1939-40 and occupies the corner site, where the
Berkeley Hotel once stood.

An extremely urbane facade of the Nineteen-twenties was applied
to a house, built as an investment in 1845 for George D. Phelps, a
druggist at 142 Water Street. It is three stories high above a base-
ment. The remodeling included the basement entrance door, a stucco
front, and floor-length French windows with transoms and iron balco-
nies at the second floor. The architect, by placing horizontal band
courses at both sill and lintel level at each floor, has achieved an
attractive horizontality, relieved above the central second floor win-
dow by an Italian Renaissance cartouche. Handsome red tiles form a
pseudo-roof in lieu of cornice.

Perhaps even handsomer than No. 6, is this larger adjoining
house, also built for George D. Phelps, as his own home, in 1845-46.
Here a brownstone front has been similarly modernized with basement
entrance and French windows at second floor. The wrought iron rail-
ings in front of these windows, with their horizontal diamond pattern,
are an especially attractive feature of this house. A simple roof
cornice capped by a railing crowns the whole.

This fine Greek Revival house of 1841, complete with original
stoop, iron stair and areaway railings, and pilastered doorway, was
erected for Thomas McKie, lumber merchant, as his own home. It has
been remodeled to provide a high, north light studio at fourth floor
level. The windows at the top floor have been combined to form a
triple sash, while a high steep roof surmounts the house, with the
large steel sash dormer for the studio. The famous painter, William
Glackens, lived here in the years between the two World Wars.

This six-story apartment house has a mid-Twentieth Century facade
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#12 which may conceal a much earlier house, erected for Clinton Gilbert and

cont. sold upon its completion in 1845 to Martin Thompson, auctioneer at 105-
107 Wall Street. The brick wall rises sheer to a parapet with picture
windows (steel sash) at each floor. Texture is achieved in the brick
wall through the use of pulled bricks at even intervals. Henry Jarvis
Raymond, founder and first editor of the New York Times, and first
editor of Harper's Magazine, lived at No. 12 from 1860 to 1867. A
leading Whig and Republican, he served New York as Speaker of the State
Assembly, then as Lieutenant Governor, and finally as Congressman (1865-
67), at which time he was National Chairman of the Republican Party.

#14-18 This attractive row of Italianate houses was developed in 1859 by
Isaac Greene Pearson, an architect at 8 Wall Street, who lived at the
neighboring No. 12 while these four-story houses were being built.

No. 14, which is smooth-stuccoed, has a rusticated entrance floor and
strong horizontal band course above. The basement entrance is the re-
sult of a remodeling of the Nineteen-twenties. The muntined double-
hung windows of the second story extend almost to the floor, with hand-
some cross-braced iron railings set within frames. The fourth floor
windows, accented by exterior blinds, are round-arched and have a con-
tinuous horizontal sill. The arched interlocking muntins of the top
sash lend an air of distinction to these windows. A quadruple studio
window crowned by a low, arched pediment is set above the cornice in a
steeply inclined roof.

No. 16 was also attractively remodeled in the Twentieth Century to
provide a basement entrance. Here the rusticated basement includes two
keystone-linteled windows and a broken-arch pedimented door. Above, the
wall is smooth-stuccoed. The round-arched windows at second and third
floor retain their double-hung sash divided simply by a vertical muntin.
The small first floor French doors have wrought iron balconies with a
wheel motif. The dormer window with steel sash is broad and square-
headed.

No. 18 is the least altered house of the row. An Italianate brown-
stone, it has a pilastered doorway and bay window at first floor linked by
a common cornice. The original stoop leads up to the front door, with an
entrance to the basement below it. The second and third floors both have
fine round-arched windows with the original sash. Unlike its two neigh-
bors to the east, the cornice lacks modillions. Above this cornice, there
is a triple dormer with picture window in the center and square-headed
top set in a steep roof.

#20 & 22 This four-story house and its neighbor No. 22 were both built for
Dr. Austin Sherman in 1845. The smooth-plastered front was remodeled
to provide a basement entrance. A handsome 'eared" frame, possibly the
original, encloses both the second floor window and the new doorway
below it. Otherwise the facade is quite simple, and the windows have
retained their muntined sash. At the fifth floor, a large steel-sash
studio window has been asymmetrically introduced to the right and a small
square window aligned above the entrance door for stability of effect.
The whole is surmounted by a high parapet set in the same plane as the
front wall.

No. 22 has elegant, transom-headed French doors at first floor. It
has a smooth-stuccoed front wall, double-hung window sash with muntins
and short casement windows at the attic level. The crowning cornice
above the attic windows, though boxed at a later date, still displays its
handsome, vertically placed console brackets, one at each end.

#26 Though nine stories high, this Eederal style brick apartment house
(#24-28) of the Eclectic period harmonizes well with its neighbors in its use of
materials, horizontal stone band courses, and other details. Federal
style lintels and brick-arched tops for the four central windows set off
the third floor windows to advantage. This theme is repeated at the top
floor with a bracketed stone balcony unifying the four center windows
again. It was built for and by Simon Schwartz in 1923.

#30Q Completely remodeled in 1920, this former town house, built in 1846
for William Wagstaff, is now a dignified five-storied apartment house,
with basement entrance replacing the former stoop. The front wall is
smooth-stuccoed and is asymmetrically composed, with a transomed triple
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sash arrangement counterpoised against single windows at the right
side. All the windows are inward-opening muntined casements hand-
somely enframed by the simplest possible molding. The top of the
wall, just above the fourth floor windows, is crowned by a dentiled
cornice.

One of three simple town houses of the late Greek Revival period,
No. 32 was built in 1845, the same year as its neighbors, Nos. 34 and
36, for the Jackson Marine Insurance Company. It has been remodeled
more extensively than either of them and is now four stories high.
Here a basement entrance has been introduced with Tudor arch and label
molding. All of the windows have similar dripstone label moldings in
the English Gothic tradition and, except for the large second floor
window, are divided in three by wood mullions and have transom lights
above. At the second floor, the window extends almost the width of
the front. The sash consists of handsomely leaded casements. Like
its two neighbors, No. 32 has a simple Greek Revival cornice with
dentils.

Except for its modernized basement entrance, No. 34 remains
closest to its original appearance. It is a refined but simple late
Greek Revival house which once had a stoop leading to the first floor.
The windows are muntined and have simple rectangular lintels. There
are two French windows at the left, with transom lights above, while
that at the right replaces the front door which originally opened onto
the stoop. The fromnt wall is brick and the basement brownstone in the
traditional manner. A Neo-Colonial door with broken pediment, added
when the house was modernized, serves as main entry at the basement.

Similar to its neighbor, No. 36 is of painted brick but has plate
glass, replacing the original muntined sash. The window lintels all
have sheetmetal cornices added later. A clue to the right-hand location
of the original front door is to be found in the omission of this cor-
nice above the second floor right-hand window. The remodeled brown-
stone entrance floor with its two windows and door is extremely simple.

"The Portsmouth," a fashionable brick elevator apartment house
of 1882, although six stories high, harmonizes remarkably well with
its near-twin to the west, ""The Hampshire,'" and with its town house
neighbors. Both these large apartment houses were designed by Ralph
Townsend. Designed in the Queen Anne style, it displays, in the
spandrel panels between windows, the usual profusion of terra cotta
and toothed brickwork. The smooth vertical brick piers between the
windows are extremely simple. The cast iron entrance porches, with
door and window creating a note of asymmetry, are typical of this
style. A richly bracketed cornice, with triangular pediment placed
directly above the left-hand doorway, provides an effective crowning
feature for the front wall. A wrought iron railing separates the
areaway from the sidewalk. It is attractively designed with a vertical
wave line above the horizontal base. Between the base bars, inverted
adjoining loops provide a running design. The building was erected
for Sophia R. C. Furniss. Ida Tarbell, muckraking journalist, magazine
editor, biographer, and historian, lived at No. 40 from 1901 to 1908,
and the painter Hans Hofmann resided here from 1936 to 1938.

Adjoining "The Portsmouth" to the west is a handsome brick apart-
ment house, '"The Hampshire," of the same height with stone hooded
entrance and triple windows throughout. These windows are separated
by stone mullions and have plate glass double-hung windows. Spandrel
panels of terra cotta enrich the front, while stone horizontal band
courses run through the front at sill and window head levels on all
floors. An elaborate bracketed cornice with dentils crowns this
apartment. This building was also erected for the Furniss Estate by
Townsend in 1883.

This four<story house, built in 1848 for Austin Sherman, a
physician, as his own home, was remodeled at the turn of the century
as a studio-residence. The third floor windows have double-hung sash
with a heavy central vertical mullion. The English basement is entered
at street level, and the woodwork of the front door is Italianate. The
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second floor windows are asymmetrically arranged with attractive leaded
casements in the quintuple window at the left, and a single double-hung
window at the right aligned with it. The most interesting feature of
this house is the deeply recessed studio-window at the fourth floor with
muntined transom above. It is set back enough to provide a recessed
balcony with a wood balustrade. Set in the front walls, on either side
of the balcony, are a pair of handsome circular terra cotta escutcheons.
The building is crowned by a simple cornice at the leading edge of the
roof.

Among the finest houses in this district are these three Anglo-
Italianate brownstone residences erected in 1853 by Reuben R. Wood, a
neighborhood builder, who was taxed for No. 58. The original owners of
Nos. 54 and 56 were Christian H. Lilienthal, tobacco merchant, and
Thomas Andrews. Four stories in height, they have English basements
entered just above street level. The entrance doorways are approached
by three risers set between low wing walls, surmounted by iron railings
of a later date. The round-arched doors and windows at street level
are typical of the Italianate style and are framed by stone moldings and
keystones. The entrance doors, deeply inset, are enframed by rope mold-
ings characteristic of the Italianate style. On the floor above, the
paired windows, under segmental arches, are full length and open onto
thin, slab-like balconies with wrought iron railings carried by hori-
zontally placed console brackets. The top floor windows of No. 54 have
been altered and set into square-headed frames. A bracketed Italianate
cornice crowns the three houses. Tony Sarg, the painter, lived at No. 54
during the Nineteen-thirties.

This attractive row of three houses, now considerably modified, was
erected for William Beach Lawrence in 1839. Originally Greek Revival in
style, all were remodeled later to provide basement entrances (Nos. 60
and 62) or an entrance at grade (No. 64), and a fourth story was added.
The basement at No. 60 is rusticated and the high entrance doorframe
at the left, surmounted by a low railing serving the small window im-
mediately above, breaks through the rustication. The brick front is
smooth-stuccoed. Added above the cornice is a studio floor with three
small square windows aligned with those below with a steel skylight above
providing north light. The whole ensemble here is attractive and in keep-
ing with the scale of the original house.

Perhaps least changed of the three brick houses is No. 62. Except
for its basement floor remodeled as a restaurant, it has its original
muntined windows, capped with stone lintels with small cornices. Above
the roof cornice, a low railing and three steel studio windows have been
added. These windows follow the incline of the roof, receding unobstru-
sively from the plane of the front wall. Altered the most of all is
No. 64, which has a store front at street level and a large sunny wood
window above it extending the entire width of the house. The eight sash
composing it are casements with transom lights above. All the upper
floors have double-hung window sash with muntins, and window lintels with
small cornices above, as at No. 62. The windows of the fifth floor were
added later in the Nineteenth Century, when the building was raised a
full floor, and crowned by a bracketed cornice.

This seven-story structure (described under No. 418 Sixth Avenue) was
erected in 1900 and occupies the corner site.

WEST NINTH STREET North Side (Betw. Sixth § Fifth Aves.)

This thirteen-story apartment house (described under No. 420 Sixth
Avenue) was built in 1958 and occupies the corner site.

The "Windsor Arms,'" a ten-story apartment house, was built in 1925
for Merowit Construction Corporation. It was designed by Sugarman §
Berger in a simple version of Tudor Gothic, with large windows at the
first floor flanking an impressive doorway, surmounted by a framed win-
dow at second floor level. A central bay window under a pointed gable

runs up through the top two stories forming a central crowning feature.
Pulled brick headers give texture to the brick walls and some of the
windows have drip (label) moldings above them.
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#61-67 William Cullen Bryant, poet and editor of the Evening Post,
cont. lived in a house which stood on this site in the Eighteen-forties.
#55-59 These three Greek Revival town houses were built in 1839-40 by

James Harriot, mason and builder at 4 Eighth Avenue, who was very
active in the development of this section of Greenwich Village at this
time. Of these three houses, No. 59 has been altered the most. It was
remodeled in the Twentieth Century to provide a basement entrance in
lieu of the original stoop. Above the very simple entrance doorway is
an elaborate foliate iron bracket with lamp above. The brick front has
been smooth-stuccoed below the third floor windowsills, which are con-
nected by a continuous band course. The roof cornice, with paired
brackets between panels, appears to have been added in the Eighteen-
seventies or even later,

No. 57, together with its neighbor No. 55, is a good example of
the Greek Revival house in general appearance, but modifications in
decorative detail were introduced at a later date. It is three stories
high with basement and preserves the traditional stoop. The pilastered
doorway supporting an entablature is one of the best preserved of the
period. The deeply recessed door, surrounded by a rich frame with rope
molding, is characteristic of the Italianate style, as are the handsome
paneled double doors which provide a gracious entranceway. The window
lintels have been somewhat modified. The rusticated stone basement is
an attractive original feature and, although the iron railings of the
stoop, with newels set on a low stone base, and the areaway railings
are not the originals, they are simple and harmonious. This house, like
its neighbor No. 59, has a roof cornice of a later period.

As well preserved as No. 57, No. 55 has small cornices above the
window lintels, a smooth-stuccoed basement, and attractive, though later,
ironwork at the front. The roof cornice dates from the Italianate period.

#51 & 53 This fine pair of four-story Anglo-Italianate houses, with English
basements, is unified by its handsomely rusticated walls at street level
and by an unusual corbel-patterned roof cornice above. Built in 1854,
they were part of a row of five houses, which originally included
Nos. 45-49. The first owners of these two houses after their construc-
tion were George H. Brodhead and Daniel B. Halstead. They have brown-
stone fronts and double doors enframed by rope moldings. The double-
hung windows have wide, central vertical mullions, but the original
lintels, which probably were carried on side brackets (see No. 47), have
all been removed, as have the bracketed sills. At the second floor,

No. 53 retains its attractive, curved, cast iron balcony with verticals
arched at both top and bottom. A similar balcony was removed from No.
51. It should be noted that at both these houses the original, hand-
some cast iron areaway railings, Italianate in style, are intact.

#49 The facade and rear wall were completely rebuilt in 1897 by
Howard & Cauldwell for the Ladies Christian Union, forerunner of the
Young Women's Christian Association. This house had been built in
1855 for Henry Dexter, merchant. It is an extremely dignified example
of the Louis XIII French Classic style of the Eclectic period. The
first floor is rusticated and has an imposing doorway with arched pedi-
ment enframing a richly carved, scrolled panel bearing the number ''49'".
The upper floors are brick, executed in Flemish bond, and all the win-
dows are stone framed with the three radial keystones, so typical of
this phase of French Classic architecture. The second floor windows,
flanking the central pedimented one above the entrance doorway, have
handsome stone balusters beneath them. A bracketed cornice, carried
on modified stone consoles, introduces a high slate roof at fifth
story level with three simple, square-headed dormers in it. The side-
walls with stone copings are carried up above the roof, which is capped
by a half-round copper cresting.

#45 & 47 These two handsome four-story houses, a part of the Anglo-
Italianate row to the west, continue the corbel-patterned cornice and
rusticated English basement. Round-arched windows appear at No. 47,
while those at No. 45 are square-headed. No. 47 is the only house of
the row to retain its original, strongly projecting window lintels,
supported on brackets, and sills resting on end corbel blocks. No. 45
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is narrower than the other houses, and the windowsills and lintels have
been removed to provide a more contemporary appearance. The sturdy,
original, cast iron areaway railings, Italianate in style, are again in
evidence. Both these houses were built in 1854 for Thomas W. Strong,

a publisher, and assessed to him the following year.

Four stories high, with English basement, this house was built in
1856-57 for Joseph Britton. Constructed of brick with smooth brownstone
trim, it has an arched doorway with two arched windows at ground floor
and is crowned by a bracketed cornice with unusually high brackets. The
windows are all handsomely framed, and the areaway and low stoop have
wrought iron railings.

Among the more architecturally distinguished of the large apartment
houses, built before the financial crash of 1929, were those which
essayed the Federal style in the Age of Eclecticism. This nine-story
building with penthouses is typical of the best of this period with its
simple ground floor above which has been superimposed a monumental order
of pilasters extending through four stories. The rest of the brick front
has been kept simple and is relieved only by a continuous stone sill-
course at the top floor windows and by a plain cornice above them. Al-
though this building is approximately twice as high as its neighbors, it
blends with them in its use of materials and details. This apartment
house was built for George A. Kuhner and designed by Townsend, Steinle §
Haskell.

Although a Twentieth Century remodeling has changed its appearance
completely, this house once belonged to the Anglo-Italianate row at
Nos. 29-33, built in 1854-55. At No. 33 a modern rusticated stone first
floor, with square-headed window and door openings, forms a base for a
Flemish bond brick wall, with steel sash for the windows of the upper
floors.

No. 31, built in 1854 and a fine example of the Anglo-Italianate
style, best displays the original appearance of the row at Nos. 29-33.
The builder associated with the row was Dennis McDermott, who lived at
No. 119 East 22nd Street. Together with its distinguished neighbors to
the east along the north side of the block, this row may have been de-
signed by James Renwick, Jr., one of the most important architects of
the period. He was taxed for the empty lots now covered by houses at
Nos. 17-41.

No. 31, with handsomely rusticated English basement, has a round-
arched doorway and window. The wall above this rusticated stone base is
of brick. The second floor has French windows opening onto a balcony
with its original cast iron railing, which extends the full width of the
house. The window heads for all the upper floors are segmental-arched,
with simple label moldings that have been shorn of their profiles. The
roof cornice, undoubtedly original, has four carved console brackets,
one at each end and two paired in the center. The overall effect of
this small town house is exceptionally charming.

No. 29, similar to No. 31 at street level, was altered in the
Twentieth Century with a smooth-stucco front and steel sash casement
windows. The balcony was eliminated. The front wall is carried up
straight to a low parapet with horizontal panel inset just below the
top. The original owner of this house was William E. Parsons, a
dentist.

These houses, built in 1855 for Samuel T. Hubbard, a physician,
were once similar in appearance to No. 31. They now have smooth-stuccoed
fronts and complete window enframements. The very interesting bracketed
roof cornice which links them has a guilloche pattern in the fascia.

Perhaps one of the finest groups of houses in this area is to be
found in this row of three Anglo-Italianate residences, complete with
their original unifying roof cornice, original windows, and handsome win-
dow frames with keystones. The design of this group has often been at-
tributed to James Renwick, Jr. Like Nos. 25-27, they were assessed to
Samuel T. Hubbard. The two top floors have segmental-arched windows,
while the handsome windows opening onto the balcony are round-arched, set
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in square-headed frames with cornices, and supported on slender pi-
lasters. The original cast iron railing has been replaced by one of
steel. The English basement, approached by low flights of steps, is
rusticated. Both doors and windows were originally round-arched.
Today, these four-story houses with a unified facade, give the im-
pression of a single great mansion and provide a most interesting
feature of the street. Ida Tarbell, the muckraking journalist, lived
in No. 19 from 1909 to 1919.

This residence, a grand Italianate town house of 1854-55, is
among the best of its type. The gracious front stoop and fine door-
way at the right side were removed in 1918 and replaced by a basement
entrance. The special quality of the house is still evident, however,
in the treatment of the segmental-arched windows which are elaborately
crowned. The windows at the left, paired and divided by a heavy central
mullion, are set above an interesting three-story polygonal bay window
arrangement which was altered early in this century. The brick facade
is relieved by an unusually rich, bracketed roof cornice which displays
a guilloche pattern in the fascia. The house was built as the resi-
dence of Thompson Price, who was in the bonded warehouse business.
William Zorach, the famous sculptor, lived here in the Nineteen-
thirties.

These three small Anglo-Italianate town houses of 1855 were
erected as a row for Henry Pierson, iron merchant at 90 Beaver Street,
but they have been considerably remodeled. They were built on land
owned by James F. D. Lanier, who developed much of the south side of
West Tenth Street (see Nos. 20-38). Like their neighbors, Nos. 11-15
have English basements, originally rusticated, as at No. 13. The
street floor windows and doorways have been altered at Nos. 13 and 15,
and the windows at Nos. 13 and 15 have been replaced. The window-
frames at the upper floors of all three houses have been greatly
simplified in smooth stucco. The four-story houses are unified by a
continuous bracketed roof cornice with an attractive scrollwork pattern
in the frieze. Latter-day remodeling of these houses has given to each
a character of its own, yet they remain singularly unified in character
despite the changes. Much of the original cast iron Italianate iron-
work remains at street level, as well as the balcony at No. 15.

This twenty-story hotel (described under No. 24 Fifth Avenue) was
built in 1925 and occupies the corner site.

WEST TENTH STREET (Between Fifth § Sixth Avenues)

Few residential blocks in all New York can display such a wealth
of fine residences. These range from superb single or paired examples
of the Federal style to an exceptionally handsome row of Italianate
houses with English basements.

On the Fifth Avenue end a splendid Gothic Revival church occupies
the north corner site, with its Gothic rectory adjoining it. This
church is one of the finest in The Village and contributes much to the
character of this residential area. The western end of the block is
closed by two apartment houses with only two residences beyond.

The south side of the street is closed at the Fifth Avenue end by
a large apartment house, which dramatically sets off the rows of ex-
ceptionally fine residences to the west of it. Three of these houses
are wider than usual and more distinguished architecturally than their
neighbors. In the middle of this block is another extremely handsome
row of town houses. As an instance of community planning, this
""terrace" of brownstone Anglo-Italianate town houses, with unifying
balconies at second floor and English basements, is architecturally
the equal of the row of Greek Revival town houses at the north side
of Washington Square, east of Fifth Avenue.

Toward the western end of the south side, two fine Federal town
houses, with their original dormers, are outstandingly well preserved
examples. That this street also represents an unusual cross-section
of styles, may be judged from the fact that the row houses on the
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north side, along the middle of the block, are Greek Revival in style.

Here is an unusual case in which a truly fine residential block
leaves little to be desired, and the owners have been able to retain
much of the original architectural character of the street, with main-
tenance at a high level.

WEST TENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth § Sixth Aves.)

This fifteen-story structure (described under Nos. 28-32 Fifth
Avenue) was built in 1923 and occupies the corner site.

This brick house was built for John Thompson in 1844-45. Now four
stories high, it originally had a stoop, remodeled to provide a basement
entrance. The second floor windows, which extend to the floor, have
attractive small balconies which were added at the time of the alteration.
The windows have flush stone lintels, and the bracketed cornice is of a
slightly later date than the house, which was originally late Greek
Revival in style.

This exceptionally large town house, four windows wide, now extends
to the back of the lot. It was built in 1845-46 for Augustus W. Clason,
Jr., attorney, and it immediately became the home of Clinton Gilbert,
importer. It is one of the most impressive houses of the Greek Revival
period, although alterations of 1895 by the noted architect Bruce Price,
who lived here from the early Eighteen-eighties on, have modified its
original appearance. His daughter, Emily Post, the famous writer on
etiquette, lived here as a child. Among these alterations were the
addition of a simple dentiled cornice with panels in the fascia, the
insertion of a large semicircular bay window with dentiled frieze at the
first floor and a handsome neo-classical doorway. The ironwork and solid
sidewalls of the stoop are also later additions, replacing the originals.
Double doors provide a grand and ample entranceway. To the right of this
entrance a very elaborate cast iron balcony remains at the full length,
first floor window. Exceptional in design, it employs plant forms as
ornament.

To the right of the stoop may be seen a portion of the original
areaway railing with modified Greek Revival fret design at the bottom,
typical of the original style of architecture of this impressive house.

This pair of splendid brick town houses, erected in 1854-55, has
exceptional architectural distinction, as well as being unusually wide
and spacious. No. 14 was built for Clinton Gilbert, an importer on
John Street, whose home was at No. 12 next door. No. 16 was built for
Henry L. Pierson, iron merchant, and immediately became the home of
James F. D. Lanier. He belonged to the well known firm of Winslow,
Lanier & Co., bankers at 52 Wall Street, the senior partner being his
father-in-law James Winslow, who lived next door at No. 18. They were
responsible for the handsome Anglo-Italianate row of houses at Nos. 20-38
nearby.

Today No. 14 remains close to its original distinguished appearance.
It is a very handsome Italianate house, of brick with elaborate brown-
stone window frames and quoins at the left side. It has, however, heen
altered to provide a small basement entrance between the two great parlor
story windows. No. 16, although smooth-stuccoed and shorn of most of its
ornament, retains its capacious original stoop and entranceway, indi-
cating that No. 14 originally had a similar one.

The architectural treatment of the windows at No. 14 is impressive.
The great double windows at the first floor have segmental-arched heads
with keystones and flanking Corinthian pilasters at the sides. They are
skillfully related to the shallow modillioned cornice above, which links
them together and provides the sills for the two double windows of the
second floor. These windows have elaborate frames with small console
brackets supporting very low, arched pediments. Directly above them are
the framed third and attic-floor double windows, set in such manner as
to provide an interesting vertical emphasis at each tier of windows. The
wide separation of the paired windows gives the house an appearance of
ample grandeur.

Across this pair of houses the finely detailed roof cornice, with
modillions and a foliate design in the fascia, draws attention to their
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kinship. All the ironwork of the handrails and areaways of both houses
is modern. Mark Twain rented No. 14 for a year in 1900~01 and only
relinquished it when the task of housekeeping proved too much for

Mrs. Clemens. The artists Jon Carbino and Frances Kent Lamont resided
at No. 16 at the beginning of the Second World War.

This exceptionally handsome Italianate town house of brick was
erected in 1855-56 for Margaret L. Winslow. Born in Madison, Indiana,
she was the daughter of James F. D. Lanier, who lived next door at No.
16. She was the wife of his partner James Winslow, and they made their
home here at No. 18. It is a large and fine house with brownstone
first floor and basement, and with round-arched windows and doorway
at the first floor. The basement windows, likewise round-arched,
retain their attractive, diamond-patterned iron grilles. The stoop
serves the front door with simple iron handrails of later date.

The most striking feature in this house is the manner in which the
doorway and windows of the first floor are enframed by arches of equal
size; they are keystoned molded arches supported on slim paneled pi-
lasters. The doorway and windows are all tied together at the level
of the capitals of the pilasters by a horizontal band course which ex-
tends to the outer limits of the front of the house. The brownstone
wall is separated from the brickwork above by a shallow but dignified
cornice. The upper windows at the second and third floors are segmental-
arched and have smooth-stuccoed frames which were once surrounded by
moldings. The fourth floor windows, like its neighbors on the left,
are smaller in size and all the windows have sash with a single,
vertical, central muntin. The cornice line is continuous with that
of the pair next door. The plain dentiled cornice with fascia below
is, oddly enough, similar to the best type of cornice to be found on
earlier Greek Revival houses. The family of Emma Lazarus, the famous
poet and essayist, owned this house in the Eighteen-eighties.

As an instance of city planning, this ''terrace' of brownstone
Anglo-Italianate town houses, all originally four and one-half stories
in height, with unifying balconies at second floor and English base-
ments entered at street level, is architecturally the equal of the row
of Greek Revival town houses at the north side of Washington Square
east of Fifth Avenue. Traditionally, this row is attributed to the
noted architect, James Renwick, Jr., but no proof is yet available.

All these houses were erected in 1856, except No. 38, built two
years later. This row (except No. 20) was built for investment by
James F. D. Lanier, banker, whose home was at No. 16 nearby. No. 20
was built jointly by James Winslow, who lived at No. 18 next door, and
Lanier, his partner and son-in-law.

Nos. 20, 22, 28, 36, and 38 were remodeled at a later date, losing
their original window frames and altered at their upper floors. High
studio skylights were added at the top two floors of Nos. 20 and 22.
Nos. 24, 26 and 32 appear to have retained their window sash.

The houses in this row have retained their rusticated English
basements (except Nos. 28, 36 and 38), and all have their cast iron
balconies at second floor level. All but No. 36 have their original
ironwork, exceptionally fine in design, at the low entrance steps and
areaways. The entrance steps have cast iron newel posts, with the
addition at Nos. 30 and 32 of animal motifs. The same curved Italianate
design is repeated the length of the second floor continuous balcony
with simple, paired, and paneled posts of cast iron set at even inter-
vals.

The handsome rusticated English basements at first floor level each
have a round-arched doorway and window. Particularly notable are the
French doors opening onto the balcony level. They are imposingly framed,
with pedimented entablatures in some cases. The windows at the third
floor are framed with simple entablatures above and retain the small
corbel blocks under the windowsills, so typical of the Italianate style.
Those at the fourth floor have only cornices above the frames. Another
notable feature of these elegant town houses is the continuous cornice
which once united them all. In the fascia, below the cornice, are set
low attic windows with continuous sills. Resting on these sills,
between the windows, are large vertical console brackets which support
the cornice.
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As an example of coherence and beauty, this row or ''terrace' in
the English tradition is one of the finest in the city. Edward L.
Godkin, founder and editor of the Nation and a leading reformer of the
late Nineteenth Century, lived at No. 36 from 1891 to 1901. Frederick
MacMonnies, the sculptor, resided at No. 20 during the Nineteen-thirties
as did two other artists, Louis Bouché and Guy Péne du Bois, several year
later.

This remodeled three-story stable may incorporate elements of two
Nineteenth Century buildings on the site. It was altered in 1912 by
Henry E. Scholl as a studio for the well-known sculptor Charles Keck.
The new Italian Renaissance front, a third floor and a penthouse were
added by Walter L. Uhl for Keck between 1918 and 1927. The usual stable
door with small arched doors on either side occupies the ground floor.
Above, in the new brickwork, the windows of the second floor are at-
tractively composed with a pair of arched windows at the center, sepa-
rated by a delicate stone column and crowned by a handsome relieving arch
with a small terra cotta head in the tympanum. Lower arched windows
flank it on either side, with small rectangular panels with swags above
them. The third floor windows are uniformly spaced above a horizontal
band course, serving as a windowsill. Above these windows is a simple
dentiled cornice of masonry at the roof.

This nine-story brick apartment house, '"The John Alden,'" was built
for Hyman Schroeder by Rouse & Goldstone in 1917. It is executed in
brick with alternate headers and runners above the first floor. Up to
this level it has a header course every sixth row. Horizontal band
courses and round-arched windows at the lower floors provide interest.

This attractive little brick house, built in 1829-30 for James
Roselle, still retains its Federal proportions. Its present appearance,
however, dates from an alteration of 1871 by architect Daniel Tyrrell.
A new brick front was installed, terminating in a mansard roof with
pedimented dormers and a central skylight, the latter a still later
addition. The mansard is interestingly framed by paneled copings at
each side. The cast iron railing at the front, the double doors, as
well as the window sash with single vertical muntins, and the elaborate
modillioned cornice are late survivors of the Italianate style.

Originally, this house would have resembled the Federal house at No.
52. The charming alteration was done for Mrs. Sarah C. Clarke, who was
a member of society and a dressmaker and made her home here.

This brick stable is a good example of that early phase of the
Romanesque Revival which preceded the work of H. H. Richardson. It was
built in the years between 1803 and 1879. The stable doors are the
original and, one may surmise from the uneven brickwork, that the usual
arched doors once flanked this large, central carriage entrance. In 1887
the building was altered for James Boorman Johnston, brother of John
Taylor Johnston, first President of the Metropolitan Museum. The second-
story segmental-arched windows with corbeled lintels are the originals.
The very high windows at the top floor were undoubtedly once segmental-
arched and corbeled like those at the second floor. Arched corbels
support the attractive cornice, with brick modillions, dentils and
toothing, and give this small three-story building much of its unusual
character. The house is now owned by the playwright, Edward Albee.

Except for its garage door, this charming Federal town house of
brick was built in 1830-31 by Abner Tucker, a carpenter. Two and one-
half stories in height, with a facade in Flemish bond brickwork, this
little house is a fine surviving example of the Federal period of New
York architecture. It retains the original doorway, paneled stone win-
dow lintels, and exceptionally well preserved dormer windows. The
typical eight-paneled door, framed by a pair of columns set against
rusticated woodwork, is surmounted by a glazed transom. The high stoop
has simple wrought iron railings, with built-in shoe scraper and orna-
mental scrolls at the top above the landing.

At one time this house was converted to a stable which accounts
for the large doorway, now a garage door, which led through to the back
before front and rear houses had been connected, thus filling the lot.
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#52 The sculptor Isamu Noguchi resided at No. 52 at the beginning of the
cont. Second World War, as did Concetta Scaravaglione several years later.
#54 The lower portion of this five-story house dates from 1839, when

it was built for Abner Tucker, who also erected the neighboring house.
Its present appearance is the result of a number of alterations. The
stoop was removed to provide a basement entrance and the full length,
double-hung windows at the second floor open onto a balcony which
extends the width of the house. Three stone panels with swags are set
between the second and third floor windows. The house was raised from
three and one-half stories in 1890, and a fifth story was added in the
Twentieth Century.

#56 This charming little two and one-half story late Federal town
house in Flemish bond brickwork, with stone basement and original front
door and dormers, was built in 1832 for Malcolm McGregor. The excep-
tionally well preserved doorway is flanked by paired Ionic columns and
narrow sidelights which retain their original delicate tracery, all
surmounted by a transom surrounded by a fine egg and dart molding. The
stone door and window lintels, now shorn of their tiny cornices, are
Greek Revival in character.

Perhaps the most striking feature of the house is to be found in
the great wrought iron basket urns, topped with pineapples, at the foot
of the stoop. They rest on low, fluted columnar bases. The remarkable
arched dormers retain their slender paneled pilasters and three-centered
arch window heads with simple keystones in wood. A rich bracketed
cornice, of later date, crowns the front wall. The painter Saul Schary
has resided at No. 56 since the Nineteen-fifties.

#58 This sedate town house, three stories high, is now the home of
Hamilton Fish Armstrong, author of Those Days. It may consist in part
of the house built for Owen Crosby in 1836. It could well have been
Greek Revival before it was remodeled by Stanford White for the Armstrong
family. Originally there was a rear house on the lot which was occupied
by the Tile Club. At the time of remodeling, the front house was joined
to the rear house by a one-story addition, thus filling in most of the
lot. The dentiled roof cornice, with wood rosettes added, belongs to
the Greek Revival period, but the doorway and window frames date from
the period of the alteration. The front doorframe and the wide tri-
partite leaded glass window beside it represent, with their swagged
lintels, a neo-Federal taste. The inner doorframe may be the Greek
Revival original with leaded lights added to '"Federalize' it. The
stoop was skillfully swung off to one side, permitting entrance to the
rear house via a passageway beneath it. The iron railings of the stoop
with their twisted spindles were added at the time of the alteration.
Mr. Armstrong's book, Those Days, tells the enchanting story of this
house.

#60 This seven-story apartment house, "The Criterion,'" was built in
(#60-62) 1901-02 for A. V. Louellen by Harry B. Mullikan. It is built of brick
with stone at the first floor. The paired columns with modified Ionic
capitals at the main entrance reflect the taste of the period. Details,
such as the attractive iron railing at the front and the guilloche
bordered panels below some of the windows, lend interest and a sense of
compatibility with its neighbors.

#64 This three-story town house with basement, built for Clarkson Dye
in 1837-38, is now occupied by a restaurant. It is the only survivor
of a row of three, which included similar houses on the site of Nos.
66 and 68. Originally Greek Revival in style, it was extensively
altered in 1882, when it was rebuilt and crowned by a bracketed, Neo-
Grec roof cornice.

#66 § 68 Here are two identical flat or apartment houses, five stories high,
designed by George Keister for William J. Moore. The first two floors
and basement are of brownstone, with arched central doorways flanked by
arched windows. The basement and first floor are both rusticated.

Built in 1892, just as the Chicago Fair was getting under way, they
escape the massive heaviness of some of the round-arched Romanesque
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Revival buildings and begin to show some elements of the new classicism
destined to emerge from the influence of the Fair. This may be seen in
the handsome foliate Italian Renaissance spandrel panels beneath the
square-headed fourth floor windows and in the metal cornice supported on
horizontally placed console brackets. The painter, Emil Ganso, lived at
No. 66 at the time of the Second World War.

This six-story structure (described under Nos. 434-438 Sixth Avenue)
was built in 1894 and occupies the corner site.

WEST TENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Sixth § Fifth Aves.)

This three-story house (described under No. 442 Sixth Avenue)
occupies the corner site. It was built in 1835.

This charming little house still retains late Federal features.
Two and one-half stories in height, with dormers, the facade is executed
in Flemish bond brickwork. It was built in 1831-32 for Frances Nicholson,
widow, and later became part of the property of the Half-Orphan Asylum
around the corner on Sixth Avenue. The house now has shops at both the
parlor floor and basement levels. A doorway in the classical tradition
leads into the house. Dormers, modified by successive alterations, may
still be seen on the steep roof. The second floor, double-hung windows
are muntined and have lintels with small cornices. The roof cornice has
heavy moldings and a rain gutter above a paneled fascia. The house pre-
sents a striking contrast to its towering neighbors to the east.

Built of brick, this six-story apartment house with recessed, central
courtyard entrance was erected in 1916. It was designed by Louis Sheinart
for Citizens' Investing Company. Simple in its overall appearance, it
relies for effect on horizontal band courses and keystones of stone above
the windows. The roof deck has a low balustrade with light colored brick
uprights, used in lieu of stone balusters, between red brick piers.

On the site of this apartment house, No. 65 West Tenth Street,
the handsome Protestant Half-Orphan Asylum (No. 67) once stood. The
organization had outgrown its building on Sixth Avenue, and a larger
structure was required. The new building, erected in 1857, was
Italianate in style. Combining brick and brownstone, it was com-
pletely symmetrical on each side of a forward-projected central bay,
dressed with stone corner stones (quoins). It had an arched double
entrance door, flanked by arched windows and set off by pilasters
at the head of a wide flight of steps. It was four stories high
above a basement and had four square-headed windows at either side
of the central bay. There were also stone quoins at the end corners
of the building, and a fine cornice with evenly spaced brackets
crowned it most effectively. The unusual eligibility feature of the
Half-Orphan Asylum was that a child was eligible for its protection
if only one of the parents had died.

At No. 57 stands the 'Marlborough Arms'' apartment, a high, seven-
story, narrow brick building with rusticated first floor and basement,
erected in 1884-85. The upper walls are severely simple with square-
headed plate glass double-hung windows. The principal feature of the
building is the entranceway with window above it, all combined under one
frame of masonry. This replaces a columnar portico. Designed by August
Hatfield for William Tunbridge, it stands up to the building line and
well in front of the new apartment house which adjoins it to the east.

The '"Peter Warren Apartments,' completed in 1959, is ten stories
high. It is built of brick with header courses at every sixth row. The
central portion, occupying more than one-half the width of the building,
is projected forward with diagonal corners and corner windows. The top
two floors are set back even farther at the corners, and the windows
throughout are in groups of two and five. The ground floor is faced with
mosaic at the central portion, and the entrance is emphasized by a scallop
edged marquee. Random ashlar stone planter beds flank the entry and ex-
tend out to the building line.
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The famous Tenth Street Studio Building once stood on this
site (No. 51). This handsome brick building, with its segmental-
arched windows and arched pediments above the cornice, was built
by Richard Morris Hunt for John Taylor Johnston in 1857. Very
Parisian in its details, although executed in brick instead of
stone, it was one of the first buildings Hunt designed on his
return from Paris in 1855. It was here, in his studio, that
Hunt trained such notable architects as Post, Furness, VanBrunt,
Gambrill and Ware. The use of brickwork, particularly in the
handsome corbeled cornice and in the dentiled window lintels and
band courses, was exceptional.

Johnston, a railroad executive, art collector, and a founder
and first president of the Metropolitan Museum of Art, built it
with large central studio, as a place for artists to work. In
the course of its life of over one hundred years, some of the
most notable artists in this country had their studios there.
These included, among others: Frederick E. Church, John Kensett,
William Hart, John Casilaer, Albert Bierstadt, John Ferguson
Weir, Sanford R. Gifford, Winslow Homer, Eastman Johnson, William
Merritt Chase, Augustus St. Gaudens, John LaFarge, and Henry T.
Tuckerman, the noted art critic. It was replaced by the present
apartment house in 1959.

Immediately adjoining the Tenth Street Studio Building to
the west, at No. 55, stood a small four-story studio building
designed in 1892 by Renwick, Aspinwall & Russell on a narrow lot.
This brick building was notable for its terra cotta detail. The
first two floors had conventional sized windows with exterior
blinds, while the two top floors had large, double, segmental-
arched windows flanked by paired pilasters filling the width of
the building. The capitals of the pilasters and the ornamental
blind arches of the second floor windows were the outstanding
terra cotta features. This building was eventually linked with,
and became a part of, the Studio Building (No. 51).

These four Greek Revival town houses were all built in 1838-39 on
property purchased in 1835 for development by Andrew Lockwood, a
neighborhood builder. Although they were built for different owners,
they were basically similar in appearance. No. 37 was owned by
Tillingham G. Tompkins, a painter, and rented immediately to George W.
Blunt; No. 39 was the home of Peter Omer Grilliet, merchant; No. 41
was the residence of Aaron King, and No. 43 of Robert P. Campbell.

No. 43 remains closest to the original appearance. Three stories
high, it has a rusticated basement, raised stoop, and retains it origi-
nal ironwork. The windows have muntined sash, flush stone lintels,
and exterior blinds, a latter-day addition. A paneled roof cornice
of later date, supported on console brackets, replaces small attic
windows and a dentiled Greek Revival roof cornice (which still appears,
in modified form, at No. 39). A stone pilastered doorway at No. 43,
with complete entablature above, enframes the entrance door, which is
flanked by sidelights and wood pilasters with Corinthian capitals. The
handsome wrought iron handrailings at the stoop have cast iron newel
posts with railings gracefully swept around them. They are set on
low columnar stone bases. The familiar Greek fret motif appears along
the bottom of the areaway railing.

Nos. 37, 39, and 41 have all been remodeled to provide basement
entrances in lieu of stoops. The entrance at No. 37 is an alteration
of the Nineteen-twenties, with arched casement window above a Federal
style doorway. Horizontally muntined French windows replace the first
floor double-hung windows. Nos. 37 and 41 have full third and fourth
floors added, with bracketed and paneled roof cornices. No. 39 has a
projecting Greek Revival dentiled cornice directly above attic windows
on the third floor. These windows were apparently raised to the level
of the bottom of the cornice to let in more light at the top story and
probably replace the usual fascia board.

This fine brick house was built in 1831-32 for John Brown and was
for many years the home of Dorcas Brown. Originally late Federal in
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style, like its neighbor at No. 33, it is built of Flemish bond brick-
work and was a two and one-half story house until the end of the
Eighteen-fifties. Later, it was raised to three stories and crowned by
a bracketed roof cornice. The handsome wrought iron railings of stoop
and areaway, in the Federal tradition, and the exterior window blinds
are harmonious latter-day replacements. The full length parlor floor
windows may have been introduced in the Greek Revival period. The
windows of the upper floors have muntined double-hung sash. This house,
which retains its original stoop, presents a singularly attractive front
to the street.

Built in 1832 for William Ewing, carter, as his own home, this
three-story Federal brick residence in Flemish bond was also two and
one-half stories high with dormers, as is clearly indicated by the
change in brickwork to running bond above the second floor. It was
raised to three stories in the Eighteen-fifties. There are several
interesting features, such as the full length parlor floor windows with
cast iron railings and the modillioned cornice which were added in the
Greek Revival period. The ironwork at the stoop and areaway is of a more
recent date. An unusual feature of this house is the narrow setback
from the street at the right side which is only one window wide. There,
an addition fills the space once occupied by an alleyway which gave
access to the rear yard. Paul Burlin, the painter, lived here during
the Nineteen-thirties.

These four houses, although dissimilar today, were originally built
in 1846-47 in late Greek Revival style and taxed to Runyon W. Martin.
All the houses were originally three and one-half stories in height,
as is clearly shown by the attic story at No. 25, and had stoops, now
replaced by basement entrances. No. 31 is now, with the addition of
another floor, five stories high. It has acquired small sheetmetal
cornices for its window lintels and a bold Neo-Grec cornice of the
Eighteen-seventies, which is striking for the verticality of its
brackets. No. 29 is in good scale with its neighbors. The muntined
window sash has been replaced by plate glass in all of these houses
except No. 31, where it appears at all the floors. Sheetmetal cornices
have been added to the window lintels of No. 29 and, if we may judge by
No. 25, the top floor has been raised from attic to full height utilizing
the original modillioned cornice. No. 27 has a basement entrance which
is signalized by a small pedimented porch. The top floor has been con-
siderably altered through the introduction of a cornice, stepped up at
the center, with elongated modillions beneath the horizontal portions.
Under the raised portion of this cornice, French doors opening onto a
wrought iron balcony furnish a central accent. This feature is flanked,
on either side, by conventional casement windows.

No. 25 remains, despite its basement entrance, closest to its origi-
nal appearance. It has undergone other minor changes, however, such as
the addition of sheetmetal cornices at the window lintels and the substi-
tution of three handsome French windows, complete with transom bars and
transom sash above, for the normal double-hung sash. The low attic
windows and modillioned cornice are the originals, and the general effect
of this house is one of considerable charm.

This rather grand, wide house built in 1839 for Nathan Carryl, a
broker of 42 Wall Street, belongs to the Greek Revival period. It was
remodeled in 1893 by William Adams, owner-architect, to provide a base-
ment entrance. A large handsome bay window at the right side, added at
the same time, takes the place of the original front doorway. Other
changes include the raising of the building from three and one-half to
four stories, and the narrow extension to the east, signalized by a
vertical tier of small windows. The parlor floor French windows, to the
left of the bay window, open onto a balcony with a delicate cast iron
railing featuring a fleur de lys design. The front wall has been carried
up to form a brick parapet with simple dentiled cornice. This building
is now the home of the Marshall Chess Club.

This row of four late Greek Revival houses was developed on land
owned by Morris Ketcham, who had recently established himself in Westport,
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Connecticut, following a career as a broker at 47 Wall Street and an
owner of the iron works in Elizabeth, New Jersey. The houses were
erected in 1846 and taxed the following year to James Grosvenor

(Nos. 17-21) and the Fairfield County Bank (No. 15). The stoops have
all been replaced by basement entrances, except at No. 15, which
remains closest to its mid-Nineteenth Century appearance, since it
retains its stoop and low attic windows. One can readily see the kin-
shop of these four-story houses in the alignment of windows and other
details.

The basement door at No. 21 was added by Rossiter & Wright in
1907, permitting the introduction of French windows above it, with a
semi-circular wrought iron balcony added at a later date. The low
stepped roof parapet rises slightly above the dentiled cornice of
No. 23, the neighboring house, which is very similar in appearance
though built seven years earlier. The painter, Francis Kent Lamont,
lived at No. 21 in the early Nineteen-fifties.

No. 19 has a simple wood cornice and muntined double-hung window
sash at the top floor. The polygonal bay window above the basement
entrance is a later addition, but the house retains much of its charm.

No. 17 has sheetmetal cornices on its window lintels. At the top,
a low parapet has been added above the modillioned cornice, with the
endwalls carried straight up to meet it on either side. The double-
hung windows are all plate glass, and the three windows at the second
floor extend almost to floor level.

No. 15, most nearly the prototype for the row, retains its low
attic story windows and a cornice which displays decorative brackets.
Remodeled after the mid-Nineteenth Century, this house acquired a
hooded Italianate entranceway and cast iron window and stair railings.
A second floor bay window, similar to the one at No. 19, but recti-
linear in design, has diamond-leaded lights and was added at a later
date.

'""Milbank House," a residence hall for young business women, pre-
sents a wide imposing facade to the street. It is three and one-half
stories high over a basement. The westernmost section, on the left
side, was built in 1847 for Richard H. Winslow as his residence. A
Wall Street banker and broker, Winslow is best known as originator
of the railroad bond system in 1849. The eastern half of the property
remained vacant until 1888, when a one-story extension with basement
was added to the house by the noted architect Ernest Flagg, eliminating
the empty lot. Still later, in 1919, this extension was raised to four
stories, aligning it with the original house, and unified by a single
cornice. The two houses are known by the single number, No. 11, but
the stoop and entrance doorway are actually at the old No. 13.

While it hardly seems possible that the western section of the
house is of the same date as the simple Greek Revival row to the west,
a glance at the cornice line and low attic windows reassures us that
it is. The segmental-arched window lintels were probably inserted in
the Eighteen-eighties when the wing on the garden side was added. It
is interesting that the Twentieth Century architect of the extension
copied the original house faithfully, with only minor adjustments in
floor heights to allow space for a full fourth story. The entire
building, which has brownstone lintels and basement, is crowned by a
roof cornice displaying alternating modillions and shell forms. The
wide imposing doorway, sheltered by a hood, and the sturdy Italianate
cast iron stoop and areaway railings are slightly later in date than
the original house.

Built in 1847 for Richard Winslow, this house has been smooth-
stuccoed, retaining some of its original features including the stoop,
which has new wrought iron handrailings, and muntined double-hung
windows. A new attic floor with parapet above it, added above the
old cornice line, has transformed the house from three stories in
height to four. A heavy Gothic rib-molding surrounds the front door,
possibly suggesting the original style of the house. This is further
echoed in the design of the cast iron newel posts.

This little two and one-half story brownstone, Gothic Revival
house, is one of the few buildings erected in this style in The Village
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which remains relatiyely unaltered today. It is the Rectory of the
Church of the Ascension, which adjoins it to the east. Built between
1839 and 1841, it is an attractive example of Gothic Revival style,

with the characteristic label or drip moldings above door and windows.

A novel feature is to be found in its pointed dormer which is projected
out from the wall-line on brackets. The story of how Dr. Eastburn, the
rector, built his little rectory just west of the church to foil archi-
tect Upjohn's plans for a deep chancel for the church is an interesting
example of Low Church principles applied to architecture and is told by
Everard Upjohn in his book, Richard Upjohn, Architect and Churchman. The
silhouette against the sky is enlivened by a picturesque chimney and two
small pointed arch dormers set high in the roof.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET (Between Fifth § Sixth Avenues)

Interesting contrasts present themselves in this street between the
north and south sides. On the south side the low-1lying residential
character of continuous row houses faces, on the north side, an alter-
nating variety of heights with apartment houses interspersed between
short stretches of residences.

Concerning the south side, the alteration or remodeling of any one
of these houses would interrupt the uniform harmony of an exceptionally
fine row of Greek Revival houses and, because of their uniformity, might
spoil the appearance of the entire row. Here is a case where architec-
tural controls will prove of the greatest value in preserving our distin-
guished architectural heritage.

At the Fifth Avenue end of the block, a high apartment house serves
as a dramatic backdrop for this exceptionally long, low residential row
of houses. Architecturally notable is the house adjoining the high
apartment house. It is the parish house of the church on Tenth Street
and is a virtuoso performance of architectural design executed in the
high French Renaissance manner. In its use of materials and elaborate
design, it is set off to great advantage by contrast with the conserva-
tive design of the earlier brick row of houses to the west of it.

On the north side of the street, near Fifth Avenue, is a large and
dignified parish house next to the ample grounds that surround its church
on the Avenue. Both are in the Gothic' Revival style. This block, as has
been noted, has many fine town houses. Interspersed are apartment houses
of moderate height and of diverse styles -of architecture. One of these,
just east of the central group of town houses, is especially notable.
This apartment house is of interest as it shows a genuine attempt to
harmonize with its neighbors in its use of detail and materials and in
its overall design.

Near the western end of the north side a handsome apartment house
of Italian Renaissance design is juxtaposed against the modern south wing
of a school. Unlike the contrast on the other end of the block, where a
brilliantly designed parish house is set off to advantage, the contrast
between this modern school and the Italian Renaissance apartment house
introduces a harsh note of incongruity. Not only are the designs differ-
ent, but also the use of materials.

Despite minor inconsistencies, this is one of the finest streets in
The Village and has a general character of harmonious uniformity.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth § Sixth Aves.)

The apartment house on the corner site is described under No. 40
Fifth Avenue.

The Parish House for the Church of the Ascension was originally built
in 1843-44 as a school for the Church. 1In 1888-89 it was remodeled by
McKim, Mead & White as we see it today. The general style of this brick
building is French Renaissance, while its steep roof, with peaked and
hooded dormers, is more reminiscent of Flemish or German Renaissance
antecedents. The handsome stone trim of the windows and horizontal band
courses lend an air of distinction to this truly urban building.
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This row of seven elegant brick Greek Revival town houses was
built for Henry Brevoort, Jr., in 1844-45. Five were gifts to his
five daughters, and this broke up the remainder of the old Brevoort
Farm. No. 20 remains virtually unaltered from its original appearance.
The attractive wrought ironwork of the stoop and yard railings and
the cast iron railings of the floor-length drawing room windows are the
originals. The muntined windows of the low attic appear unchanged at
the third floor, and the dentiled roof cornice is the original. A
fourth floor studio has been added, but it has been set back so as not
to minimize the beauty of the cornice. The rusticated basement, such
as may be still seen at No. 14, has been smooth-stuccoed.

The ironwork for this entire row is an exceptionally well preserved
example typical of the late Greek Revival period. The yard and stoop
railings display decorative castings at the base, and the drawing room
window railings have a diamond-shaped central field with border. The
original doorways with sloping or battered sides and 'eared" frames at
the top, surmounted by a cornice, may still be seen at Nos. 14, 16 and
20. The doors with their pilastered frames, sidelights, and transoms
are but little altered.

Nos. 14 and 18 were later '"Federalized" by the addition of swagged
stone panels above the first floor doors and windows and, in the case
of No. 18, by the substitution of a simple round-arched brick doorway
for the one with Greek pilasters.

It is interesting to note that the original dentiled roof cornice
remains basically intact, except at houses Nos. 18 and 26, and in all
cases the cornice height is the same, giving the row a unified appear-
ance. This has been achieved despite the raising of most of the attic
windows to a height desired in the Twentieth Century. No. 22, although
remodeled with a white brick front, retains its attic window openings
and dentiled roof cornice. The wood sash has been replaced by steel
casements, yet the ironwork at the front remains intact. The doorway
is the original with a door of a later period. This is the only house
in this row in which the first floor windowsills have been raised.

Nos. 24 and 26 have been remodeled to provide basement entrances, but
have retained much of their original appearance. Nos. 14, 18, and

24 are the only ones to retain the rustication of their stone basements.
No. 24 retains its floor-length parlor story windows with handsome cast
iron railings and a third one added, replacing the former front door.

This house, similar in much of its detail to the row adjoining it
to the east (Nos. 14-26), was built in 1846 for Henry Brevoort. It
has an unusual feature in the break in its front facade, whereby a one
window wide section is set back to align with the row to the east while
the remainder, two windows wide, stands forward and aligns with the
rest of the houses to the west. The kinship between this house and the
Greek Revival row to the east, also built for Brevoort, may be seen in
the floor-length drawing room windows with their cast iron railings and
in the height of the basement wall. This house is one story higher than
those in the row, due to the later addition of one floor. A basement
entrance with exterior wood vestibule may be seen in the setback portion.

Although considerably altered, No. 30 was built in 1841 in Greek
Revival style as part of a row of exceptionally fine residences (Nos.
30-34) for Edward A. Nicoll. Nicoll, an attorney at 38 Wall Street
and Secretary of the New York Life Insurance & Trust Company, later
occupied No. 30 as his residence. No. 32 was sold by Nicoll before
its completion to Emma Dashwood, while No. 34 was sold in 1843 to
William West, who occupied the house for many years. The builders of
these three houses were James Harriot, Andrew Lockwood, and Erastus
Freeman, who had purchased the property for development in 1839-40
and who also erected the long neighboring row of houses to the west,
which are almost identical to the three Nicoll dwellings.

No. 30 has been greatly altered by the raising of the third story
attic windows to full height and by the replacement of the original
roof cornice and doorway with others of Neo-Grec design. The attractive
Federal style handrailings and newels of the stoop and the areaway rail-
ings are later replacements, but the ironwork at the basement windows
is the Greek Revival original. The shutters are a latter-day addition.
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Nos. 32 and 34 are united by a handsome dentiled cornice with a
sheetmetal rain gutter added to the cornice at No. 32. Both houses
retain their original pilastered doorways although the handsome double
doors at No. 32 replace a single door with side lights. The arched
entry at No. 34, with paneled reveals, is also a later addition. The
window sash at No. 32 has been replaced by plate glass, and the attic
floor windows were raised and cut into the bottom of the fascia board;
the attic windows of No. 34 were enlarged by lowering their sills.
Attractive wrought iron railings of the Greek Revival period adorn the
stoops of both houses. They have foliate design cast iron rosettes at
mid-height of their spindles. No. 34 is now the official residence of
the Chancellor of New York University.

These five Greek Revival houses were built in 1840-41 by James
Harriot, mason, at No. 4 Eighth Avenue, a member of a well-known family
of builders and ships' carpenters, in association with Erastus Freeman,
carpenter, and Andrew Lockwood, builder, whose shop was on Tenth Street
on the site of the present apartment building at No. 51. They were
erected as part of a row of eleven houses which also originally included
No. 56, replaced by a later building. These houses are now uniformly
three stories in height, with basements. It is interesting to note that
all have similar bracketed roof cornices of a later date, added when the
attic story was raised to full height.

They retain their pilastered Greek Revival doorways, except No. 36,
which has one of the Italianate period, and No. 42, converted for basement
entry, with a window in place of the old front door. The doors at Nos.
38, 40, and 44 have side lights and glass transoms and exceptionally fine
transom bars with the acroteria motif at center and honeysuckle design
beneath it, although the acroteria was removed at No. 38 when it was
altered. In this row the window lintels are flush, except at No. 40,
which retains its original little cornices at first and second floors.
No. 36 supplies the evidence that these cornices were shaved off at a
later date. A modified Palladian window with elliptical arch was sub-
stituted for the two first floor windows at No. 38, probably after the
turn of the century. The ironwork at the stoops of Nos. 36, 38,and 44
is of similar design to that of the houses adjoining them to the east.

This row of five Greek Revival brick houses was built by Andrew
Lockwood, Erastus Freeman, and James Harriot in 1841, at the same time
as the neighboring houses to the east (Nos. 36-44). They are closer
to the original appearance of this long row, as they have retained their
lower height and dentiled roof cornices. The low attic story, so charac-
teristic of this architectural style, remains with only a discreet en-
largement of the attic windows which now penetrate the fascia. There is
much original ironwork in this group of houses, particularly in the area-
way railings. The attractive railings of the stoops are generally simi-
lar in type to those of many of the houses to the east. Except at No.
46, the inner doorways are the fine originals, with glass side lights
and ornamented transoms above. Studio skylights, added at a later date,
may be seen above the cornices of Nos. 48 and 50.

This nine-story brick apartment house, built in 1912 for Clara W.
Leavitt, was designed by Lawlor § Haase. It replaced two houses belong-
ing to the adjoining rows. Although it rises above its neighbors, it
retains much of the character of the neighborhood in its use of materials
and in its detail. It has two stories of rusticated brickwork above
street level, displaying an ingenious and attractive use of that material.
The simple stone entrance door has a cornice slab set on vertically
placed consoles. The third floor is set off by horizontal stone band
courses, while brick panels between them terminate the row of windows at
each end. Above this floor the brickwork rises sheer to the sill level
of the top floor, above which the row of windows is terminated by stone
panels. A simple cornice, with low brick parapet above, surmounts the
whole. The painter, Henry Botkin, lived at No. 56 during the Nineteen-
forties.

This small three-story Greek Revival house was built by Andrew

Lockwood in 1843 as one of a pair. The other house has been replaced by
the present apartment house at No. 56. Although it has been altered for
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use as a studio at the top floor, its appearance suggests that it was
originally identical with the houses of the neighboring row to the east.
It has a cornice of the same height and a similar doorway and stair
handrailings. With the addition of a full width steel sash window at
the top floor, the cornice was altered from its original appearance by
application of a new rain gutter.

This row of four Italianate houses, three stories high above base-
ments, was erected for James N. Gifford. Gifford was a Wall Street
broker, who had inherited the property from his brother Andrew, the
owner of considerable property on the north side of the street. The
juxtaposition of this Italianate row of 1853-54 with the row of Greek
Revival houses of the Eighteen-forties to the east shows an interesting
architectural progression. The scale of the two rows is similar, the
basements are all rusticated, and the three remaining stoops are nearly
identical, but there is a sharp contrast in the dignified doorways.

The arched doorways of this row are of special interest. They are
flanked by pilasters with formal bases and capitals decorated with a
central rosette. They are surmounted by high modillioned entablatures
which recall the earlier Greek Revival style. The deeply recessed
entrance doors echo the arched doorways. The double-hung windows have
heavy vertical muntins intended to simulate casement type windows,
while the horizontal muntins are very delicate. All the lintels have
cornices. The roof cornices, resting on consoles, are interspersed by
simple panels, while those at the center display foliate forms which
lend emphasis to the mid-portion. No. 68 has been remodeled to in-
troduce a basement entrance. The ironwork of these houses is well
executed, although not the original. Walt Kuhn, the painter, lived at
No. 66 during the Nineteen-thirties.

This Neo-Grec brownstone apartment house, five stories in height,
was built in 1879 for James N. Gifford. The odd shape of the house
resulted from the small, triangular-shaped remaining portion of the
Shearith Israel Cemetery. This house represents a late phase of French
influence with its crisp profiles and stylish plate glass windows. The
original doorway has been altered, and the window frames have the heavy
formality of the period.

This tiny triangular plot is all that remains of the second ceme-
tery of the Congregation of Shaearith Israel, established here in 1805
when there was no more alloted space in their old burial ground at
Chatham Square. In 1830 the City, acting under the power of eminent
domain, acquired a portion of the property for the cutting through of
Eleventh Street. The congregation was left with only a small triangu-
lar lot of the south of the street and a tiny unusable triangle on
the north side, since the property ran on an extreme bias across the
bed of what is now Eleventh Street. A low masonry wall surmounted by
a light iron fence encloses the cemetery. A gate at the center gives
access to this little graveyard, which still has some of the original
tombstones, including a small stone obelisk.

A six-story apartment house of 1915 (described under Nos. 456-458
Sixth Avenue) occupies the corner site.

WEST ELEVENTH STREET North Side (Betw. Sixth & Fifth Aves.)

This three-story house of 1841-42 (described under No. 462 Sixth
Avenue) occupies the corner site.

This one-story taxpayer with stepped brick parapet has two small
stores which serve the neighborhood. They have oxidized aluminum store
fronts of contemporary design.

Although these two brick houses can scarcely be recognized as twins
today, they were both built in 1851. Despite the fact that they do not
appear in the tax records until 1852, when they were assessed to the
Reverend Samuel Cooke (No. 73) and Daniel H. Wickham, Jr. (No. 71), a
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watch dealer at 9 Maiden Lane, both men were listed at these addresses
in the City Directory of 1851-52.

No. 71 retains much of its original Italianate character, with its
handsome cast iron areaway and stoop railings and its ample double doors.
The stone frame of the doorway has been simplified by being smooth-
stuccoed. The first floor windows once extended to the floor, but are
now bricked up to sill height and have casement sash with transoms above.
The house is three stories high with basement.

No. 73, remodeled toward the end of the Nineteenth Century, was
raised one floor. The two left-hand windows were replaced by a sheet-
metal bay window which extends up the full height of the building. The
front of this house and its bay window are united under one deep, brack-
eted, classical cornice with heavy swags in the fascia. Panels beneath
the windows of the bay display centrally located oval motifs flanked by
foliate forms. At a later date a two-story addition, with arched windows
at second floor, was extended across the facade and forward to the side-
walk line. This was recently covered with composition stone veneer and
serves as a restaurant, entered at ground floor level.

The south (Albert A. List) wing of the New School for Social
Research, containing classrooms and the library, extends through to the
West Twelfth Street building. It was designed in 1955 by Mayer,
Whittlesey & Glass and opened five years later. It is divided into five
bays or sections, supported for the first two floors on visually exposed
columns encased in precast stone. Between these columns are large plate
glass windows. Above these two floors are two more, treated as a conven-
tional curtain wall with yellow panels beneath the windows. " These
panels are carried up above the fourth floor windows to form a parapet
with railing. The fifth floor penthouse is set back at the mid-portion
between two yellow brick towers which rise above it on either side. The
penthouse has windows similar to those below, shaded by an overhanging
aluminum sunshade.

This nine-story brick apartment house was designed in 1924 for the
Selene Realty Company by George A. Bagge & Sons, architects, later re-
placed by Charles Kreymberg. It is rusticated at first floor and base-
ment levels and displays a wealth of Italian Renaissance ornament in
terra cotta. The second floor windows are all paired and arched with a
small twisted colonette at the mullion between them. This floor is
surmounted by a dentiled cornice which serves as the windowsill for
the third floor windows. The eighth and ninth floors are vertically com-
bined by having their paired windows enframed in terra cotta, each pair
crowned by a pointed arch which embraces the round-arched heads of the
windows. The main roof cornice, above the ninth floor, is carried on
two-tiered console brackets across the front of the building. A deep
central courtyard leads to the entrance door which is surmounted by a
date stone in Roman numerals flanked by winged angels.

This five-story brownstone apartment house was built for John J.
Crawford in 1891 with George F. Pelham as architect. It displays most
of the classical features associated with this period. The first floor,
with double entrance doors at the center, has been greatly simplified by
being smooth-stuccoed, but the upper floors retain their alternating
bands of smooth and rock-faced brownstone and their handsome stone win-
dow frames. Entablatures above the frames of the second and third floor
windows have been removed and smooth-stuccoed. The top floor windows
are arched and unified by a cornice band at impost block level. Elabo-
rately designed muntins fill the upper halves of these arched windows.

A classical, sheetmetal roof cornice with consoles and large end brackets
crowns the building. Swags alternate with wreaths in the fascia of the
cornice.

These two houses were built in 1851-52 by Reuben H. Wood, a neighbor-
hood builder, and first assessed in 1853 to Constant H. Brown (No. 49),
an accountant, and Walter W. Concklin (No. 51), grocer. They have under-
gone considerable remodeling since they were built. They now rise to a
height of four stories above high basements and have been altered to pro-
vide basement entrances. No. 49 has a stepped brick parapet, while No.
51 is higher, with a parapet displaying a series of brick panels with
patterned brick centers. No. 49 has muntined double-hung windows through-
out and a pilastered basement door. No. 51 has similar windows above the
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first floor and a simply framed basement doorway. The parlor floor win-
dows are now casements with transoms above and may have had their sills
raised during the remodeling. A steel sash window now occupies the
location of the original front door. The painter, Kenzo Okada, lives

at No. 51.

This eight~story apartment house was built in 1904 and now serves
as a residence hall for the Mills College of Education. Built of
brick, it has a rusticated first floor of stone. The main doorway is
massive and rich with broken-arched pediment, having as its crowning
central motif a paneled block with swags. The pilasters at the sides
display a curvilinear Italian Renaissance motif. The second floor has
large, segmental-arched windows whose keystones are interlocked with
an overall system of horizontal stone band courses. Above this, a
plain brick wall rises to a bracketed iron balcony at seventh floor
level. The seventh and eighth floors have brick pilasters crowned by
a small metal cornice. The third floor windows have low pediments.

These two brick houses, three stories high, were built in the
mid-Eighteen-forties by Edward DelaMontaignie, a builder, whose shop
was on Tenth Street and who lived at 139 Madison Avenue. He came from
a family of boat builders. Early in the Twentieth Century, the base-
ment at No. 43 was raised visually by stuccoing it to simulate stone,
after shortening the drawing room windows above. The stoop was removed,
and a double door provided for a basement entrance. A wide window at
the center of the basement wall is signalized by an ornate wrought iron
grille. The second and third floor windows are double-hung and have
muntins, but the roof cornice above has been removed. A high brick
parapet with a row of tiles on top, in lieu of stone coping, takes the
place of the former roof cornice. No. 43 was begun in 1845 and fin-
ished in 1846, while No. 41 was not completed until 1847.

No. 41 retains its original Greek Revival appearance in its pro-
portions and the design of the main doorway. The single front door
with six panels is flanked by sidelights and has a transom above it.
The ironwork is the original, except for the Italianate cast iron
balcony at the parlor floor windows, added in the Eighteen-fifties
when the end console brackets were applied to the roof cornice.

This house, three stories high above a basement, was built in 1842
for Josiah Dodge. He was a carter, who lived for many years on this
block and built several houses, No. 39 is a very fine Greek Revival
town house with its original pilastered doorway and roof cornice.

Only the front door with four panels is later. It is enframed by
simple pilasters with palmetto capitals, sidelights, and a fine transom
bar embellished with the Greek honeysuckle motif. The simple brick
front, above a stone basement, displays windows with muntined sash.

The stone lintels have been changed by the addition of sheetmetal
cornices. The roof cornice, with its simple wood fascia board, has
dentils and a bead and reel molding just beneath the cornice itself.
The Federal style ironwork represents a latter-day addition.

Built in 1848 for Josiah Dodge, this house undoubtedly was once
similar to No. 39. Although it retains its original stoop and a
basically Greek Revival door, it has an almost totally new appearance,
the result of Twentieth Century remodeling. Stucco covers the brick
walls, and French doors with balconies replace double-hung windows at
first and second floors. A cornice, surmounted by a line of tiles at
parapet level, crowns the whole composition. Three circular medallions
may be seen above the third floor windows. This house has considerable
charm, although denying its past to a great extent.

This house, built in 1849-50 for Josiah Dodge, retains little of
its original character. It now has a basement entrance in lieu of the
original stoop; the entrance door is flanked by pilasters and crowned
by a typically pseudo<Georgian doorway. The parlor floor windows, at
second story level, are casements with transoms above. The roof
cornice crowns the building effectively.
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This eight-<story apartment house of 1910 was designed by Browne §
Almiroty for the Oberlin Realty Company. It is almost as assertive of
its architectural prerogatives as its neighbor to the east is reticent.
A stone first floor displays an entranceway where three pairs of coupled
columns, supporting the entablature, flank the entrance door and a win-
dow. The windows of the third floor are set under low brick arches in
a brick wall where header courses alternate with runners. The windows
of the two central bays project slightly forward, thus simulating bay
windows. The next floor has low windows set between horizontal band
courses and stone panels with brick frames between the windows. Above
this level a simpler treatment obtains, culminating in two additional
floors above the cornice above the sixth story. The building blends
quite well with its neighbors with regard to scale and materials.

This six-story brick apartment house, built in 1889, displays only
vestiges of the detail in its original design by Schneider & Herter.
As remodeled in the Twentieth Century, it has a simplified entrance
floor, smooth-stuccoed, and a vertical tier of paired windows rising up
each side of the facade. This unobtrusive apartment building may be
said to have been absorbed, in its non-competitive simplicity, by the
architecture of the surrounding houses on this street.

These three brick houses are all that remain of a row of ten houses
built in 1834 (at Nos. 13-31) for Charles M. Graham, a physician who
later lived at No. 11, adjoining his row. Originally they reflected the
incoming Greek Revival style while also echoing his two-story Federal
home. The change from Flemish to running bond, still to be seen at
Nos. 21 and 23, proves the subsequent addition of the third story.

At Nos. 23 and 25 the plain stone window lintels are indicative of
the transition in style. The first two stories of No. 25 retain the
appropriate muntined window sash. The doorways at Nos. 23 and 25 have
entablatures of a later Greek Revival type, indicating that the design
was sharply modified, perhaps when the Italianate cast iron railings
were placed at the stoop of No. 23. Of the three houses, only No. 25
has a Greek Revival type dentiled cornice, a later sheetmetal replace-
ment with rosettes in the fascia, above the third story. In the
Twentieth Century, Nos. 23 and 25 acquired a studio fourth story of vary-
ing design with parapet. These two houses retain some of their original
Greek Revival attractiveness.

No. 21 displays the charm of a French Second Empire house. It
represents a complete remodeling in that style including a fourth story
within a slate mansard roof. The segmental-arched windows have corniced
lintels featuring a foliate design and also sills with supporting feet
carved with a similar dainty design. The dormers have gable roofs over
segmental-arched windows. The doorway is flanked by paneled pilasters
which support an unusually elaborate, curved cornice suggesting a diadem.
The iron railing at the areaway was added at a later date. Its small
gate, possibly quite old, is adorned with a highly romantic casting of a
willow tree, surmounted by attractive scrolls, with two lambs at the base
of the tree. The origin of this gate remains a mystery but it bears the
iron founder's mark: '"S. Hatch No. 84 Merrimack St., Boston.'"

Occupying the site of four more Graham houses, this nine-story brick
apartment house was built in 1922-23 for the Greenwich Village Building
Corporation and was designed by J. M. Felson. It is known as ''Milbank
House' and is interesting in its use of brick and terra cotta. The
brickwork introduces rows of headers at every sixth course and terra
cotta trim and band courses at the top. Small wrought iron balconies,
symmetrically arranged, give a lively sparkle to the facade. The use
of good materials and details combine to produce a building which,
although high, relates well with its smaller neighbors, giving it a
feeling of kinship with the street.

This late Federal town house of brick, now four stories high, with
rusticated basement, was built in 1831 for Charles M. Graham, a physician,
who made this his home in the mid-Nineteenth Century. He also had prop-
erty to the west on which he built ten houses (at Nos. 13-31). No. 11
was originally two stories high with dormers and basement. Built of
Flemish bond, the house was raised one story, at a later date in running
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bond, care being taken to match the paneled window lintels. The origi-
nal muntined window sash has been replaced by plate glass. Over the
windows and the front door are handsome Federal lintels, complete with
paneled end and center blocks. The original Federal eight-paneled
door, flanked by leaded side lights and transom (see No. 262 West
Eleventh Street), was replaced by double Italianate doors with round-
arched panels. The elaborate roof cornice, carried on paired console
brackets, was undoubtedly added at about the time that the front door
was changed. A fourth floor penthouse, set back with roof deck in
front, was added in the Twentieth Century.

Immediately adjoining No. 11 is the stone Parish House of the
First Presbyterian Church, executed in the Gothic Revival style to
accord with the church. It is divided into three bays with the door at
the center and a gabled section to the left of it which has a series of
pointed arch windows, skillfully combined with quatrefoil spandrel
panels. The gable is crowned with pointed-arch corbels set on carved
corbel blocks supporting a molded coping. Buttresses and high crocketed
finials divide the three bays and close the ends of this dignified build-
ing.

WEST TWELFTH STREET (Between Fifth § Sixth Avenues)

As on West Eleventh Street, the chief contrast on this street is
between the north and south sides. Rows of relatively uniform town
houses extend along the south side, and opposite them is a block in
which large apartment houses predominate. Both sides add the contrast
of mid-Twentieth Century architecture.

Many of the most handsome Anglo-Italianate houses in New York,
with entrances at street level, enhance the south side. Together they
form one of the most distinguished examples of street architecture of
the mid-Nineteenth Century. The unbroken stretch of relatively uniform
three and four-story town houses is highlighted at the Fifth Avenue end
by a fine contemporary church house. At its west end, it is dramati-
cally terminated by an architectural masterpiece. This is the first
building of the New School, a pioneer of modern architecture in New
York City.

On the north side is a block of large apartment houses, inter-
spersed with town houses and a short row of houses at the east end.

The large buildings on both ends of the north side are outside the
Historic District. This block features several individual buildings
of great interest. Two mid-block apartment houses represent the old
and the new juxtaposed, an apartment house replete with balconies of
the Eighteen-nineties and an outstanding mid-Twentieth Century apart-
ment house. This later apartment house, displaying both bay windows
and balconies, harmonizes in scale and general design remarkably well
with the older buildings on the street. Contemporary architecture in
such cases as this apartment house, where scale and form harmonize with
their surroundings, need not necessarily introduce a note of discord
into the street scene.

WEST TWELFTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth § Sixth Aves.)

The Church House of the First Presbyterian Church was built in 1958
to house church activities of the congregation. This building is a
fine example of contemporary design. Here, with its fifty foot frontage
on Twelfth Street, Edgar Tafel, the architect, has managed, through the
use of subdued colors, harmonizing materials, and good design, to
achieve a building which complements its older neighbors and enhances
the neighborhood. Dark brown Roman brick walls are carried up as piers
between the windows and are further enhanced by dark green terra cotta
mullion strips which lend a vertical accent. Horizontal terra cotta
balconies at second and third floor levels display a continuous, tra-
ditional Gothic quatrefoil pattern. The parapet, of similar design
and material, crowns the whole composition successfully. Although
the large windows are of plate glass, the detail of the terra cotta,
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the brickwork, and the halconies tend to keep in scale with the ad-
joining residential buildings and thus keep the larger building in
character with them. The Church House is an example of good design,
used intelligently, to bring a much needed contemporary building into
harmony with a neighborhood.

Two fine town houses, identical in appearance and designed
by the noted architect A. J. Davis, once stood on this site.
Thurlow Weed, a leading Whig and noted newspaper editor, lived
at No. 12 from 1866 to 1882. John Rogers, the well known sculptor
of the '"Rogers Groups,'" lived at No. 14 from 1888 to 1895, and
during 1897-1898, Theodore Dreiser lived there. An interesting
stained glass stairwell skylight from one of these houses was
removed to the Brooklyn Museum before they were razed.

These two four-story brick houses were built in 1845-46 as the
homes of James Lawson, Secretary of the Alliance Insurance Company (No.
16) and William H. Wisner, a merchant at 178 Prince Street (No. 18).
Lawson and Wisner, had purchased the land in 1845 from James Phalen,

a prominent real estate broker at 52 Wall Street whose fortune was

was heavily invested in '"uptown' property. Nos. 16 and 18 were doubt-
less identical when built, probably resembling No. 22. In the early
part of the Twentieth Century, they were remodeled to provide basement
entrances, replacing the original stoops. The original cornices were
removed and replaced by the upward extension of the front walls to form
parapets, and the entire facade of No. 16 was smooth-stuccoed to simu-
late brownstone. No. 18 retains its handsome rusticated basement and
the brick facade of its upper floors, although the top floor windows have
been replaced by one wide studio window with steel sash. The full
length drawing room windows of both houses, with glass transoms above,
are of the period, although the ironwork has been replaced at the area-
ways and at the full length first floor windows.

Here, two substantial town houses were erected in 1846-47 for
Augustus W. Clason, Jr., an attorney, whose fine house at No. 12 West
Tenth Street has already been described. No. 22 gives us some idea of
how Nos. 16-20 once looked. The houses are transitional in style from
Greek Revival to Italianate. Although the wrought iron railings of its
high stoop and areaway replace the cast iron originals, the windows re-
tain their muntined sash, while those at the first floor are full length
with extra long lower sash having nine panes. At the top floor of the
house are the attic windows and a fine modillioned roof cornice. No. 20
has been remodeled with a simple basement entrance. It has a parapet at
the roof and just below it a large, central studio window with steel
sash, set off by horizontal band courses, above and below it, and by two
recessed, circular panels, one on each side,

Together this handsome pair of houses forms one of the most dis-
tinguished examples of street architecture of the period. These adjoin-
ing four-story ''Brownstones' were built for Charles Partridge in 1851-52.
Partridge, whose match business was at 3 Cortlandt Street, lived in the
neighboring house, No. 30, while Nos. 24 and 28 were being built. No. 24
is interesting historically, as it was purchased in 1853 by General
Winfield Scott, hero of the Mexican War.

These four-story Anglo-Italianate houses have the familiar rusticated
English basement, entered just a few steps above street level, with plain
ashlar walls above. The doorways and windows, at entrance level, are
round-arched with paneled keystones above the windows. Crowning the
English basement is a continuous band course which juts forward over the
doorways to form small hoods, carried on boldly defined console brackets,
set above paneled pilasters at doors and at the central window. This
central double window, now part of No. 24, was originally an arched
entranceway leading to two houses built on the rear of the lots. The
three upper stories are crowned by a continuous bracketed cornice with
paneled fascia. Crisply detailed "eyebrow'" cornices accent the lintels
of the segmental-arched windows of the upper floors. These windows
retain most of their original sash. The areaway ironwork at No. 24
appears to date from the Eighteen-eighties. No. 28 retains its original
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cast iron balcony at the parlor floor but has a simple wrought iron
areaway railing of later date at the yard.

This number was once assigned to the house at the rear of the
lot, behind No. 24, through which a passageway once gave access, as
mentioned above.

This wide house is apparently the result of an alteration of
1853-54 to a house erected earlier by Ambrose C. Kingsland. The site
had been owned since 1839 by Kingsland, an oil manufacturer and Mayor
of New York (1851-52). 1In the Eighteen-fifties, the house had an
accessway at the left side to reach a separate building, an artillery
emplacement at the rear of the lot. This accessway, now closed up,
has been replaced by the front doorway of the house, A shop has been
added alongside it at street level. In 1870 a one-story extension was
built, filling in the space between the house and a carpenter's shop
which stood at the rear of the lot. Five stories high, the building
rises to a simple masonry parapet at the top. It is four windows
wide and was stuccoed during a latter-~day alteration when new steel
casement windows replaced the wood originals.

There is no No. 32 in the present numbering system.

These six dignified town houses, built in late Italianate style
with high stoops, segmental-arched windows and bracketed cornices, are
the archtype of the New York 'Brownstone'' which was destined to be
built, with modifications, over such a large part of the City. Built
in 1860 by Frederick P. James, senior member of F. P. James & Co.,

a banking and brokerage firm at 38 Wall Street, they replaced an
earlier row which had been built in 1844 by Alphonse Loubat. When
erected, these four-story houses were identical and were the last
word in elegance.

No. 34 was remodeled and smooth-stuccoed, removing the arched
cornices of the window lintels and introducing a basement entrance,
while an alteration at No. 44 removed all surface detail. Nos. 36
and 42 retained the detail but installed simple basement entrances in
lieu of stoops. The former entrance doors above the basement were
replaced by full length windows, similar to those adjoining them. At
each of its top two floors, No. 36 was remodeled, replacing the narrow
center window by a large steel studio window. The remaining windows
on each side were extended to the floor to provide French doors with
individual steel balconies.

Nos. 38 and 40 are relatively unchanged. They have their original
paneled double doors with round-arched upper panels and semi-circular
transoms above. They are framed by simple paneled stone pilasters,
above which are great foliate console brackets set vertically to
support the handsome arched pediments, so typical of this period. The
round arches under the pediments have console type keystones and simple
moldings and are set on inward-facing pilasters. The painter, Virginia
Berresford, lived at No. 36 at the time of the Second World War.

There is no No. 46 in the present numbering system.

English basements are displayed by these three handsome Anglo-
Italianate houses, which were also built for Frederick P. James, but
earlier, in 1854. The four-story houses are two windows wide, smooth-
stuccoed to simulate brownstone and are entered close to street level.
Each house now has a smooth exterior surface with little detail except
for the flat keystones of the doorways, set in the shallow segmental
arches.

These door enframements are unique in Greenwich Village. Inside
the masonry doorframes, wood segmental arches of shorter radius rest
on a pair of handsome Corinthian columns, leaving small spandrel
panels betwen the two arches. These houses are crowned by individual
cornices, each decorated by a pair of panels with swags in the fascia.
The cornices are carried on vertically placed console brackets at the
centers and ends. The cornices may have been remodeled at a later date
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by removing console brackets between the houses, thus making them dis-
continuous, as we see them today. All the windows are segmental-arched
with doubhle-hung sash, which displays the heavy central muntin and lighter
horizontal ones so typical of the Italianate town house. These houses

are identical except for certain details, such as the door at No. 52,
which has a segmental masonry arch, but was remodeled to omit the inner
arch of wood and the flanking columns. The ironwork is uniform at Nos.

50 and 52, consisting of simple wrought iron railings of a later date,
which replace the cast iron Italianate stoop and balcony railings still
seen at No. 52.

These six handsome Greek Revival brick town houses were built as an
investment in 1843 by Daniel A, Baldwin, an attorney at 74 Nassau Street.
This fine row retains its original dentiled roof cornice which connects
all the houses, originally three stories high above basements. A recent
alteration did away with the stoops and front doorways at first floor
level and replaced them with basement entrances. These doorways were
presumably similar to those at Nos. 78 and 80 West Twelfth Street, also
part of Mr. Baldwin's original row of sixteen houses which originally
covered the sites of Nos. 54-84. The new entrances were set a few steps
below the street and the basement fronts were smooth-stuccoed up to win-
dowsill level of the second floor windows. Only No. 64 retains its
original, floor-length parlor windows and rusticated basement wall.
While new wrought iron balconies are to be found at its full length
second floor windows, the ironwork around the areaway is the original.
An openwork Federal style newel of an older house has been installed at
the corner nearest the front door.

The new look for 1930 was strikingly evoked in this very original
building with auditorium and classrooms, designed by the noted Viennese
architect, Joseph Urban, for the New School for Social Research. A brick
cantilevered front projects out over the polished black stone entrance to
the auditorium. The accent above is horizontal, with wide bands of brick-
work between continuous steel sash which are returned to setbacks on
either side. The brickwork alternates between bands of light-colored
brick and those of black, giving a striated surface effect to the entire
front. This design was severe even for its day. It set a new mode for
a horizontal expression which was destined to reappear in so many sub-
sequent office buildings, few of which ever achieved the clarity of design
expressed in this prototype building.

The Jacob M. Kaplan Building, an addition to the New School, designed
in 1955 by Mayer, Whittlesey & Glass, and opened in 1960, is carried
through to West Eleventh Street. It is built of curtain-wall construction
with emphasis on the vertical. It has a simple first floor with revolving
door and large plate glass windows, permitting one to look into the lobby
and central courtyard beyond it.

These two brick Greek Revival houses were also once a part of the row
of sixteen three-story houses (see also Nos. 54-64 remaining), built in
1843 for Daniel A. Baldwin. No. 78 retains its original stoop, doorway,
and stone basement. The dignified stone doorframe has a crossetted (or
""eared'") top and sloping (or '"battered') side frames surmounted by a
heavy sheetmetal cornice of a later date. The modern front door and
transom are of glass and iron in a simple rectangular design. The stoop
has its original iron railings with baluster-type cast iron newels of a
later date. Simple balconies have been added at the parlor floor in
front of the French doors, altered from floor-length double-hung windows
such as are still to be seen at No. 64. The windows at the top floor have
been raised in height, and the lintels over all the windows have simple
cornices. The later modillioned roof cornice has a paneled fascia,
framed at each end by a pair of brackets.

No. 80 has retained its original, simply decorated handrailings at
the stoop. The circular, cast iron newel posts, surmounted by urns,
harmonize well with the handrails. The simple Greek Revival stone door-
way is most nearly the prototype for the entire row, but has lost the
"ears'" and molding of its frame, retained at No. 78. It has an arched
double door of the Italianate period. The first floor windows have been
shortened by the insertion of wood panels at floor level. The third floor

-98-



#78 & 80
cont.

#82
(#82-84)

#86

#71
(#71-77)

#59
(#59-69)

#49
(#49-57)

#47

#45

GV-HD AREA 2

WEST TWELFTH STREET South Side (Betw. Fifth & Sixth Aves.)

windows preserye their typical low proportions. A Neo-Grec roof cor-
nice was added later in the Nineteenth Century with a row of stubby
brackets separating narrow panels in the fascia.

The richly decorated 'Regina Apartment,' erected in 1902-03 for
Leopold Wertheim by architect Louis Korn, is six stories high and is
constructed of brick with first floor of rusticated stonework. The
second floor has horizontal band courses extending the width of the
building between windows and displays the sea wave motif. At third
floor sill level, a horizontal band course is adorned with the Greek
fret motif. Above this level the windows are all richly enframed
and two vertical tiers have broken pediments. The top floor windows
are all round-arched, with the central group of four surrounded by a
rope-twist frame, top and sides, supported visually by fluted pilasters
surmounted by escutcheons.

This seven-story structure (described under Nos. 472-482 Sixth
Avenue) was built in 1956.

WEST TWELFTH STREET North Side (Betw. Sixth & Fifth Aves.)

The corner building, No. 79, is outside the Historic District.

This unobtrusive six-story brick apartment house was built in 1922
and was designed by Robert T. Lyon. With evenly spaced single windows,
it is adorned only by its entranceway and by a very simple brick parapet
above the cornice, which is stepped up along its central portion.

Fourteen stories high, with setback above the tenth floor, this
apartment house was built in 1929-31. It was designed for S. Kaplan
by Emory Roth, and in its style and detail shows the influence of the
French Exposition des Arts Décoratifs. Surface treatment is the hall-
mark of this decorative architecture, as may be seen in the wide flat
band course below the third floor windows, the striated brickwork, and
in the window frames and ornament of the eleventh and twelfth floors.
The first two floors are veneered with stone in contrast to the brick-
work above.

Built in 1950-52 for the G.S.B. Building Corporation, and designed
by H. Herbert Lilien, this brick apartment house is ten stories high.
It has a forward projected central portion with corner windows. All of
the windows are metal and are mostly in multiples of three units. The
ground floor entrance, with permanent marquee, is set to the left of
center in the forward projected portion, and the wall here is of stone
with reeded or convex horizontals used as an overall texture. The win-
dow arrangement (fenestration) of this building defies that of the
residential Village. A more sober and refined treatment, such as that
of No. 71 or "Butterfield House' nearby, would have at least agreed
with the scale of adjoining houses, even though the bulk of such a build-
ing tends to overpower them.

Successfully remodeled, this Greek Revival town house of brick has
been converted for entrance at street level. It has the muntined sash
and simple stone lintels, so typical of this style of architecture. It
was originally built in 1840 for Hudson Kinsley, a physician, as a two-
story and basement house; the two upper stories were added later. A
fine wood cornice with modified Greek fret motif crowns the front above
the fifth floor. The iron balconies at second and fourth floors are
additions of the Twentieth Century.

This charming little brick Greek Revival house, on an oddly shaped
gore lot, appears much as it did in 1846 when it was built for Mrs.
Elizabeth Calhoun. This is an early example of the entrance door placed
almost at street level, in all probability the result of the unusual
pie-shaped lot. The diagonal line of its east wall follows the approxi-
mate course of the old Minetta Brook. Casement window sash, instead
of the more usual double-hung, is also unusual. The cornice appears
to be the original, and its fascia board, stopped short at the ends with
cornice profiled and returned at the ends, is typical of the Greek
Revival period. The circular plates for two tie-rods above the third
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floor window lintels bear mute evidence to the need for strengthening
this goreshaped house, The h‘eav_y sheetmetal windowsills and cornices
on the lintels, which are so much wider than the window openings, were
all added at a later date, as was the metal hood above the entrance door.
The dormers above the third story, although probably original, have been
remodeled and made heavier in appearance.

These two narrow brick houses were built as a pair in 1861 for
Frederick P. James, a Wall Street banker and broker, who had recently
built Nos. 48-52 across the street. Both have retained their original
hooded entrances, carried on diminutive brackets. These four-story
houses are extremely simple, with rectangular stone lintels and a
corbeled brick roof cornice tying them together at the top. They are
set back on the lot to compensate for the sharp gore lot of No. 45.

The lot lines of Nos. 41 and 43, in the rear, follow a line running
approximately northeast, the old northern property line of the Samuel
Harris Farm. Both houses had their cornices removed from their square-
headed window lintels. No. 41 has a new picture window at the second
floor, taking the place of the two original windows, but both houses
retain their double doors with grilled upper panels, as well as the small
corbel blocks beneath the windowsills, and the original ironwork.

Contemporary architecture, in such cases as this seven-story apart-
ment house, where scale, form, and use of materials harmonize with their
surroundings, need not necessarily introduce a note of discord into the
street scene. ''Butterfield House,'" designed in 1959 by Mayer, Whittlesey
& Glass, is a good example of this type of urban harmony. The multi-
plicity of glass bay windows adds, rather than detracts, from the qual-
ity and scale of this residential street. The delicacy of form and
elegance of detail, inherent in the design, make it as one with its
residential neighbors. It scarcely rises above the cornice line of the
older residences, although its other end on Thirteenth Street has the
more conventional apartment house height. The first floor is deeply
recessed, and large plate glass windows, at the rear, give us a glimpse
of the handsome lobby and inner courtyard beyond.

This diminutive three-story town house of brick, about thirteen feet
wide, is exceptionally attractive with its mansard roof and single dormer.
When built in 1840, it was twenty-five feet wide, but after the purchase
of this property by James Lenox in 1867, the eastern half of the house was
shorn off to give more width to the adjoining house, later occupied by a
schoolhouse for the First Presbyterian Church, and ultimately replaced by
the apartment house at No. 31-33. The mansard-roofed attic story with
bracketed cornice and the double front doors also date from the late
Eighteen-sixties or early seventies. It still retains its stoop and a
fine egg and dart molding at the transom bar above the door.

"The Ardea,'" a large ten-story apartment house, was built for George
A Hearn in two stages, beginning in the mid-nineties and then extended in
1900-01. It was designed by J. B. Snook & Sons and has exceptionally high
stories for the first two floors, reflected in the height of the windows.
These two stories are constructed of rock-faced ashlar with handsome
stone panels beneath the first floor windows. At third floor level, a
stone balcony, carried on carved console brackets with ornamental wrought
iron balcony railing, runs the entire width of the building, effecting
the transition from the stone below to Roman brick above. Similar full
width balconies are repeated at the sixth and ninth floors, with a number
of small individual balconies of similar design at certain windows of the
intermediate floors. The top story is set back between the sidewalls,
which are carried up and surmounted by cap stones.

"Ardsley House,'" a hotel, is a simple but attractive brick building,
three windows wide and five stories high, crowned by a bracketed cornice.
The simple stone window lintels and sills provide a uniform appearance.
Its entrance story, capped by a band course with dentiled cornice, and
the window trim are of smooth-faced brownstone. It was built in 1889-90
as a single family dwelling for and by Louis Adams.
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(#25-27) These numbers have been omitted in the present-day house numbering.

#23 This four-story brick house, with rusticated brownstone basement,
was built in 1845-<46 as the residence of Walter Lowrie, who served as
Secretary of the Presbyterian Board of Foreign Missions. Originally late
Greek Revival in style, and three stories in height over a basement,
it has been redesigned to include a simple basement entrance. It has
simple stone window lintels. The cornice, of a later date, is carried
on console brackets with modillions between and has a paneled fascia
with rosettes. This is one of three houses (Nos. 19-23) erected on
land purchased for development by James S. Huggins.

#19 § 21 These brick houses were built as a<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>